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PREFACE

We have great pleasure in bringing out this volume
as a homage to Shr1 K M Munshi whose seventieth birth-
day was celebrated on December 30, 1956

On the oceasion of Shri Munshi’s sixtieth buthday m
1946 some of his friends and admirers published a volume
entitled “‘“Munsh1 His Art and Work’ Smce then Shri
Munsh: has filled various high offices and we felt that
1t should be brought up-to-date and brief accounts of his
activities as the Agent-General of the Government of
India at Hyderabad, the Food Mmister of India and the
Governor of Uttar Pradesh should be mcluded m a survey
of his Iife and work A short narrative of his early Iife
has been added so that the i1eadeirs may appreciate the
struggles he had to face in his youth Some other chap-
ters, such as Shri Munshi’s place m Gujaratt literature,
and ‘“Munshi and his message’’, have also been specially
written for this edition

To keep the price of the book within the 1each of the
average reader 1t has been decided to publish 1t in a cheap
edition and divade 1t into four volumes The first volume
contams the storv of Shri Munshi’s early lLife, and his
caieer as a lawyer, the second volume deals with his poli-
tical activities, while the third and the fourth deal with
his literary and cultural activities respectively How far
this compartmental treatment of Shri Munshi’s biography
1s successful, 1t 1s for the readers to judge We would
only pomt out that his carecer has been so varied that it 1s
difficult for any mdividual to desciibe it adequately though
we hope some day and i the not too distant future a
real biography of Shri Munshi will be written for the
commg generations for whom his amazing career should
serve as an mspiration
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All the contributors of this and the following volumes
bave known Shri Munsh: more or less mtimately By a
happy chance they come from different states of India to
pay him their heartfelt tribute And that is as 1t should
be For, his most cherished ideal mn Iife has been the
concept of Mother India, one and indivisible To Her
worship he has dedicated his Iife and 1 all his activities,
m his wiitings, speeches, social and political work, the
same motif appears as the 1incessant reframm  Vande

Mataram

Editors



INTRODUCTION

The hundred years from 1857 to 1957 constitute one
©of the most momentous epochs 1 the rich and varied
annals of India’s history This century saw the emerg-
ence of India from the slough of despond to the sunshine
of Swaray and partial self-fulfilment

Every political revolution is preceded by intellectual
movement of cultural renaissance and social reform So
it happened m India The new age of cultural renais-
sance was heralded by Raja Rammohan In 1857 the
Great Revolt was suppressed ruthlessly and a disarmed
dispirited, and disunited people stared bleakly at the
future drained of all hopes

India had touched the very nadir of her degeneration
Slowly, however, she, who had (xn Dr Aunnie Besant’s
picturesque words) verily been the Crucified among the
nations, awakened to life There was seen the amazing
spectacle of a people growmg into a mnation, of commu-
nities coalesecing mto a people and of mdividuals mergimg
mto communities The national fight for regeneration
began and after half a century and moie of alternate ad-
vance and retreat, on Awgust 15, 1947 India took he:
vightful place in the comity of nations The ten years
since then have been years of consolidation The century
saw not only the political emancipation of India but also
a cultural and social renaissance Aptly therefore can
this century be called the century of India’s regenera-
tion and renaissance

This has been a century of great events and great
men A succession of illustrious personalities guided and
moulded the process of mnational rebirth Besides these
glants there was a galaxy of brilliant creative men who
embodied 1n themselves the forces of the new renalssance
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m one form or the other Shr1i K M Munshi belongs
to this galaxy His life and work 1s typically illustrative
of the working of these men, for he has the eapacity to
see, feel, studv and ieact with a 1are sensitiveness and
amazing versatility to all that had been happening in the
country smee his childhood In his personality and
achievements Munsh1 1s a typical product of the Indian
Renaissarfce, and through the prism of his hfe can be
seen the century in all its richness and variegated light
and shade

Writing on the occasion of the sixtieth birthday of
Munshi, Prof D P Mukherjee piquantly analysed the
traits of the ideal renaissance man and pointed out how
Munsh: 1s m that grand tradition!

‘Every 1enaissance throws up an 1deal type of
man whose virtues and defects render him distinet
equally from the average man and the type that 1
matured 1 decadence Beyond a vague sense of exhi-
laration, the average man betrays no symptom of
bemg affected by the fuller Iife atound him But
the 1deal type paitakes intensely of i1t The whole
or nothing 1s his motto Al his nerves quiver in
achieving He 1s seized by the daemon, and his fienzy
1s non-human because 1t 15 so completely vital On
the other hand, he 1s unequal, inconsistent and par-
tial His very activity will not allow him the rest
m which values are nursed, i1deas schematised mto
a system, and contemplation generates poise of the
soul Bemng ever on the search, he does not reach
the goal Having perpetually stramed, he 13 not
easy Lafe has touched him i the raw, and he can-
not be mellow Ripeness 1s nothing to him because
to him living 1s all, 1ts start, course and the end.
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He canmot afford to exude flavour all the time as he
1s busy ematting glow His are 1s never closed
Munsh: 1s m that grand tradition of the

Renaissance man  His lhiterary activities, his parti-

cipation 1 politics, his brilliance as admimstrator

educatiomist, journalist and as an orgamser of art-
forms, dance-shows and dramas fail to close the list
of his interests He 1s all that and more besides

His energy spills out in abandon He 1s 1 the full

stream of India m the making *’

During the century following 1857, brilliant lawyers
bestrode the legal and political world of Incia dwaifing
their fellowemen Nanabha: Haridas and Jamshedj Kanga,
Chimanlal Setalvad and Bhulabhai Desai, Rash Behary
Ghosh and Lord Smha, Pandit Sundeilal and Tej Baha-
dur Sapru, S Srimivasa Iyengar and Alladi Krishnaswamy
Aryar are names that will ever ring down the corridor
of Time Munsh: belongs to the last generation of this
race of giants and 1s one of the most brilliant and promi-
nent among the half a dozen living M C Setalvad,
Attorney-General of India, and Munshi1 aie both pupils
of Bhulabhai Desai They wele associated 1n 1ntimate
friendship and close comraderie with H J Kanmia who
10se to be the first Chief Justice of free India Justice
N H Bhagwat1 of the Supreme Court, M P Amin, Advo-
cate-General of Bombay and Purushottam Tricumdas are
among the brilliant lawyers who woiked in Munshi’s
chamber at one time or the other There 1s scarcely any
branch of law in which Munshi when in active practice
had not been 1eckoned as one of the most sought-after and
Iighly-prized ldwyers in the country FHis forensie
triumphs are scattered 1 the diverse law-ienoity of the
country
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The constitutional lawyer did not merely rest content
with wmning cases 1 the courts Munsh1 was mstru-
mental m drawing up the Constitution of the Deccan
States Union thus blazing the trail for the mtegration of
the princely States which was so swiftly and successfully
completed by Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel The contribu-
tion he made to the making of free India’s Constitution
will not be forgotten

Even while working in the Constituent Assembly,
Munsh: had the occasion to exercise his great diplomatic
gifts as India’s Agent-General to Hyderabad The hectic
days of this brief office mm which he faced great personal
danger, his keen msight and correct appreciation of the
preblem, forms one of the most nterestine and brilliant
chapters of his life as well as the story of India’s political
mtegration under Sardar Patel

This century again saw the rise of the Congress, the
political ferment following the partition of Bengal, the
non-co-operation campaign, the successive Satyagraha
movements and the emergence of free India In 1902
Munsh: attended the XVIII Session of the Congress
held at Ahmedabad under the Presidentship of Surendra
Nath Bannerji In the same year, he pledged himself to
fight for social 1eform, the adoption of a national language
and the attamment of political independence In 1904 he
came under the influence of Aurobmndo Ghosh who had
then emerged as the apostle of militant nationmahsm In
1907 at the fateful Surat Session of the Congress he was
a volunteer m the extremists’ camp of Lokamanya Tilak
Munshi was one of the young politicians who worked with
Dr Annie Besant m the Home Rule Movement He was
associated with M A Jmnah till both left the Congress .
m 1920 From 1930 he worked under Gandhiji and m
collaboration with the other great leaders of the Congress
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He had the good fortune to be a close confidant of Sardar
Patel

In the struggle for freedom and the subsequent con-
sohidation of the country Munshi has played a vital role.
He carried the message of the Home Rule agitation tfo
the villages of Gujarat, was a member of the Bombay
Legislative Council and the wvirtual leader of the Oppo-
sition, fopght for the Bardoli Satyagraha, participated
1 the two Civil disobedience eampaigns of 1930 and 1932
and underwent imprisonment, was the Home Minister of
Bombay from 1937 to 1939, severed his connection with
the Congress to pursue his ideal of United India from
1942-46 ; rejoined the Congress fold and worked for Con-
stitution-making till 1950, was the Agent-General 1
Hyderabad m 1948, was Minister for Food and Agricul-
ture 1n republican India’s first cabinet from 1950-52 and
has been the Governor of the largest state 1 India sinece
1952 1In each of the activities which for the moment en-
grossed his attention he threw himself with thoroughness
and intensity and left an indelible mark of his impres-
sive personality

An orthodox Brahman child steeped m Puranie tra-
dition, Munsh1 became an ardent admirer of Swami: Daya-
nanda Saraswati, Ramakrishna Paramahamsa, Swami
Vivekananda, Mrs Besant, Ranade, Sri Aurobindo, Mala-
viyaji, and Gandhiji. Familar with the best in the west,
his Iife-long mission has been to re-interpret Hinduwism m
the light of modein needs He began his career by defymg
social conventions, biroke ecaste restrictions, fought for
women’s rights and was for a time Secretary of the Social
Reform Association Yet he never supported or spon-
sored a movement which did not, 1n his view, bring out
the best mm Indian culture Throughout life he has tried
to fathom the undymng message of India and 1its culture,
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irymg to discover the very roots of fundamental values
through social and historical studies

Early mn hife he became interested 1 education He
found m 1t the ereative art of Iife As Chairman of a
Government-appointed committee he framed a scheme for
physical education 1n Bombay, helped m re-orienting se-
condary education, was a very active member of the Bom-
bay University, planned the Umversity of Baroda and
jomned 1n planning that of Gujarat, organised, established
or conducted educational institutions of several kinds rang-
mg from a home for delinquent children to the Institute of
Agriculture at Anand, mncluding colleges, hostels, schools,
as Food Mimster organised the Indian Council of Agricul-
tural Research as a super-University of Agricultural re-
search, as Chancellor of the U P Universifies, re-organised
and stabilised some of them

The Bharatiya Vidya Bhavan which Munshi has bult
up step by step 1s a living embodiment of his mission It
18 something more than a mere educational and cultural
institution, with an international reputation It 1s a move-
ment embodymg the mission and the message of Indian cul-
ture and Bharatiya Shiksha Verily can Munshin as the
Kulapat: of the Bhavan lay the flattering unction to his
sou! that his dreams of Indian culture have taken some con-
crete shape through the activities of this mstitution

Many of the great leaders of the Indian renaissance
have been journalists No wonder too, for they had to
carry their message to the millions Surendranath Banerj
and Aurobindo Ghosh, Liala Lajpat Rai and Maulana Mu-
hammad Ali, and last but not least, Gandhijz were associa-
ted with the Fourth Estate Munshi has been a workmng
journalist or as the Chairman of the Reception Committee
of the Federation of Working Journalists hailed him at
Tucknow ‘‘a haird-working journalist’” Even to-day his
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Kulapati’s Letters constitute the main attraetion: of the
Bhavan’s Jowrnal which reaches over 30,000 subscmbers
besides bemmg published 1n a number of newspapers and
magazimes throughout the country

Gujarat was Munshi’s first love In fact, he built up
the 1dea of Gujarat as a cultural unit In the first article
he wrote 1n 1907, as a student, he shed tears over the vanish-
ed glories of Gujarat, in 1910, he wrote about the conquest
of Somnath, in 1910, he comned the word Gujarat-ra-asmila
—‘Gujarat-conscrousness’, through his hiterary labours and
through organisations, founded or controlled by him, he
made Gujarat-consciousness a living factor He enriched
1ts hiterature and by his works of fiction and history gave
it a background and a sense of continuity He indeed made
a great contribution towards unmifymg Gujaiat as an en-
tity It 1s indeed a fulfilment of the dream which Sardar
Vallabhbhar had cherished and for which Munsht had
all along worked

As a member of the Dar Commaission, he stood forth as
a champion of national unity, and sohdaiity and opposed
Linguism as a disruptive force  His memorandum to the
Commuission, later published as the Ianguistic Provinces
and the Future of Bombay has become a classic on the
subject

The Nav Gujarat campus at Andheri in Bombay and
the Bharatiya Vidya Bhavan, the Institute of Agriculture
at Anand and the five colleges of the Charutar Vidya Man-
dal which are components of the Sardar Patel University,
Anand—of every one of which he 1s either the President
or the most active of the Tiustees—are but sign-posts of a
tremendous life-lone effort to build Gujarat

He had enriched Gujarat: literature and contiibuted to
the growth of Inchan lLiterature as a whole as few have
done His novels, plays, history, essays, speeches and bio-
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graphies as also autobiographies—all form a brilhant chap-
ter of Indian Iiterary renaissance

Starting under the mspiring influence of Bankim
Chandra, he has written both i Gujarati and in English
m a manner which has won for him a high place 1n litera-
ture A large part of his productions has, no doubt, a
contemporary value They are the products of a vigorous
mmagination and an unconventional creative boldness The
numerous pictures that he has presented through literature
are 1mvariably romantic and are always ITrapressive In
many of them, a breathless mtensity pervades the sceng,
The story-telling 1s full of mterest and surprise, never fee-
ble, never boring  There are few writers who can outdo
Munshi as a raconteus with the power to elevate a tiivial
mecident mnto a thing of breathless mterest

To any reader, with an unblassed mind, Munshi’s
Gujarat-no-Nath, Prithve Vallabh and Jaya Sommnath will
stand out among the best works of the century The
three volumes of his autobiography are a unique product
of the Indian renaissance written with a rare frankness
and ohjectivity

In all aspects of his life and work, Munshi has the
true Brahmanical attitude, to see lIife as a whole from
its roots 1n the Vedas to the latest Kumbha Mela at
Allahabad, to discover 1 the contmuous process of
existence a unmiversal transformation from matter to the
Spirit, to find mn the transmutation of the lower instmmets
mto the fundamental aspirations—Power, Light, Love,
Beauty and Joy—which he considers emanations of the
Spirit, the way to lead the fuller Iife

From the mystic and philosophic ponts of view, Mun-
sh1’s approach 1s too firmly planted on earth But the
usefulness Iies m truths bemng brought down like the
Ganga from imaccessible heights to the daily affairs of life
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by a man who is of the earth, earthy, and who does not
shut his eyes to the stark realities of life

Munshi’s attitude is always one of self-confidence,
born out of unshakable faith in the cause he pursued.
But that was the typical attitude of the century m India
It was this century which brought the eternal truths of the
Ghia to the daily affairs of life, which converted the
Mother Kali imnto the Motherland, tried to raise the sordid
Iife above vulgarity and triviality by force of idealisation

But apart:from what Munshi writes or stands for, he
18 a typical child of the century His all-devouring ener-
gy, as Diwan Bahadur K M Jhaveri, the doyen of Guja-
rati literature, once said, 15 matched only by the multiph-
city of his interests

Munshi has been associated with more movements
than many of the giants of the century, though he work-
ed in close co-operation with several of them He admired
several of them, accepted some of the leaders, was the
colleague of some and yet remained a non-conformist, a
law unto himself He has written and spoken on many
problems during the last 45 years and, with a rare frank-
ness He has preserved his varying moods and reactions
i what he calls his ‘Diary Notes’ and has published some
of them, which disclose the real man.

Munshi’s life and temperament present the typical
Ihife of the century high Brahmanical pride in India’s
past, distrust for the decadent social institutions, respect
for parents devoted to each other He suffered from mal-
adjustments of an early marriage and struggled to rise
from poverty and obscurity to fame and wealth He came
across love by accident and staked all in the fashion of a
romantic poet of life to carry it to a triummph He has en-
riched domestic life by a rare passion and devotion, m
Lilavati Munshi he has found a partner who shares his
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Iife’s visions and 1s active 1 the spurit of the ‘Undivided
Soul’ of which Munshi has written 1 several of his works
All the time he had struggled with resisting forces, facing
trials, failures and triumphs as few of his contemporaries
faced His richness of lIife at seventy 1s associated with
almost juvenile buoyaney.

He has an irrepressible love of life— Jwan-no-ullas—
an exuberant joy of life He 1s equally fond of Rabelai-
s1an stories as of revelling in the ethereal beauties of Kali-
daas, Goethe and Shelly

As we see from his works, he shows a rare sensitive-
ness the ,throbbing pulsation of hife from the sensuous to
the ethereal He has put forth persistent effort for self-
diseipline, and 1s wedded to high idealism though firm-
1ooted in realism  Self-confidence which sometimes ap-
pears fool-hardiness, a love of success and a worship of
power co-existing with humility and unshakable faith in
God, worldliness associated with a yearning for para-
normal experiences, a keen sense of history which makes
him look upon the Iife of his time as a step m the final
evolution of life, at the same time, an undying urge to
see pristine glory restored through many sided efforts
through writing the Epic of the Ancients through con-
crete steps like the rebuilding of the Somnath Temple the
redemption of Dehotsarga and the planting of beautiful
forest eirdle of Gir1 Govardhan, by restoring the ancient
forests by Vana Mahotsava and rescuing the bread of
cow, ‘Mother of Plenty’ as he calls her His knack of
mvesting the humdrum affairs of life with the glow of
romance 1§ unparalleled He can write on the Gospel of
the Dirty Hand and mvoke the Tastturiya Upamshad he
can organise a School or a College, a desert-nursery or a
gosadan with a Puranic phrase While fighting uglmess,
he can dream of love and beauty If he visits Badrmath,
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be invests it with the colour of romance and devotion as
m the spacious days of yore

He can write a Memorandum on the City of, Bombay
fighting hinguism and discant on the eternal yerities He
can pursue the mysteries of astrology and paranormal
phenomenon At the same time, he can obey the mandate
given to him from above or pursue the path of surrender
unto God He can write the most heart-rending tragedy
and a ribald farce with equal creative power.

Munshi’s fondness for musie, drama and dance ex-
pressed 1tself into giving them a place not only m his own
Iife but in the life of others, and associated with Shrimat:
Munsh: it blossomed m their directing plays, dances and
dramas, ultimately flowering in the Kala Kendra of the
Bharatiya Vidya Bhavan Munshi has composed dance
dramas and plays, directed their performances, written
scenarios and sometimes gone to the studio for helping
the editing of the films With his keen sense of the dra-
matic he can origmate a play or correct it or improve the
seript or find a faulty footstep in the dance

Munshi may not have reached the Everest of any of
the spheres he worked mm But his varied tastes and ver-
satile interests embrace almost the whole of life and cul-
ture He has lived and Tives a life of ceaseless work en-
riched by the beauty and joy of the moment These are
achievements scarcely attamned by any of the giants of the
country

Strong by temperament, he has an infimte capacity
for love and affection, he has equally great ability to at-
tract them from others Yet he 1s a ruthless taskmaster,
sensitive to disloyalty and yet rarely gomg out of his way
to hurt others He has been loyal to the leaders whom he
accepted, though never so as to reduce himself to a camp-
follower THe has been, above all, a man true to himself
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and his temperament, a man who has given the best m
bhim to the country and to its culture If he had attaned
the triumph in one of the fields only, he would have been
considered outstandmg, if not great That 1s the measure
of his strength, of conflicts, urges and aspirations, failures
and trrumphs He has faith 1 himself and m God n
dealing with whatever comes to him

Munshi’s 1dealism and energy attracted Gandhin
His yogic urge evoked a paternal response from Auro-
bindo His practical sense and capacity drew to him men
of such divergent perception as Sardar Patel, Pandit
Nehru and Rajaji ,

The unremitting toil of such a dynamiec personality
m different walks of ife and m diverse spheres of acti-
vity challenges attention and deserves to be written down
for the benefit of contemporary students and posterity
alike No apology therefore 1s needed for the publication
of this book dealing with the life, work and art of Munsh:
m detail on the occasion when a Committee of his friends
and admirers are celebrating his seventieth birthday
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MUNSHIS OF BROACH

In 1860 the two Munsh: families of the Bhargava
caste of Broach were united when Maneklal married
Tapibehn Their son Xanhaiyalal Munski naturally
claims that he 1s the Munshi of Broach from both sides

Broach 1s a small town in southern Gujarat, in an-
cient days 1t was the chief port of Western India The
Greeks called 1t Barygaza and the Indians Bhrigukachehha
or Bharukaccha

According to the Puranas, the sage Bhrigu practised
austerities for one thousand years at Dasasvamedha, a
sacred spot in Broach, and, in consequence, 1t became a
place of pilgrimage under the name of Bhrigutirtha or
Bhrigukachchha The descendants of Bhrigu were known
as the Bhargavas, among them was the learned sage
Jamadagni Onece Kartyaviryya, king of Anupa Desha
(sometimes dentified with Gujarat) raided Jamadagni’s
hermitage and carried away his cows This raid mnfuriated
Parasurama, the son of Jamadagni, the most valiant
among the Aryans, who appears from the Mahabharata
to be the master of the art of war and was accepted as
the 1ncarnation of Vishnu Parasurama killed Kartya-
viryya - The latter’s son retaliated by killing Jamadagn:
In irresistible wrath, Parasurama destroyed the Ksha-
triyas m twenty-one campaigns i succession Later, he
settled 1n Suiparaka, now Sopara near Bombay All the
Bhargava Brahmins in the west, in fact all Brahming from
Cambay to Cape Comorin, claim desecent from Parasurama.

Though the history of the Bhargavas for a few mul-
lennia after the Mahabharata War 1s rather obscure, the
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Bhargavas, with this tradition to support them, claim to
have Iived in Broach for thousands of years Sri Dhan-
prasad Munshi, Munshi’s cousin, after diligent research,
has been able to trace the early ancestors of the Munshis
back to Visvambhardas Desai, who, according to the family
tradition, helped Sultan Muhammad Tughluq to suppress
a rebellion m Gujarat It appears that Visvambhardas
recerved a Jagir as a reward for this service

In the 18th century, one Nandlal, a Bhargava
Brahmin from Broach and a Persian poet and scholar,
served in the Secretariat of the Mughal Emperor Empe-
ror Muhammad Shah, who was very fond of poetry, was
pleased with Nandlal’s poems and, when the latter retired,
granted him 1 perpetuity the Munshigiri of the Broach
pargana at the rate of one rupee per village This Munshi-
gir1 brought a total mcome of Rs 150 per snnum which
15 enjoyed by Munshi’s family

Nandlal was a munshs by profession and was a Munshi
by an mmperial grant His son Harivallabh rose to become
the head of the Secretariat of the Nawab of Broach He
married his only daughter by his first marriage, to Kishor-
das, a deseandant of Visvambhardas Desai Having no
prospect of getting a son he also gave to Kishordas the
gi1ft of the Munshigiii Maneklal, father of Munshi, was
the sixth in descent from Xishordas ILater, however,
Harivallabh mairied agam and had a son from whom
Tapibehn was descended

In the latter part of the 18th century Gujarat became
a playground of rival armies, first of the Mughals, then
of the Maratha powers fighting among themselves, then
of the Marathas and the British Kishordas and his son
Jugaldas, m sddition to being Persian scholars, were rent-
farmers and were also styled Desal

After the British conquered Broach from the Nawab
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of Broach m 1803, Jugaldas, the then head of the Munshi
clan (by this is here meant the line of Kishordas Munshi
m the male line) was useful to the British

His son, Kishandas, founded the fortunes of the
family 1n the early years of the 19th century It was
Kishandas who acquired the plots on the ‘mound’ or
‘knoll’, (which Munsh: has made famous by naming 1t
‘Munshi Heights’) and built the family mansions To the
Bhargavas everything about the ‘Heights’ was wonderful
Anyone who drank the water of its wells became brave
to the pomnt of being reckless Even tobacco soaked m
its water gave a better taste The importance which the
Munshis acquired was perhaps due to thewr headstiong
temper, ready wit and sharp tongue, to which should be
added their aptitude for law The law court was the pole-
star of their lives No wonder the people of Broach paid
them respect, that was their due

In 1806 Kishandas became the Persian writer of the
Broach Court Eight years later he took his lawyer’s
sanad and began to practise In 1817 he was a Govern-
ment Pleader i the court at Surat In 1831 he was ap-
pomnted to the office of Civil Judge, then ealled ‘Piincipal
Sadar Amin’, a prize post mn India 1n those days Accord-
mg to Sir John Romer, then Chief Justice of the Sadar
Dewani Adalat (High Court) of Bombay, Kishandas ‘was
an excellent and most useful public servant’

Kishandas was a successful man He made money,
built a mansion on the ‘Heights’, acquired agricultural
lands and was honoured by everyone in the caste and the
town, and even by British officials He died at Thana
on July 27, 1832

Of the three sons of Kishandas, Kashiram, the eldest,
was a picturesque personality, and his Iife has been vinadly
described by Munshi  Anupram, well known for his
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honesty, mntegrity and efficiency, was the Native Assistant
to the Resident of Baroda He successfully conducted the
affairs of the Bast India Company 1n their dispute with the
(Glaekwad regarding the Rewa Kantha District The grate-
ful Company was thinking of conferring on him a jagir
when he suddenly died on September 18, 1841, alleged to
have been poisoned by the men of the Gaekwad His
widow and sons received a small pension from the Com-
pany

Narbheram, the youngest of Xishandas’s sons, was
born 1n 1819 He was only thirteen when his father died
Even as a young man he was known for his obstinacy and
quick temper At the age of eighteen he jomned the Broach
Bar and later unsuccessfully applied for the post of the
Native Assistant to the Resident of Baroda, which fell
vacant on the untimely death of his brother In 1846, how-
ever, he was appointed the Reader in the Broach Court, and
the Additional Judge, Burdon, wrote about him ‘‘Very
clever and talented man Bears a high character amongst
the mhabitants of the city 7’ In 1850 he was appointed
the Sheristadar of the Distriect Court at Surat which had
jurisdiction over Broach '

The District Judge at Surat was Andrews, who, at
one time, was the Resident of Baroda Narbheram’s fide-
ity to his superior officer led him to participate i1n what
1s known as the Baroda Khatput Case, which has been
humorously described by his grandson

‘When Andrews was the British Resident of Baroda,
a wiolent dispute broke out between two widows of the
Nagarsheth regarding succession to their husband’s pro-
perty The younger widow, Joita Shethani, claimed to
have a posthumous child Its legitimacy was challenged
by the elder widow As a result, Joita Shethani and her
son were imprisoned The prison guards killed the child@
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but the Shethani escaped to Bombay where she sought the
protection of the East India Company In the meantime
Andrews was fransferred to Surat as the District Judge
and was succeeded by Captan Outram, later General
Outram of the Mutiny fame '

The case of Joita Shethani was sent for disposal to
Captain Outram A preliminary imvestigation revealed to
him that Joita’s co-widow had bribed both Andrews and
his Indian mistress Dulhin  Self-righteous military man
that he was, Outram wrote to Andrews on August 31, 1850,
enquiring whether he had taken the bribe Andrews, a
trained lawyer, provoked the aggressively honest Outram
by taking him to task for coming to a conclusion without
suffictent proof Outram retorted “‘I am not an Old
Bailey attorney, I am a British Officer ’’

However, on September 28, Narbheram came to
Baroda on bebalf of Andrews to inspect the meriminating
documents Oufram permitted him to do so i the pre-
sence of the Native Assistant and the Kotwal of the Gaek-
wad who happened to be a relative of Narbheram, but
hostile They reported to Outram that Narbheram was
not merely mmepecting documents, but was also destroymng
evidence Outram was outraged Narbheram escaped
arrest by a timely flight from Baroda Correspondence
ensued between OQOutram and Andrews in the course of
which Outram wrote m the following vein

‘‘Narbheram, he was a wily native He started
taking copies of papers not relevant to the case, he
engaged persons to spy on my Native Assistant He
also went about telling people that I was a mere
soldier, that I did not understand my business, that

I was likely to be transferred, that i1f a ciwvilian

officer came m my place, all the opponents of An-

drews would be punished And this nafive went
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further, he alleged that I-—Outram—had been won

over by cheats and that a committee had =already

been appointed to inquire mmto my conduct This
wicked Sheristadar of yours even insulted me and
the Gaekwad ”

The whole matter went up to the Governor of Bombay
who censured Outram for having behaved foolishly and
Andrews for having sent his Sheristadar to Baroda, the
Governor also censured the conduct of Narbheram The
matter did not rest here Outram resigned The Directors
of the East India Company, to whom the case went on
appeal, took a different view Andrews died i the mean-
time and so no mquiry was made into his conduct Outram
was reprimanded for his foolishness, but was promised
employment as soon as a vacancy occurred Narbberam’s
further promotion was stopped

It was now Narbheram’s turn to be outraged In
great indignation he resigned his post, returned to Broach,
and resumed the overlordship of the Munshi Heights He
was then only 32 There 1s a family tradation that in 1856,
Nana Saheb, disgmised as a Sadhu, came for a subseription
to Narbheram, who gave five thousand rupees as a contribu-
tion towards the coming revolt Of course, this was kept
a closely guarded family secret, for the ‘wretched Outram’
and a few more ‘mere soldiers’ Iike him had suppressed the
revolt!

For the rest of his life Narbheram lived like a grand
seigneur He commanded the respeect and admiration of
his townfolk, and 1t was on his aid and knowledge of Eng-
Iish that the pious citizens of Broach relied when a young
British Collector decided to shift the Dasasvamedha
cremation ground Narbheram appeared before the Col-
lector with his usual composure and authoritative air and
declared ‘‘The site 1s sacred, you cannot change it.
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Ages ago the demon Bali performed the ten-horse-sacrifice
bere to win the rulership of the (Gods Here 1t was that
God, as the Divine Dwaif, pressed him down to the nether
world Since then the spot 1s the gateway to heaven How
then can you change it?’’ The young Briton was suitably
mmpressed and gave up his sacrilegious intent

This champion of Hindwism, however, had rather a
catholic taste i other directions He had a Mushim mast-
ress His devoted wife suffered this lapse, with the pati-
ence of a Hindu wife When Narbheram fell mortally 1ll,
she went hke a true Safs, to the family deity, Mahadeva,
and prayed to be taken away Dbefore her husband Her
wishes were fulfilled, she suddenly fell 11l and died A
few days later Narbheram followed her At thot time
Maneklal, Munshi’s father, was sixteen years old

2
MANEKLAL AND TAPIBEIN

MunsHI’S mother, born m 1855, was the daughter of
Chimanlal Munshi, a member of the other Munshi clan
which was deseended from Nandlal Munshi Her mother
died when she was only 4% months old Soon after, her
father married agam
In 1897 Tapibehn wrote her memoirs with a view to
unburdening her anguished heart, in them, she referred to
herself m the third person Of her childhood she wrote
““Tapr was two yeais old Her wet-nuise was dis-
missed, as she had learned to eat She could walk a
little, talk a little She would stammer a few words
and Rupabai, her grandmother, would start crymg
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for her daughter Tapi then asked ‘Mother, why

are you crymg?’ The old one replied ‘Wretched

girl, you have killed my daughter by your birth ?

But Tap: did not yet understand what the old woman

meant *’

Tapr’s grandmother was very poor and carried on a
heroic struggle to maintain a genteel appearance When
Tapr was six years old Rupabai became anxious for her
marriage In those days when a commercial civilization had
not made money the badge of respectability, Rupabar had
no hesitation in suggesting to Narbheram Munshi, the aris-
tocrat of the ‘Munshi Heights’, that her granddaughter
be married tc his third son, Maneklal Opposition, how-
ever, came from Dayakunvar, wife of Narbheram She ob-
jected to having a daughter-in-law who had no mother, for,
she said, she had with so many sons and daughters, enough
buiden of her own Narbheram overruled the objection:
the horoscopes tallied, and the betrothal took place "When
Maneklal was nine years old his marriage was celebrated
with the customary ceremonies and festivities He rode
out to Chimanlal Munshi’s house, married Tapibehn and
brought her back 1 a palanqun  Shortly after, her
maternal grandmother, Rupabai, died, and Tapibehn came
to live with Rukmini, her cousin, as her father was mn ser-
vice outside Broach An old aunt who loved Tap:r died
also shortly after, and the sensitive child felt acutely the
mdignity of her position, as Rukmini made her life
extremely dificult However, she suffered patiently and
meekly with an unshakable faith in God Whenever Ruk-
mi1’s tyranny over her became unbearable she prayed to
God to come to her aid But, as she naively writes 1n her
memoirs, ‘‘He did not answer her prayers ”’

At the age of 12 Tapibehn came to Iive with her hus-
band’s family on the Munshi Heights The only posses-
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sions she brought with her were a few sars and cholis
packed m a trunk In the meantime, Maneklal had to go
away to Ahmedabad, as there were no adequate facilities
m Broach to prepaie him for the Matriculation Examma-
tion The husband and wife, 15 and 12 years old respec-
tively, first saw each other at close quarters on the raillway
station Tapibehn describes this meeting i her memolrs
thus

‘“In the bright half of Jyeshtha, Maneklal—the

husband of Tapi—was travelling i the same train m

which Tapi, her step-mother and the latter’s two sons

were going to Godhra Therefore, 1t came about that

Tapi and Mankelal exchanged glances They both

felt happy This was evident, becawse each was shyly

looking at the other ever so often At the Godhra
station, Tapr and her companions got down but she
went on exchanging glances till the tramm left '’

The climate of Ahmedabad did not suit Maneklal, so
he returned to Broach Shortly after Narbheram Munshi
fell 111 and Maneklal gave up his studies to nurse his father.
‘When Narbheram and Dayakunvar fell ill, the manage-
ment of the Munshi household fell on the shoulders of
Rukhiba, the widowed daughter of Narbheram, whose tem-
per has been picturesquely deseribed by Munshi in his
Kulapat’s Letters Tapibehn was thus placed at the
mercy of two heartless women, Rukmimni in her father’s,
and Rukhiba at her father-in-law’s, house

According to the custom then prevailing among res-
pectable families 1n Gujarat, Tapibehn had to go to her
father’s house for her evening meal and return at night to
her husband But when Tap: went to her father’s house,
ber cousin, Rukmini, tortured her with cruel taunts So
Tapibehn went ostensibly to her father’s house to take the
evening meal so that her father’s respectability might be
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maimtamed with her husband’s relations In order to
escape the cruel taunts of Rukmini, she did not take any
food there but returned at might to her husband, forgoing
her evening meal The prestige of her father would have
suffered 1f 1t had been found out that she did not get her
dmner at his house This went on for months

One day Rukmmi was more than usually violent
Tapibehn’s,going hungry every might was also telling up-
on her mind She confessed her plight to Maneklal’s sister
who informed her brother  Maneklal gently coaxed the
whole story out of Tapibehn, gave her what hittle food he
could get at that hour of the might and said ‘“You must
not hide anything from me, you have no mother or sister,
so I shall fill then places, and you must have the same con-
fidence m me’’ The next morning Maneklal’s mother
learnt of the affair and ordered Tapi to dine with her in-
stead of going to Rukmini

Soon after, Maneklal’s parents died and Tapibehn
came under the iron rule of Rukhiba But happier days
were ahead Maneklal got employment in the Sub-Regis-
trar’s office at Godhra on a salary of Rs 12 and later was
transferrred to Ahmedabad on a salary of Rs 15 per
month Shortly after, a daughter was born to them Pro-
motion followed Two more daughters were born, but the
third died soon after birth

Early m 1887 Maneklal and Tapibehn left their un-
happy days behind them Tapibehn went to Godhra where
her husband was posted, and she felt extremely happy
This 18 how she records the impressions of the day

“On the fifth day of the dark formight, Tapi

went to Godhra The tram reached there at seven,

because at that time there was a direct tram to

Godhra When she reached home at eight, dimner was
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ready The two of them dined and talked affectionate-
ly, never was a moment happier nor so peaceful

‘“The fortune of the couple was at 1ts height,
from a small job he had gradually been promoted till
he had become an important official, two daughters
had been married, the third was seven years old;
God’s blessings were on them, they did not owe a
smgle anna to anyone ”’

A few months passed and Tapibehn exultantly
wrote

““Tapi had always trodden the path of religionm
with faith i the Lord, and in return the Lord has
today bestowed on her the frmts of religion and vir-
tue That He should be pleased with her devotion 1s
not surprisimg For, day and night she has prayed,
‘My God! my bhusband 1s performing his duty, he is
providing for his wife and protecting her It 1s the
duty of a2 wife to be virtuous and serve her husband
But only if she gives birth to a son, can the husband
be fiee from the obligation to his ancestors By the
grace of God, I am doing everything, still I have not
been able to present a son to my husband So there
must be something wrong mm me’ Now even that
difficulty 1s no moie What more do I want now? I
thanked God again and agam *’

A son was born to her on December 30, 1887 Tapi-
behn was beside herself with joy She writes ‘‘Poets have
described the joy of Yashoda as she saw the frolies of
young Sr1 Krishna, I too felt like her, as I watched my
son ’’ He was named Kanhaiyalal The boy brought luck;
Maneklal Munshi became the Mamlatdar of Mandvi, a few
days after the birth of his son

Tapibehn was now keen that the family properties
should be partitioned so that her son might not be depriv-
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e¢d of his share The demand for partition by Maneklal
opened the flood-gates of family feuds and recriminations
Pharsram, the eldest brother, said referring to Munshi
“‘The first danger 1s Yama (King of death), the second 1s
the brother, the third his brother’s son > Rukhiba was
tmrestrained in her abuse of Tapibehn  Unfortunately,
Tapibehn was not eapable of retorting A partition suit
was instituted by Maneklal It was referred for arbitra-
tion and after endless quarrels and fierce reeriminations
the family properties came to be partitioned

Maneklal and Tapibehn had their due share of mis-
fortune Two of their daughters became widowed 1n their
teens, Tapibehn had therefore to live at Broach to look after
them Munshi generally stayed with his father wherever
he happened to be posted He liked to live with his father
for he loved him ardently, though he was shightly afraid of
him As he graw older, he mnvested his father mn his 1ma-
gination with the attributes of a semi-divine being This
respect had a wholesome effect on the boy For Maneklal
was a deeply religious man, simple, direct and honest In
those days, and perhaps even in these, illegal gratification
came easly to revenue officers to swell their private for-
tunes Yet Maneklal’s honesty became proverbial He
was very hard-working, loyal and fearless This brought
him recognition and rapid promotion

The character of the man 1s 1llustrated when, as Diwan
of Sachin, a small native state in Bombay, he had to deal
with a mentally defective Nawab The Nawab had sworn
to destroy the Diwan On Id Day, the Diwan was expect-
ed to garland the Nawab as the procession passed on 1ts
way 1 front of his house It was rumoured i the town
that when Maneklal would meet the Nawab, to put the gar-
land round his neck, the Nawab would stab him The
Nawab’s procession came near the house Tapibehn was
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unhappy but would not dare to restrain Maneklal He
quietly slipped a revolver i his pocket, took the garland
and went out and garlanded the Nawab The Nawab, dead
drunk, could not summon up courage to unsheathe his
sword The procession passed by and Maneklal returned
unhurt to his house ‘‘In those few minutes we lived many
Iives”?, writes Munshi

Munshi did not inherit the robust physique of his
father FEven as a child he was delicate and showed the
characteristic which has persisted till now—a lack of appe-
tite It required all the patience and skill of his mother
and three sisters to feed him as he toddled from room to
room This may have retarded his normal physical deve-
lopment But Munshi’s urge to write, and ever to write,
was inherited from his parents Xven Maneklal, the effi-
cient official, had literary leanings and once wrote a drama
in verse Tapibehn, in spite of her negligible formal edu-
cation, knew akhyans (the Puranic episodes rendered in
Gujarati verse) by heart and composed poems and dis-
courses, she even wrote her memoirs, 1f only for unburden-
mg her heart From her own experience she wrote out
maxims of conduct It i1s almost 1mpossible to render m
English the natural charm of her simple language or the
nobility of her sentiments She was extremely relhigious
and fed her son—one might say gorged him—with stories
from the Ramayana, Mahabharata, the Puranas and parti-
cularly legends of the Bhargavas and their great ancestor
Parasurama Later, her ‘Bhai’ read all that has ever been
written about Parasurama and the Bhargavas, wrote a
brilliant series of novels on the sage, and selected particu-
larly the same subject for his Thakkar Vassonjr Madhav)i
Research Lectures in the Bombay University, collected and
pubhished wunder the title Early Aryans of the West
Coast The sophisticated Westermised Indian woman of
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today might call Tapibehn superstitious Fortunately it
was so, for, unable to consult the latest books on child
psychology, Tapibehn and Maneklal transmitted to their
son the best that they possessed—character, aspiration and
faith m God

Those were the days of high orthodoxy If while go-
mg out for a caste dinner, after bathing and arraying him-
self m a silken pitambar, accompanied by the Mushm ser-
vant, Mohammad Shafi, Munshi touched an untouchable by
accident, he had two ways open to him He had either to
go home and take another bath, or touch Mohammad Shafi
so that the two negatives might make a positive

Later Tapibehn came to change her outlook gradually
Reacting to the progress made by her son, ultimately, as
we shall see, she actively supported her son’s marriage with
a Jamm widow, she did so because her son was her dearest
possession, the dominating mnterest of her life His happa-
ness was her own She had had a miserable childhood, her
daughteis had been widowed early, her husband had died,
even her two daughters had died, leaving to her the burden
of bringing up two grand-children Mother of seven child-
ren, she was left with only one son and a daughter She
therefore dedicated herself to her son’s welfare What
mterested him engrossed her attention When he took to
polities, she took mnterest in 1t When he narrated to her
the substance of the English novels he read, she heard them
with awidity For instance, The Three Musketeers was
Munshi’s favourite book during his school days Tapibehn
heard from him over and over agam the exploits of the
French musketeers, and when the grandchildren came, it
was she who first narrated the story to them This was a
wonderful mother-son relationship The son was ever
dutiful and affectionate He was meticulous about her
tastes and inclinations He did well i his examinations,
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loved the mother, respected the father’s memory, and had
scarcely any wvice, fashionable or unfashionable, Munshi
never even tried smoking What more could a mother
want?

3
MUNSHI, THE BOY

Manerrnan Munshi wanted his son to enter the Inchian
Civil Service and took his education mnto his hands when
he was barely five years old DMunshi began the study of
English, with the Reading Without Tears, taught by his
father As his mother remammed at Broach, Munsh: Iived
with his father, a lonely child with no companions and no
opportumity for games As a result, he was forced to
wvent a world of his own imagmation

A theatrical party came to Surat where Munshi lived
with his father, and the actor-managers stayed as Manek-
lal’s guests for some time Munshi’s father was their
patron and when the theatre was ready and the play stag-
ed, Munsh1 went to see the shows almost every day As he
says, he was transfiecuied Iike Narsi Mehta when the poet
saw Radha and Krishna dance m a trance The appear-
ance of Parasurama on the stage and the love scene of the
hero and heroine in the Premachandrika created a tremen-
dous mmpression on the boy He still 1emembers some lines
from the Premachandrika which he heard mn 1897 s
father however did not approve of Munshi’s enthusiasm
for the theatre and restricted his visits

Maneklal was now the Diwan of Sachin The family
properties had been partitioned and he spared no expenses
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i celebrating the sacred-thread ceremony of Munshi.
Munsh: was anxious to be transformed mto a Vedic Sage
and followed the preseribed instructions diligently After
he was mvested with the sacred thread, full of enthusiasm
he came back to Sachin There he was cheated at cards by
a friend, the son of his father’s clerk, who had received the
sacred thread about the same time Bemng very agitated,
he broke with his friend and 1n a flash saw the reason for
his downfall In a towering rage he took uprhis pen and
started writing the book The Damly Duties of a Brahmin
Unfortunately the ten-year old boy gave up his first at-
tempt at authorship But, being a serious-minded boy, he
began a diary The first entry 1s dated Januvary 1, 1897
and 1t begmns with a quotation from Bhartrihari’s Nufe
Shataka

About the same time, when he accompanied his father
to Nasik on a pilgrimage, he saw the city of Bombay Ewi-
dently at first look 1t was not attractive Munshi studied
his first three standards in Englhish in Surat and then
jomed the school at Dhandhuka where his father was trans-
ferred He failed mn is examination TLuckily his father
found a competent teacher who coached him in Emnglish.
After two months Munsh: was promoted to the upper class
s father, satisfied with the boy’s progress, presented him
with a few novels of Sir Walter Scott, mncluding Rob Roy
Munshy did not understand them fully, but they thrilled
his 1magination all the same.

The next year, 1900, Maneklal was transferred to
Broach as Deputy Collector Munshi then joimed the local
High School It was at that time that Munshi met Dalpat-
rem, his hifelong friend, whose nobility even poverty could
not dim  Munsh: has gratefully described this friendship
m one of his Kulapatl’s Letters

Staited at his father’s instance, theatrical companies



Munsha wn 1900







MUNSHI, THE BOY 19

<ame to Broach and staged several plays, among which was
Jagatsymha, adopted from Bankim Chandra Chatterjee’s
Durgeshanandine and Shwap  In those days the plays
started at 9-30 at nmight and ended at dawn For three
months each year the troupe came to Broach and Munshi
hardly missed a show On the one hand novels like Ivanhoe
and The Three Musketeers, and on the other, plays like
Shwayr and Jagatsimha kept the piecocious boy m a
romantie world of his own It would, however, not be cor-
1ect to say that Munshi as a boy was day-dreaming all the
time

In 1901, his teacher dehivered a lecture on the
Reformation i EBurope Munshi, then thirteen, pondered
over the lecture and concluded that God was capable of
understanding prayers in any language and that there was
no necessity to pray only i Sanskiit He writes m his
diary  ‘‘Therefore, from now on I shall perform my
sandhya 1 Gujaratr >’ He discussed the problem with his
mother and she approved of his decision He then took the
help of a Sansgkrit scholar and translated the sandhya
into Gujarat1 He also translated his mother’s favourite
hymn Roaomastavaraje stotra 1to Gujarat But he
found that performing sendhye m Gujaratr was different
from performing 1t 1n Sanskrit—its efficacy disappeared
when he read that the prayer was addressed to the Sun

On 29-3-1901 he writes 1n his diary  ‘‘How long shall
T have to perform the sandhya?® It says that Sun 1s God,
that His devotees, acquire property and salvation, but my
astronomy says that sun 1s a shining star There 13 no
harm 1n recognismg the benefit we derive from a physical
phenomenon, I must worship the Creater of this sun, who
18 One and Indivisible >’ Soon he gave up his sandhya,
and the rudraksha beads

To understand the psychology of young Munshi one
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has to take mto account the three passions of his adoles-
cence passion for romance, 1eligious fervour and devotion
to parents Fiom his early years all the three were 1n full
operation His passion for reading romance and indulg-
mg i day-dreams had no doubt their harmful effects His
appetite for the 1omantics grew on what 1t fed In the
Matriculation Examination he had to write an essay on
““Your Favourite Pastime’ Munshi’s thesis was ‘‘Read-
g Novels’’ That was his only pastime He mnever cared
for spf)rts In his autobiography he describes how he made
fun of every game 1n all of which he proved a failure He
was a very sensitive man and hated failure Ie gave up all
attempts to excel in sports and concentrated on reading
novels This was little compensation for the mental agony
of his adolescent years, as he pmed for his dream-girl, who
as we shall see, never left him till he married Srimat: Lala-
vati

The trouble, or one may say Munshi’s love-life, 1f such
a term can be applied to a boy of eleven, started at Sachin
In his autobiography Munshi states that he has not visited
the place sinee he left 1t 1n 1899 He has good reasons to
avoid a town which has only unhappy memories Further
on he says

““My memory of Sachin centres round a girl of
8 or 9, fair, spirited, loving, playful We used to
play together, sometimes we quarrelled, sometimes
we 1ead together She had a deep attachment to me
‘What world did my imagination not create around
her Dbut only to be destroyed?

““For many years the flow of imagmation and
Interature was fed by the memory of a foolish 1magi-
native boy’s emotional experience of three or four
months I have given a colourful picture of these
days m my story Vermi-Vasulat However I do
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not desire that a description of such a common expe-

rience of a real life here should destroy the charm of”

that picture ”’

Agam, Munshi writmng of his college days says

““I was changmg slowly, but a part of my hfe
remained what 1t was Sometimes when I used to

walk about in the terraces of the College alone, I

would see my little friend of Sachin standmng before

me At such times I wept, overcome with emotion.

Whenever I read a novel, I felt as if we were 1ts hero

and heroine These were realities of the world of my

mmagimation ”’

Munshy was married before he joined college His.
parents, following the custom of those days, used to dis-
cuss Munshi’s betrothal when he was only a child One of
his earliest memories 1s of relatives coming to his house,
each bringing a small girl, and his parents discussing her
merits and demerits After great deliberation, a girl of
four was selected, and brought to Surat-for a few days
where Munshi remembers running to her with a small piece
of sugarcane So far all was good

In 1900 Maneklal, having worked hard to combat the
famine that afflicted the Broach district, had an attack of
erysipelas For a few days he hovered between life and
death He took this as a warning and decided to celebrate
the marriage of his son, the only social duty he had not yet
performed

Munsh: was only thirteen at the time, studymng for his
Matriculation His wife, Atilakshmi, was nine years old,
but looked a girl of five ‘‘I did not want to marry’’, says
Munsh: m his autobiography ¢‘Firstly, I had decided to
marry the friend of my childhood (the girl friend of
Sachin) Secondly, my wife was too young and was, even
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for her age, too small But I could not state any of these
reasons, for I always obeyed my father’s wishes *’

Munsh: then describes his marriage ceremony with a
bantering humour, as 1f the whole affair was a huge joke
With a turban on his head and a sword in his hand, he rode
to his bride’s place Later at night he returned in the
wake of a procession with his bride in a palanquin After
the fireworks, she fell into a peaceful slumber This was
an unfortunate lapse, but she was a normal girl of nine
However what Munshi does not record 1is that he went to
celebrate his marriage with tears 1 his eyes and with vague
ideas of suicide But Maneklal Munshi, after he had
pledged his word, was the last person to tolerate any
romantic nonsense m a boy of thirteen The result, as we
shall see, was not very happy

Munshi broke the tradition among the Bhargava boys
that none of them could pass the Matriculation Examina-
tion at the fitst chance Munshi expresses his gratitude to
a teacher, Uttamram, who instilled m him self-confidence
Referring to him Munshi writes ‘‘The teacher who can
develop self-confidence 1n his students 1s the best teacher >’
He passed the examination Maneklal Munshi was
beside himself with joy He embraced his son with tears
of joy flowing down his cheeks He himself had not been
able to fulfil his desire of passing the Matriculation Hais
‘Kanu’ had done 1t

After anxious deliberation, the affectionate parents
decided to send theiwr only son to the nearby college at
Baroda which his cousin, Pranlal Munshi was also joining
On his first visit to the hostel he cheerfully insulted the
superintendent of the hostel, whom he took to be an ordi-
nary student The meeting was unfortunate for the super-
mtendent, who seems to have taken his position too serious-
ly, lacked a sense of humour and was shghtly pompous,
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which m Munshi’s eyes remains to this day an unpardon-
able lapse 1 any man He tried to show the Munsh1
brothers their position They returned the compliment
by makmg his life miserable They took their friends to
the theatre as frequently as possible, played all kinds of
pranks on him and ultimately drove him imto self-chosen
retirement 1n his solitary room

In the Baroda College, Munshi came under the in-
fduence of two teachers One was Professor Jagjivan Shah,
Professor of Philosophy, who bad a strong bias towards
Western civilization and who was influenced by the Uni-
tarian i1deas of Martinean His favourite student was one
P K Desai, the P K of Munshi’s Svapna-drashta In his
diary (1902) Munshi writes ‘I am fortunate to have
P K as a friend He has taught me more than all other
friends put together have done ’’ The other teacher was
Sr1 Aurobindo Ghosh of whom we shall speak later

Another influence that began to dominate Munsh: was
that of Napoleon In his school days he was greatly at-
tracted by the Little Corporal and at the first opportunmty
purchased Abbot’s Lafe of Napoleon, a somewhat lauda-
tory biography, very popular in India at that time.
Munshi, who has something of hero-worship 1 him, made
Abbot’s work his gospel He fought the battles of Marengo
and Austerlitz over and over agamn m his room in the
Baroda College hostel and even began an epic on Lis hero
m iambiec pentametre What 1s surprising 1s his statement
m his autobiography: ¢‘Napoleon has still a niche i the
sanctuary of my heart ’’

At that time a change came over Munshi’s religious
convictions He could not continue the performance of
sandhya Tts place was taken by recital of Gujarat: hymns,
composed by Bholanath Divatia in his Prarthanamala He
began to lose faith m the caste system For a time Chzs-
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tlanity attracted him, but having come across Dean
Farrar’s Jesus Christ, which he read with great interest,
Christianity lost its appeal He wrote 1n his diary  ““The
conception of God in Christiamity 1s foolish God 1s con-
cerved as a man with a son and a throne Christianity 1s
childish > This shows the peculiarity in Munshi’s charac-
ter, namely his ecapacity to change from one extreme view
to another with all sincerity and seriousness Five years
later, he read Renan’s Infe of Christ and changed his view
completely  ‘‘Christ has completely won my heart”’,
writes Munshi ‘I cannot get any peace of mind wnless I
can curb my passion for Him 7 (Diary, February 17,
1907) And Christ still holds a prominent place i his
pantheon

P K also introduced him to a series of works on poli-
1iecs  He began with Tom Paine’s The Rights of Man,
John Mill’s ILaberty, Michelet’s French Revolution and
cther works of a similar nature He writes ‘“When I
read the*history of the French Revolution I became mad
with the ideas of liberty and equality I soon realised that
equality was necessary to destroy the basis of the caste
system "’

An mecident of his boyhood now returned to his
memory with a new significance When Maneklal Munsh:
was a Deputy Collector at Broach, his duties took him to
the house of the Daistrict Collector, where he was nusually
received with cordiality A new Collector had come to
Broach and as Maneklal went to call on him takimg Munshi
with him, his carriage was stopped at the gate by a chap-
rast 'The new Collector had ordered that no vehicle
should be permutted in the compound Maneklal Munshi
became red 1n the face However, he controlled himself
and went to meet his superior officer To Munshi, who was
then with his father in the carriage, this came as a rude
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shock He realised that the Whites were the masters, that
his father whom he 1dohsed as Sage Jamadagni, was a
slave, just that and nothing more Munshi was reading
Scott’s Ivanhoe at the tume and nick-named the Collector
‘Brian de Bois Gilbert’ the wicked Kmight Templar But
now 1n the College, and in the hight of his study of the
French Revolution, he saw the mmeident m the background
of the Indian situation

In December 1902, Munsh: wanted to join the volun-
teer corps which was then bemng reecruited for the annual
session of the Congress, to be held at Ahmedabad But his
father forbade 1t “‘I eat the salt of the Government’’, said
Maneklal Munshi, who scarcely fails to flare up when op-
posed, retorted ‘‘Did the British Government bring the
money from England?’’ His father was very angry but at
night Tapibehn managed to bring him round to a concilia-
tory mood It was agreed that Munshi should not join the
volunteer corps formally, but go to Ahmedabad with his
father who had consented to attend the Exhibition which
was to be opened by the Commissioner Munshi has des-
cribed this session 1 his Svapna-drashta For the first-
time he realised what the expression ‘my country’ stood
for Of Surendranath, who presided over the session,
Munsh: writes ‘‘Few can realise today the place of
Surendranath m the hearts of young men of that time >’
Many were the great leaders of the country with whom
Munsh: worked, but of these mfluences, the first was the
most remarkable Munshi was overwhelmed by Surendra-
nath’s oratory and even today can repeat from memory
many passages from the speech of that great m1d-V1ctorlan
orator

The Congress session had a memorable effect on Mun-
shi’s career He was determimed to master the art of
public speaking He studied and re-studied the passages
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of Demosthenes and Cicero from Blair’s Belles Lettres
He committed to memory several addresses of the Tndian
leaders as also the speeches from Chamber’s Elocution and
of Patrick Henry Every evening at 7 o’clock he went
to the College Hall, empty at that hour, and thundered
his orations When he came to Broach, he went to the
Tiver-side under the railway bridge and declaimed at the
top of his voice He did not forget histrionies either
The young orator stood before his mirror acting the dif-
ferent roles from Shakespeare

There ‘was, however, more than one reason for this
tremendous preparation He was once asked to speak at a
‘College Debate on Shivayi, his favourite hero He had
made assiduous preparations but when he went to the plat-
form, the future leader of the Bombay Bar and the mass
orator of Chowpatty could only blurt out ‘‘My friend has
just stated that Shivaj received a sword from Mother
Bhavani To believe this in the twentieth century is non-
sense >’ His head began to whirl, he forgot the notes he
had m his pocket and nervously stepped down from the
platform Munshi 1s a very sensitive man who hates to
be a failure and does all in his power to overcome his de-
ficiency Most of his early failures only prodded him on
to develop his latent powers and natural gifts He how-
ever took his studies hightly He did not Iike mathematies
and possibly did not give 1t sufficient attention In the
first university examination he failed to secure pass marks
i mathematies

Death came to Munshi Heights The three brothers
«of Maneklal died, one after another The same year he
lost his two eldest daughters REach of them left a child
and the burden of bringing them up fell upon this un-
bappy couple On the night of May 1, 1903. Maneklal
Munsh: helped Tapibehn to check the household accounts
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for April As usual, the few annas which were left m
the purse were handed over to their son who soon fell
asleep At midnight Maneklal Munsh: had a heart attack
As a consclentious officer, he had worked too hard, now
he had to pay for his devotion to duty The doctors came,
for a time he partially recovered On May 8, as he was
getting up to go to dinner, he had a stroke to which he
suceumbed within a few seconds

4
MOTHER AND SON

Ox his father’s death, a new sense of responsibility was
born 1n the fifteen year old boy ‘I felt as ifea crown
had dropped off from my head All my life I had been
protected by my father, his money and position Now he
was dead and I felt helpless The burden ¢f bringing up
two young orphans, my nephews, was on me Mother was
now alone So 1t was my duty to assure her I, therefore,
decided to give up my studies and secure a job ’’

For Tapibehn, reeling under the shock of her hus-
band’s death, almost the first thought was how to prowvide
money for her son’s education ¥ven as she made pre-
parations for the shraddha ceremony, she began to take
stock of the situation Munshi advised her to sell some
furniture and other articles of luxury ‘‘Kanu, don’t be
afraxd You need not sell anything nor give up your
studies I will look after everything’’, she replied with
tears 1 her eyes

The obsequies were performed m a manner befitting
the status of Maneklal Munsh1 After all the ceremonies
were over, Tapibehn got together all that they had, eollect-
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ed the msurance money and sold some of her ornaments
This sum was nvested

The cook and the servant were cdismissed The old
faithful servant Muhammad Shafi, begged to be discharg-
ed, as he had secured a better job m a mull

‘“Muhammad, 1f you are not with us, who will look
after your little master?’’ Tapibehn asked him

Muhammad looked at Munshi for a moment ‘‘That’s
right, mother, I stay >’ He stayed

Many a time after this Muhammad received offers of
better jobs, but he kept true to his promise to look after his
‘Iittle master ° As his salary was not sufficient to main-
tain him, he and his fwo wives made bidss 1 their spare
hours and earned a little extra money But the prestige
of the ‘little master’s’ family was safe 1n his honest hands

Muhammad Shafi was a pious Mushm, who read his
Qoran and scerupulously followed the mmjunctions of his
religion For many years he would not allow himself to
be photograplred, for he thought 1t to be un-Islamic Yet
it wag this orthodox follower of Islam who not only super-
vised all the affairs of a Brahmin family, but even kept
a sharp eye on the priest to see that he performed the
daily pujae properly The devotion of this noble soul did
not go m vamm When the ‘little master’ began to earn
money, Muhammad Shafi was his first charge and the rest
of lis life was spent 1n comfort

For the moment, however, the situation was bleak
From the total mcome which came only to four hundied
rupees a year, Tapibehn had to pay for Munshi’s education
about one hundred and seventy-five rupees and eighty-four
rupees for Muhammad Shafi’s salary Another part-time
maid servant, who used to clean the utensils and wash the
clothes, had to be paid about four rupees a month With
‘the balance, that 15, less than one hundred rupees a year
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Tapibehn had to manage her household, bring up her two
giandchildren, and maintain her status Almost all the
work of the house shé did herself

Amidst all these troubles, Tapibehn a,nd Munshi had
to face a peculiar hitigation A few days after the death
of Maneklal Munshi, a wily neighbour headed a clamm for
a part of the Munshi Heights As the latrines stood on
the disputed property, Munsh: had deseribed this mecident
as the Jajru Purana m his autobiography But at that
time the situation was anything but humorous Every now
and then the neighbour would shout from the street
that the Munshis were occupymmg the heights under false
pretences For young Munshi, this humiliation was worse
than losing his property, till now his father’s prestige had
protected him from all msults This absurd claim based on
a document of 1800 led to lengthy litigation, which was
finally decided m 1913

With his father’s death Munshi applied himself se-
riously to his studies and passed the examinations regular-
ly However, the text books did not satisfv his passion for
reading and he sought solace 1 English poetiv, his
favourite authors at this time were Burke and Mill, Byron,
Tennyson and Shelley Shelley he liked most, and he still
loves to read and discuss Shelley’s works, or anything
written about Shelley HEven now he can recite from
memory his favourite English poems which cover a wide
range of authors

At this time he also started to piactice wiiting and
for two vears (1904-1906) followed implicitly the direc-
tions given m D1 Blair’s Belles Lettres In 1904 his first
article i1 Enghsh on Davanand Sarasvati appeared m the
College magazine, the same year he passed the Inter-
mediate examination m the second division

Tt wag about this time that Munshi came i1nto contact
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with Prof Ghosh, later Sri1 Aurobindo, then alternating
as a professor of English and private secretary to the
Gaekwad Munshi’s first reaction to Professor Ghosh was
unfavourable, for the latter had, mn an address to the Col-
lege Debating Society, preferred the British constitutional
monarchy to a Republic But when Sri1 Aurobindo gave
up his European ways of life and began to practise Yoga,
Munshi developed a high regard for him

Politically, this period was a landmark m India’s
future development In 1903, Lord Curzon spent three
crores for his Durbar at Delhi, and Lal Mohan Ghosh, in
his Presidential speech at the Congress described 1t as a
‘pompous pageant to a perishing people ” The Russo-
Japanese war broke out and the Indians of Munshi’s gene-
ration watched with bieathless interest the unprecedented
spectacle of an Asiallc nation defeating one of the major
powers of Europe Munshi’s mmagination was fired He
began to think of India’s independence and expound this
theme to his friend Acharya But probably Munshi’s
1deas were too wvisionary, for even higs friend, Acharya,
used to make fun of him So Munshi kept his revolu-
tionary 1deas to himself and elaborated his 1deas as he
paced the terrace of his College alone

The days when Munshi stayed at Broach for his vaca-
tions were red-letter days for Tapibehn She would pre-
pare his favourite sweets, clean the rooms, and spread new
covers 1n the drawmg room Then, Munshi, or ‘Bhai”
to use Tapibehn’s pet name for him, would come and re-
late to the eager mother all he had learnt during the ses-
sion, history of England and France, the achievements
of the Congress, of Surendranath, Aurobindo Ghosh and
Bipmm Chandra Pal Munshi’s discussions with his mother
also embraced metaphysies, God, soul and 1ts transmigra-
tion, caste system, and re-marriage of widows The lonely
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widow hung on every word of her son, she encouraged
him and, years later, to a slight extent influenced by Mun-
shi, she led a successful movement against widows bemng
forced by custom to undergo the torture of a tonsure For
the rest she remained what she was, a pirous Brahmin lady,
who wished to enjoy in her love for her son the feelings
of Yashoda for Krishna

Her day began with the song ‘‘Jago Yadava Krishna
Kanharvya *>  She sometimes composed a few similar songs
herself “‘mata Yasoda Krishne jagava, jago Nando du-
lare re”’

His mother’s single-mimmded devotion to Munshi had
a profound influence on him He respected the suscepti-
bilities of his mother and tiied to perform faithfully all
that she expected him to do She also induced 1n him a
lasting religious attitude In his early days Munshi had
great regard for Renan’s Infe of Jesus Christ for its re-
jection of all the miracles associated with Christ This
attitude coloured most of his Vedic and Puranic novels
and dramas, for the great Sages have been reduced by him
to human proportions At the same time, he could not
contemplate Siva or Sri Krishna, Vyasa or Parsurama
without deep reverential awe Even now, 1f possible, he
will avoid reading a modern biography of an Indian saint
written on Renan’s principle Possibly, he finds 1t diffi-
cult to give up the early ideas inculcated by his mother

Tapibehn’s greatest care m these days was to main-
tain ‘Bhai’ as his father used to, ‘Bhai’ should not go to
the market, he should not feel the humiliations which went
with poverty, he must be respected as the son of Maneklal
Munsha

Munsh1 used to return to his house at eight mn the
evening , and any delay would cause Tapibehn torments of
anxiety One evening Munghi returned at nine, Tapi-
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behn was i tears, as Munshi casually explamed how he
was detaimned over a discussion with some of his friends
Tapibehn without a word of reproach, merely said ‘‘But
Bhai, your dmmner 1s getting cold >’ Something in her
voice struck him as a blow Munshi writes 1 his auto-
bography  ‘““‘Thuty-five years passed ‘Bhai’ became
old, but if he did not return by eight, mother would ask,
‘Why has Bhai not returned?’ Her son too would bhe
most unhappy 1f he were detammed after eight in the
evenmng 7’

A secret sorrow haunted Tapibehn Munshi had
been married agamst his will, 1if Atilakshmi the young
bride, did not come up to his expectations, his life would
be ruined Tapibehn knew her son too well to beheve that
he would be happy with an uneducated girl as the part-
ner of hig Iife

Atilakshmi was nearly twelve, the age at which a bride
came to live with her husband’s family i those days She
was beautiful but though twelve looked like a child Her
family lived near the Munsh: Heights and Tapibehn saw
her practically every day This in a way mcreased her
anxiety, for Atilakshmi’s parents completely neglected her
education Tapibehn decided to make arrangements for
Atilakshmi’s education and bring her to the Munshi
Heights This infuriated Atilakshmi’s parents She cer-
tainly would go and Iive with her mother-mn-law, but not
for passing examinations, 1f Tapibehn had wanted an edu-
cated daughter-in-law, she should have gone elsewhere
Rukhiba came to thewr help ‘I know Chiman Munshi’s
daughter (Tapibehn), she will ruin Ati’s ife ’’ But Tapi-
behn knew her son and wanted Atilakshmi to be a wife
fit for him

Tapibehn, however, had to take a decision She
brought Atilakshmi to the Munshi Heights, the latter’s
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relatives became somewhat truculent, and Tapibehn for-
bade her to go to her parents’ house and took the education
of her daughter-in-law into her own hands Then began
her affectionate but arduous effort to mould Atilakshmi
which met with rare success Munshi wrote in his diary
on April 19, 1904 ‘At 1s coming here but she 1s abso-
lutely uneducated Her mother does not teach her, mor
allow my mother to do so ”’

Again, we find Munsh: writing on February 5, 1905:
‘“My wife must come to live with us, but how shall I spend
the rest of my life? What will 1t lead to? What will my
wife be ike? I may have peculiar feelings and ideas, but
can one live perpetually unhappy?’’ Ultimately, Munshi
came to a resolution “‘Even 1f this girl does not turn
out as I want (her) to, I shall mercilessly force myself to
lead a straight and honest life ”’

Atilakshmi, now thirteen, knew that her husband was
reading 1 the Baroda College When he ecame to
Broach, she peeped at him, an extremely fair boy, from
behind the shutters Sometimes she went to his place and
ate from the plate on which he had just taken his meals
This was normal, she was content and happy, her boy-
husband was thought to be the coming man of the com-
munity, her friends were jealous of her She was only
afraid of her mother-m-law People called her ‘manly-
woman’, for she put on spectacles and kept accounts Iike
a man !

Eagerly, Atilakshmi Distened to Tapibehn when she
explaimned the likes and dislikes of ‘Bhai,” what food he
Iiked and how to prepare i1t Under the mother-in-law’s
affectionate tutorship she began to grow wnto a true Indian
wife

In April the College closed for the summer vacation
Munshi came home and at night Atilakshmi went to meet

2
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him. She had heard stories from her friends, and that
some husbands beat their wives Would her husband be
like that ?

Anyway she had to go and so she went Munshi was
sitting on a swing ‘‘Come and sit here,”’ he said, but
there was no smile of welcome on his face Atilakshmi
went and sat

‘“Can you read ?”’

““Yes, I am readmng the second book’’ Before she
could decide whether her husband meant this question to
be an insult, he—mnot she— burst mto tears This took her
completely by suiprise, for she had never heard of a hus-
band ciying on the first night She did not know that
her husband’s 1deal bride at this time was one modelled
on Rosalind, Elizabeth Bennet, or Shirley, who could break
the monotony of small talks by discussing Kant and
Spencer

Munsh: was writing in his diary at this time that his
ideal wife was someone like Tilottama, the herome of
Bankim’s Durgeshanandini At the end of vacation he
wrote ‘‘I have never spent a more wretched vacation
My heart 1s broken My happiness 1s gone A shadow
has crept over my home When shall I be happy—when?
‘When will this mcessant pain end?’”’

But as Munshi writes 1 his autobiography
““Lakshmi (his pet name for her) was ignorant but inno-
cent and had the highest regard for me I could see 1n
her devoted eyes only respect for me It was impossible
to be cruel to her, so I began to control myself strictly ”’

Munsh: would have been successful in this effort, but
for his dream-girl who haunted him day and might He
developed an 1dea that he was bemng faithless to her whom
he now began to think of as ‘Devi,’ a goddess She now
appeared as the neglected herome of the melodrama which
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had fired his imagmation, and he visualised her with a
broken heart calling him This continuous day-dream,
bordermg on hallucination, shattered his nerves and he
decided to commit suiecide He did not know of any poi-
son more potent than tineture of iodine of which he pur-
chased a bottle, but, as he wrote his last letter, he deve-
loped a high temperature The letter and the bottle of
1odine fell into the hands of a devoted friend After
Munshi recovered from fever, this friend talked to him
about what he had written in the letter and Munshi nar-
rated to him what he calls ‘his tale of woe’ TUltimately
the friend made Munshi promise that he would give up
all ideas of suicide

In February or March 1906, Munshi wrote Child
Lovers, a story based on his experience at Dumas, a
health resort on the seaside near Sutat He had mherited
from his mother the habit of relieving an overwhelming
emotion by setting 1t out on paper It should be 1emem-
bered that most of his novels and even other writings are,
to some extent, autoblogiaphical The success of his
novels from the beginning depended on his realistic ap-
proach to the problem of youthful love, of which, in his
magination, he felt himself deprived

As he grew older, he realised with bitterness that
‘Devi’ must remain a dream bride and it was the magie
of fietion alone which would enable him to share his life
with hers But those years were yet to come In this
period, Munshi spent a miserable Iife tormented bv the
thoughts of an 1maginary dream bride

In 1906, Munsh1 wrote 1n his diary on his birthday
“I am now eighteen T have not yet done anything of
which I am ashamed, I want to be like this 1n futwe
Even 1if I were to die early, I want do something for my
country and countrymen to make me famous for ages’’

AN
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EARLY STRUGGLES

ON 27th March, 1905 Munshi drew up in his diary what
he considered to be a programme of duties This 15 inte-
resting from two points of view Firstly, that a teen-ager
could have thought out such a comprehensive programme
of national regeneration Secondly, that Munshi should
have fought for many of the reforms mentioned therein and
made his contribution in their fulfilment The following,
according to the seventeen year old Munshi, were the duties
of an Indian patriot —
1 The fusion of sub-castes
2  Women—equality of education, abolition of in-
fant marriage mimmum age for girls 14, for
boys 18, the mntroduction of widow re-marriage
(at least for infant widows)
Abolition of joint family system
Religious liberty
Some minor defects such as the purdah system
and caste evils
Political Programme
1 The formation of the Indian nation
(a) The brotherhood of Indians
(b) A common language English for the elite
and Hindustani for the masses
(e) A common literature
Freedom of speech and writing
No taxation without representation
Universal free education
All services, political, civil and muilitary open to
me1it without distinetion of race or religion
At last Independence
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The political climate mm India also was in tune with
the young patriot’s dreams of national regeneration. On
July 1904 the Act for the Partition of Bengal was passed
by the British Parliament On August 7, Bengal took
the vow of Swadeshi, and nme days later, Bengal was
partitioned Munsh:1 has wiitten i his novel Swapna-
drashta (The Dreamer) his reactions to the great move-
ment which convulsed Bengal and fired his imagmation

Munshi’s friend Mohanlal Pandya was completely
under the mnfluence of Sri1 Aurobindo, then acting as a
professor m the College Pandya organised some of
his fellow students into a revolutionary group, and Mun-
shi remembers having once met Si1 Aurobindo’s brother
Barindra Kumar Ghosh, who later became famous as the
principal accused m the Maniktala Bomb case Barmn in-
fluenced this group and gave them the recipe for making
bombs On a hohiday, the boys, under Pandya, met in the
Chemuistry laboratory, forced the lock and made some un-
successful attempts at making a bomb

This did not appeal to Munsh1 He developed a posi-
wve antipathy to furitive meetings, forcing locks, and
tealimg from the laboratory As he frankly admits, pos-

ibly he lacked the courage to be a ‘terrorist ° He there-
fore left fhe group, which soon melted away after these
wsuecessful attempts at making a bomb

However, Sr1 Aurobindo’s mfluence on Munshi te-
mained umshaken Sr1 Aurobindo soon after went to
Calcutta, joined politics, and began editing the Vande-
mataram of which Munsh: was a regular reader In his
Tiary he writes (15-2-1906) ‘‘Heard the address of
Aurobindo Ghosh He said ‘The deliverance of India is
imn our hands You must find your own solution As soon
1s you adopt the vow of independence your goal will be at-
ained Believe in yourself The moment we (Indians)
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decide to rule oveiselves, our object will be accomplished ?
This was, as Munshi writes, a divine message to him

‘When Sri1 Aurobmndo was officiating as the principal
of the Baroda College, Munshi and one of his fiizends went,
to meet him With great trepidation of heart Munsh:
asked him ‘‘How can one become patiiotic?’” With a
disarmimg smile Aurobmdo pomnted at the wall map of
India and said  “‘Do you see this map? It 1s not a map,
but the portrait of Bharat-mata 1ts cities and mountains,
rivers and jungles form her physical body All her child-
ren are her nerves, large and small Their literature is
ber memory and her speech, their vitality 1s her Iife, theiwr
cultural aspirations her soul, their freedom and happi-
ness her self-fulfilment Concentiate on Bhaiat as a
Lving mother, worship her with the nine-fold dbhakte *’

Munsh: was disappommted He had expected that m
order to study nationalism, Auiobindo would preseribe
the study of some books ‘‘But how shall I concentrate on
her ??’ he asked

‘‘Have you read Vivekananda?’’ Aurobindo asked
Munshi confessed he had not ‘‘He has written on Yoga
read 1t carefully, and you will understand ”’

This was an anti-chimax, for Munshi, was at this time
thinking 1 terms of Carboneri, Mazzini, Garibald:i and
Victor Emmanuel However, he read Vivekananda and
for the first tume heard of Patanjali, he then began to read
Patanjali 1n a translation by a Gujarat: scholar, Manilal
Nathubhair Of Patanjali’s influence on him he writes

“Now the Yogasutra 1s an old friend I have
bound and re-bound my copy I have read it so many
times, sometimes without understanding anything,
sometimes misunderstanding 1t Even to-day, I can-
not understand the fourth chapter But I have read
1t on the terrace of the Baroda College, I have carried
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1t from a chawl of Bombay to my Malabar Hill resi-
dence, from the Nastk Jail to the Bijapur Jail It 1s
before me as I am writing this (autobiography) in the
Yervada jail, while Gandhij: sits yonder under a tree,
the embodiment of Yoga Thus Patanjali has been
my life’s companion,—in my days of misery and of
happiness, my saviour who has mspired me and made
me what I am ”’

Munsh: understood but little of Patanjali’s Yogasuira
when he first read 1t, but that little was enough to save him
from the harmful effects of Western materialism Viveka-
nanda’s works also had great influence on him Gradually
he became mterested mn Sri1 Ramakrishna Paramahamsa,
and the Gospel of Sriv Ramakrishna was his bedside book
for years This had had great mfluence on his fammly and
his youngest daughter has jomned the Ramakrishna Mission
to be mitiated into sannyasa

In 1905, Munshi took a first-class in the first year
LL B (permitted to Junior B A student in those days)
and won the Ambalal Sakerlal prize In 19086, he felt that
if he jomed the Elphinstone College at Bombay, he would
be able to distinguish himself But Tapibehn could not
spare more than Rs 20/- per month for him So with a
heavy heart Munshi returned to the Baroda College for his
graduation The same year he took his degree with sixty
per cent marks in English for which he was awarded the
Ellot prize Tapibehn was beside herself with joy DBut
on the third day after the results were out, Munshi fell 11l
with an attack of typhoid

For twenty-eight days the fever continued Whenever
Atilakshm came near him, Munsh: used to shiver and in
his delirium ery out  “‘My Life isgruned Why do T Iive?
For whom should I Iive?”” Soon after his recovery he had
some trouble m his ear and an operation had to be perform-
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ed, so that he was bed-ridden for thiee months However,
he read a lot 1 bed, particularly Carlyle and Chamber’s
Cyclopaedra of English Interature
He also read the Yogasutra and the Gite, and com-
mitted to memory parts of them He found constant repe-
tition of these verses very helpful 1 his recovery, parti-
cularly the verse,in the Gifa i which Sr1 Krishna exhorts
Arjuna to cast off impotence and faint-heartedness and
abjures him  ‘‘Stand up, Parantapa’ This was an
antidote to the love-songs which filled his mind and which
led him constantly to think of his ‘Devi’. The constant
japa of such verses gave him relief, though his dream-bride
never left him, but neither did the Gite nor the Yogasuira
The result was a compartmentalised life, a ceaseless strug-
gle for integration of conflicting impulses, an ambition at
once to realise ‘Devi’ through Yoga, to work for political
1deals, and to make a success of his Iife
Munshi wrote i his diary on February 26, 1907 -
‘“At last T am a graduate After studymmg for
five years i the college, I have reached my goal A
chapter 1n my Iife ends and another begins Due
to my laziness I could not avail myself of many op-
portunities the College Iife offered
““I can only write a little English I was poor,
so I could not leave the Baroda College and my pro-
gress was hindered by the longings of my heart But
T have realised one thing formerly I thought that I
was not mtelligent, but that 1s not true But what
shall T do about my health? T am very weak, and I
do not know how to get rid of this weakness
““My father 1s no longer alive to see his dear son
‘While he was with me, I accomplished nothing Had
he been Living, he fnight have been proud of me
‘“He could have sent me to England to become a
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Crviilan. Now when I am qualified to sit for the
(LLCS ) examination, I haven’t the money Had he
been hving, how different would my hfe have been!
Now I am thinking of becoming a sohicitor, i1f health
permits 7’

Munshi drifted mto law On September 27, 1907 he
wrote ‘““‘My future is dark I have no money, I lack self-
confidence, so I have given up the i1dea of becoming a
solieitor Now all that remains 1s to be an LL B and an
advocate Shall I be a sucecessful advocate? I don’t know
It 18 a very uncertain and difficult profession, and over-
crowded But what else can I do? I shall have to work
very hard.”’

One day m June 1907 he arrived at the Charni Road
station in Bombay It was early mn the morning, but his
friend Dalpatram had come to meet him He took charge
of the trunk and Munshi carried his bedding and as they
passed through the streets of Bombay stirring mto Iife,
Munsh: says that he felt that a new chapter had begun
for him

It was, however, a dismal beginning with only twenty
rupees 1n his pocket For a few days he put up with his
maternal uncles, Tapibehn’s step-brothers They Iwved in
a two-roomed tenemeént in a filthy Pipalwadi-chawl, and
in the two rooms, besides his uncle and aunt and other
unecles, lived three or four paymg guests To reach the
main road one had to wade through slush or jump ffom
stone to stone

Though the uncle and the aunt tried their best to make
Munshi comfortable, his first problem was naturally to
move elsewhere, for which his twenty rupees were mnot
enough So Munshi and Dalpatram evolved a plan Munshi
had secured the Ambalal Sakerlal prize of Rs 105 and the
Ellot prize of Rs 30 Dalpatram took Munsh: to a well-
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known firm of booksellers whom he knew and after a little
talk, entered into a bargain As a result the book sellers,
submitted a bill for Rs 105 to the Baroda College for the
books supplied to Munsht When they received the money,
they gave Munshi five rupees worth of books and the
balanece, one hundred rupees, 1 cash

Munshr first shifted from his uncle’s house to share
with Dalpatram and his three friends a small room, eight
feet by s1%, 1n a lane 1n Anantavad: The rent of this room
was Rs 5/- per month and Munshi had to pay a fifth
share For food they went to a ‘‘Eating House’’ at near-
by Kalbadevi, where lunch and dinner together cost about
five rupees per month Tea was one pice per half cup,
known as ‘‘single,”’ and Munsh: satisfied himself with one
anna worth of milk, morning and evening, from a bharya’s
shop He also peimitted himself the luxury of a little
ghee with lunch and dinner, carried to the ‘‘Rating
House’” mn a small phial in his pocket

After some time Munshi and two other'law students
decided to stay together and started to search for a room
It was no easy matter, for everywhere they had to answer
the 1mevitable question ‘‘Where 1s your wife?’’ ‘‘Where
18 your family?’’ Munshi’s assertion that he was a very
good and honest man was not acceptdd At last one day
he went to the Kanji Khets1 chawl at Kandvari, and igno-
ring the watchman, entered the room where a trustee was
seated The tiustee on hearmg his name asked him-
““There was one Adhubhai Munsh: at Dakore Are you
related to him?’’ ‘‘He 1s my uncle,”” Munsh1 replied, and
the trustee ordered the man-in-charge to give him a good
room

The law classes were held in the evening, so Munsh:
had the whole day on his hands But there was one trouble,
unforeseen and beyond remedy The chawl was tenanted
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mostly by Marwaris who left at eight in the morning and
returned late i the evening The whole day therefore
1t was practically converted into a women’s club. Unfor-
tunately Munshi’s room was near the bathroom, and
throughout the morning one woman after another went
mside to take her bath, whilst others kept guard outside
8o Munshi and his friends kept to their room with the
door closed At noon the women came out for a hair-do
1n the open, and again the door could not be left open, not
even to have a look at theiwr quarrels

Even with all his economy, Munshi found within a
few months that he would have to supplement his remit-
tance by earning something So he first searched for the
job of a private tutor Omne day Dalpatram took him to
a Seth who needed a tutor for his son and mtroduced him
as the son of Maneklal Munsh1 The Seth was glad to see
him, he said, for he had been a great friend of Maneklal
Munshi, when he was a Deputy Collector He made kind
enquiries about Munshi and his family Munshi was so
unnerved at being treated with such effusiveness that he
had no courage to ask for the tutorship

After this he gave up the 1dea of becoming a private
tutor, and the indefatigable Dalpatram secured for hmm
a job 1 the office of Induprakash—a daily newspaper—as
an ad hoc proof-reader This was not an entirely new
type of work for Munshi, for, n the Baroda College be-
sides writing articles for the College magazine, he had
helped his editor friends to correct proofs

Munsh1 was fed up with this life, he found the chawl
with 1ts dirty crowd and evil smell intolerable Bombay
seemed a town of demons Tis daily routime at that time
was to finish his morning meal bv ten and have some rest.
then go out at two o’clock in the afternoon for a cup of
tea for 1 pice and limyr worth another, and then walk to
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the Petit Lubrary where he had been granted the favour
of free membership, thanks to some friends of Dalpatram.
After spending two to three hours at the Petit Library,
ke would go to attend his law classes i the Elphmstone
College and trek back to Girgaum to collect the proofs
from the Induprakash office and then walk home late
the evening He was paid at the rate of six annas per
column for correcting the proofs, but this extra income
was absolutely necessary After dinner he would correct
the proofs, walk back to the Induprakash office, deliver
them and then return home He was suffering from un-
diagnosed appendicitis, and these long walks sometimes
brought acute pain Public conveyances were available i
Bombay at this time, but Munsh: did not have the anna
to spend on his tram fare

Thus the days passed and at the end of the year came
the Surat Congress Munshi attended 1t ‘as a sort of
volunteer’ m the extremist camp led by Lokmanya Tilak,
Aurobindo Ghosh, Lala Lajpat Rai and Bepmn Chandra
Pal

Next year (1908) Munshi’s relative Pranlal, having
graduated from Baroda, came to Bombay Munshil, Pran-
lal and another friend then took a room in Girgaum Road.
This room was better than the one in the chawl, and Pran-
lal’s company was very welcome

The lure of the theatre never left Munsh: Every
Wednesday and Saturday he and his friends gathered at
the gate of one or other of the Grant Road theatres The
Bombay theatre was then at the zemith of 1its career of
staging costly melodramatic plays mn Urdu , Munshi and
his friends found their seats m the cheapest stall At the
end of each month, however, the friends calculated with
wry faces the money they had spent on what his cousmm,
Pronlal, called ‘dissipation’ But the week was spent by
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both Pranlal and Munsh: mn singing songs from the plays
which they had seen the week before

These diversions were a necessity for Munshi Left
alone m Bombay he mndulged in his day dreams more than
ever before For some time he was seized with the foolish
1dea of tracing the ‘Devi’ in Bombay He often walked up
and down the Bhuleshwar road in the hope of discovering
‘Devi’ 1n some passer-by, and when he failed to do so, a
wave of depression engulfed him The sight of a postman
brought fresh hopes, he might be bringing a letter from
her Nothing of course ever came, and Munsh1 repeated
a lime of an old Gujarat1? ‘“Ho maney bhulr gayo chhe
maro chheldo re’’ (My love has forgotten me) Sometimes
he found his day-dreams so overwhelming that in order to
be left alone he would take the tramn from the Charni Road
station, go to Virar and return i the evening by the next
train  He would often record his thoughts on scraps of
paper some of which are still with him In one of these
he writes (19-3-1908) ‘‘Is there none to help me? I am
dying without love Why was I not born without a heart?
Is there no power 1n the world that can end my existence?
Many a time I have thought of striking my head agamst
the wall and thus giving up this Iife, but my pride pre-
vents me I feel that smce I have been blessed with Iife,
I must fulfil the duties 1mposed on me this would be true
heroism.’’

Munsh: had not forgotten his Gita he did not yet
understand 1t fully but had committed to memory a few
verses which struck him as particularly applicable to him
and repeated them mnumerable times Thus, unknown to
him he was performing the japa so highly praised in the
Grta 1tself (Canto X, v 25).

The following entry from his diary dated September
99, 1908, 1s probably due to the influence of the Gifa:
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**You slothful and vain creature,’’ Munshi was addressing
himself, ‘“how you are wasting your time' Do you realise
your responsibilities? You have only learnt to cry Iike
a woman Like a girl you become disheaitened every now
and then You must be firm You are so weak that
you cannot live by yourself Be strong, be brave, and with
your own efforts try to be suceessful ’’ Munsh:t may have
been reading the works of Vivekananda, for the last sen-
tence 1s practically a paraphrase of Vivekananda’s favour-
ite verse from the Upanishad
Unfortunately, neither the seriptures nor the saints
could be of any help As he was getting older, he was be-
coming conscious that the girl who had filled his 1magina-
tion since childhood was unobtanable, neither except 1n
day dreams could he hope for the romantie passionate love,
of which he read in books But remorseless morbid intros-
pection 1s dangerous for healthy normal development In
Munshi’s case the result was disastrous twice he failed
m the law examinations
+ There seems however another reason for Munshi’s
fhailure 1 the law examination§, he did not take 1t serious-
ly at this time For some time he played with the i1dea of
reading for his M A in History, but gave 1t up maimnly
on grounds of health Then he began to study hiterature,
history and other subjects which might help him in the
Civil Serviece examination This led him to the Petit Ia-
brary everyday, and he utterly neglected law in favour
of more congenial subjects Iike history and literature In
a sense 1t 15 a pity that Munshi did not obtamn his M A
degree 1 *History He could have in that case become a
famous historian, with all the advantages of an early tram-
ing i research work which he was never to have But
then Gujarati hiterature would have been poorer, for no
tramned historian would be able to write his brilliant his-
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torical novels where he recreates Gujarat as he mmagied
her to have been

The day-dreams, which Munshi nursed, helped him to
write his first novel, Verni-Vasulat A portion of 1t was
only a description of the world of imagmation in which he
had lived This accounts for the vividness of the book
and also for i1ts taking Gujarat by storm

Munshi completed his law lectures mn April, 1909 and
passed the LL B examination m July 1910 This period
he spent mm Broach, his last stay i the town of his birth
Later he visited Broach from time to time, but Bombay
for all practical purposes became his home

Munshi had been an ardent reformer since his college
days In 1903, he had shocked the other members of his
class by doimng away with his shikha, the tuft of hair, a
hall-mark of the Brahmins He also began to take his
meals dressed i an ordimnary dhoti imstead of the pre-
seribed silk one He soon gained many converts and in-
cited them to educate their wives At Munshi's instance
one of his friends began to exercise with a dumb-bell and
this mmfuriated the latter’s aunt mto a vigorous protest:
‘““You fool, you have a beautiful soft ficure hike a god’s
and you want to harden 1t like a servant’s >> Munshi was
becoming mnotorious for putting i1deas into the heads of
the “youth of his community

In 1909, Munshi began a crusade against the caste-
dinners These were rumnous affairs and people were some-
times forced to sell all their property to provide a caste-
dinner

Munsh: started his career mn social service by orga-
nising, along with some friends, a free ibrary in his native
town, where they would be free to subscribe to Shri Auro-
bindo’s newspaper, the Vande Mataram, since well-estab-
lished libraries 1n the town took objection to it This library
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was the meeting-place of young patriots who gathered to
discuss thewr ideas Munsh: and his friends m spite of
some difficulty managed to raise the necessary funds Then
when Munshi came to Bombay i 1907 he induced Seth
Gordhandas Sukhadvala to pay for buildmg a permanent
Iibrary at Broach With the Seth’s donation Munshi start-
ed the Dadabhar Naoros Free Inbrary, which was his first
constructive work It was decided that the Labrary should
be maugurated by Sr1 Gopal Krishna Gokhale Munshi
went to Poona and met Gokhale who readily accepted the
mvitation But other immportant engagements precluded
Gokhale from fulfiling his promise and the Library was
maugurated by Sir Gokuldas Parikh who was deputed by
Sir Pherozeshah Mehta for the purpose -This was Mun-
shi’s first contact with the leaders of the moderate group
i the Congress

It was at this period too that Munshi started writing
seriously All his writings however, were in English and
were published 1n the Hindustan Rewvew, Indian Ladies
Magazine, and the East and West It 1s remarkable that
he made no effort to write 1o Gujarati, the reason probably
being that he was completely absorbed m English litera-
ture

Munsh:r now made a last attempt to go to England
and appear for the Civil Service exammation His friend
Dhirajlal Nanavati, later officiating Judge of the Bombay
High Court, made some arrangement for his stay
England But the question of money loomed laree His
uncle Manchhasankar Vakil, a Judge of the Small Causes
Court, came to his help and raised about seven thousand
rupees from two or three persons Another five thousand
could be raised by mortgaging the family propertv Munshi
Zelt elated at the idea of gomng to England and returning
as a member of the Civil Service or a barrister at a cost of
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about twelve thousand rupees He even selected the boat
by which he was to saill But Tapibehn took counsel with
ber step-brother and took into account the probability of
Munshy failing mn all the examinations in England That
would render them destitute So Tapibehn decided against
his going to England, and this made Munshi unhappy for
a long time

He did not know at the time that he could practise as
an advocate on the Original Side and have the same status
as a barrister i the Bombay High Court, if he passed the
Advocates” (O S ) examination

Some of his relatives how advised him to apply
for a provincial serviece In November 1910, there was
a vacancy for an auditor in the Co-Operative Department
on a monthly salary of Rs 150 Munshi for some time
played with the idea of working as an auditor for the few
months left before his final law exammation The salary
was tempting, but Tapibehn rejected this scheme as his
health was not good Her step-brother, whom Munshi call-
ed Thakur-Mama, wanted him to be a Munsif Munshi
writes that one of the charms of the job appeared to be
that he would be preceded by one chaprassi and followed
by another, so that Munsh: Heights would regam its lost
prestige

But Munshi refused to try for the post of a Munsif.
He had decided to become an advocate on the Origizal Side
©of the Bombay High Court, though when he left Broach
finally for Bombay, on October 3, 1910, he made out that he
was gomg only to collect his diploma On the same day he
wrote m his diary ‘“Whom shall I tell my misery? Where
shall T go and weep? I am devoured by indeéision I am
now going for further studies, to go forward mn the world,
50 I must go with a smile and self-confidence But I am now
feeling sad and distracted There 1s none to make me
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happy or give me an 1mpetus, to help me or to make me
strong The world 1s Iike a jungle, Iife 18 pamiul I
shall never recerve the love of ‘Devi’, she, who can drive
me onwards and make a man of me, she 1s not with me Is
1t my fate to weep for the rest of my Iife?’”’

However, the days spent at Broach were not so sad
as this entry from the diary may mdicate Munshi’s health
being bad, he was advised by the doctors to take rest and
not to concentrate on studies for some time So kc pur-
chased a harmonium and began to learn music A teacher
was engaged Musie was 1n his family, and this hittle trai-
ning made him more music-conscious than before, and he
learned to play a little on the tabla

There was also another interlude, rather droll, which
shows Munshi as the little puritan that he was 1 spite of
d’Artagnan bemmg his favourite hero

Annually, a Yogiraj came to Broach with his disciples
to have a dip i the holy Narmada He was quite a cele-
brity and the pious eitizens of Broach flocked to hear his
discourses He also gave lessons m Yoga Oncee Munshi
had approached him to place before him his doubts as to
whether the caste system was God-ordained  Munshs,
however, had come away dissatisfied

While Munshi was preparing for his law examination,
a lady diseciple of this Yogiray came to Broach for a
month’s stay on the bank of the holy Narmada Tapibehn
and her friends went to hear her exposition of the Guia
and were charmed by her learning and personality Known
as Mahatma, she was mvited by Tapibehn to come and
spend the month at her house

The Mahatma was about twentyseven, tall, and though
not beautiful, mn the full flush of her youth which was
hardly concealed by the fine white cloth whieh she wore.
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He: eyes had a fire which was undoubtedly attributed by
her devotees to the spiritual flame which burnt inside her.

At this time, Munsh1 practically spent his day m a
secluded room on the top storey of the house Across the
terrace on the same floor was a lumber room, which the
Mahatma selected for herself At dinner the first day,
Munsh: had the opportunity of discussing the practice of
Yoga with her He was then trymg to understand
the verse trawunya-vishaya-Vedah wistraigunyobhava-
Arjune But the Mahatma after a Jengthy  discourse
ended by emphasising that of all the yogas Prema-lakshana-
bhaktr—which I may be pardoned for translating as a
‘lover’s devotion’—was the best

Munshi, his head full of Kant and Spencer, Gila and
Yogasutra, failed to notice the broad hint of the Mahatma
Never before i his life had he talked with an educated
woman, and he was happy to have done so now

The next morning as Munshi was playing on the fabla
m his room, the Mahatma came i  Munshi did not like
this visit He was disturbed by the thought that he
would have to live 1n close proximity to this woman for at
least a month, with no better guardian than a devout
mother and a girl-wife

The next day the Mahatma brought to Munshi a letter
1 Sanskrit addressed to her by the seecretary of the Yogiraj,
sternly 1ebuking her Munshi, therefore, grew bolder and
asked her what had brought her to Broach She frankly
told him that she had been expelled by the Yoguaj from
his aghram for a year When Munshi asked her to explam
the reason, with absolute candour the Mahatma confessed
the situation she had been presented to the Yogiraj by her
mother when she was an mmfant widow, the Yoguoej had
educated her and ultimately installed her as his Pat-shi-
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shya, chief lady disciple and consort The Yogiraj, she
said, was the head of the Vama-marga, the Left-Flanded
Cult The preceding year when the Yogiraj had gcne to
Bombay, he was attracted by another woman The chief
disciple, not to be out-done, spent her time in the company
of another person The Yogiraj naturally became angry,
she retorted by saying that 1f he could pick and choose, so
could she The result was her expulsion

This explanation left Munshi aghast With a few re-
marks, he went down to dinner, and soon found the
Mahatma sitting on a swing singing Mirabail’s bhajan with
emotion Kanudo shu jane wmar, prit (What does Kanuw
know of my love)

The next day the Mahatma was bolder still Calmly
she told him that she was practising a form of Yoga, im
which acecording to the Vama-marge, a male partner was
necessary and Munshi was her choice Munshi expressed
his spiritual unfitness to share this honour The Mezhatma
asserted that he was switable 1n every respect Munshy
was at his wit’s end Ultimately, he hit on a plan and sug-
gested that he should take her to Chandod, a place of pil-
grimage on the Narmada, some miles away from Broach,
where they could stay at a friend’s place She was happy
and fell in with the scheme

Munsh: then told his mother all that had happened.
She also was beginming to have her doubts about the
Mahatma The next morning before the Mahatma return-
ed from her dip in the holy Narmada, Munshi bolted from
the house, going to the station one hour before the train,
and was on his way to Baroda when the Mahatma returned
home Tapibehn explamned to her that ‘Bhai’ had sud-
denly to go elsewhere and that the Mabatma could have
Muhammad Shafi to escort her to Chandod
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‘With tears in her eyes the Mahatma left, leaving a
final message to Munshi, conveyed through, of all persons,
Atilakshmi  ““Tell Bhai, we shall now meet m the next
world > I am sure Munshi sudders at the prospect!

6
ATILAKSHMI

On July 22, 1910, Munshi came to Bombay to take his
law degree He was then at a loose end and went to
Manchhasankar Kaka for advice As they were talhing, a
man smartly dressed m the European style descended the
stairs with a jaunty air and after a brief greeting to
Manchhasankar went away He had really come to see
Jamiyatram, brother of Manchhasankar and a leading so-
Iicitor of Bombay But the brief appearance of this young
man made Manchhasankar turn towards Munshi and
say ‘‘See, this 1s luck You don’t know him, he 1s Bhu-
labhai Desai, once a Professor at Ahmedabad, now an ad-
vocate, earning about four thousand a month This
fellow has mever even been to Burope Why don’t you
become an advocate like him ?’’ This more or less decided
Munshi, and while leaving for Broach, he asked Manchha-
sankar’s nephew, Manukaka, to send hir 1nformation
about the advocateship examination

On January 1, 1911, Munshi came to Bombay, and
two days later rented a two-room flat mm the new chawl of
Murarji Gokuldas at twenty rupees per month Soon Ati-
laskshmi arrived from Broach and took charge of the house
and of her unpredictable husband They were young and
Atilakshmi was very happy
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The flat was small but new and moderately comfort-
able What was more interesting was that the young
couple at last began to live like grown up people Manu-
kaka, Munshi’s devoted friend, joined them as a paymg
guest, and solved one third of the money problem by pay-
ing his share of the expenses For the rest Munshi had
faith m God, and Atilakshmi in her husband Some old
furniture and utensils were brought from Bioach and the
new life began, let 1t be said,with the help of Dalpatram,
the faithful friend without whose help the unpractical
couple would have been put to great haidship

It would however be a mistake to suppose that Munshi
settled mn Bombay with his wife, and began to care less for
his mother or to 1gnore her 1n any way As a matter of
fact Tapibehn’s mfluence over her son remained the same
till her death She had taught her daughter-in-law how
to be a devoted Hindu wife, and the latter had no idea of
asserting heiself against her mother-in-law

Of Atilakshmi Munshi writes

“Durmg this time little ILakshmi looked after
me and soon her unostentatious charm won me over
I was the centie of all her mterest She would get
up before I did, and prepare tea for me She would
prepare food I could digest, and this was not an easy
thing to do I was always in bad health and, when-
ever m a fit of abandonment ate a little too muech,
had an attack of 1indigestion, and got angry with

Atilakshm for the extra helping Some evenmgs 1

would return with friends and expect dinner to be

ready for them also And 1f T had had an unpleasant
day, she bore the brunt of it in the evening

““All my shortecomings, Lakshmi bore with won-
derful patience She was never 1ll, or, even 1f she
was, I never knew Somehow or other she stood
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1 great awe of me But she was never sad nor dad
she ever complain., She had no friends and had no
taste for reading She spent the whole day .n her
household duties and waited for me to return from
work
‘““Her selfless devotion gradually won me over.
‘Whenever I returned home late I saw her waiting at
the windows, her eyes eagerly searching the road
for me T soon acquired the habit of looking up at
the window as I walked from the bus station to the
house, quickening my pace She lived for me and,
though self-centred, I began to love her
‘“She watched over my frail health She was my
partner 1 poverty, a beacon in the darkness that
then surrounded me If I 1eturned home with a
bruised heart, or humiliated, as she took the cap
from my hand with her loving eyes resting on me,
I felt peace Her welcome was quiet, but 1t restored
my self-confidence It was my %ood fortune
that Liakshmi was with me during the days of my
hard struggle She had faith in me and had deve-
loped a complete sense of identity with me She en-
veloped me 1n an 1mpenetrable armour of love With-
out her, my health would have certainly broken down.
I still see her beautiful face as 1t rested on the
window sill, her anxious eyes awaiting mv return’’.
Soon, however, Munshi’s relationship with Manukaka,
his best friend, became estranged He was one of those who
would never pass an examination and, even at the sacri-
fice of his valuable time, Munsh: devoted his energies to
coaching his friend who simply could not be led to the exa-
mination hall When Munsh: set up home in Bombay, Ma-
nukaka, having repeatedly failed i the previous examma-
tion of the Arts course began to study for the District Plea-
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easily with her husband Munshi writes ‘I had two
paits of woollen trousers At night when we were alone,
Lakshmi would brush the used pair, carefully fold 1t,
straighten out the creases, and place 1t under the bed, and
while she did this, I sat by her side polishing my shoes for
the next day These Iittle things which we did together
gave life a new interest, a common Iink between us
Lakshmi had suriendered herself completely to me and had
completely won me over’’

On July 25, 1911, Munsh: went with his friend
Chandrasankar to his mandal (Literary Club) to hear
Kantilal Pandya’s lecture on ‘‘The Claim of Sanskrit on
Educated Indians’”? At this time Gujarati literature was
completely dominated by Sarasvate Chandrg, the famous
novel of Govardhanram Everyone quoted from the Saras-
vatt Chandra, and accepted Govardhaniam’s dicta as some-
thing sacrosanct Kantilal Pandya, the speaker of the day,
was the nephew and worshipper of Govardhanram and was
followed by three or four speakers who expiessed the same
sentiments Then Munshi got up After his strenuous
training he had done very well in the Baroda College
Debatmg Society, but he was by natwe shy and th's was
the first time he was speaking in Bombay  However,
Munshi spoke for nearly an hour and tore to shreds the
arguments and conclusions of Kantilal It 1s interesting to
note that at his first public appearance i1n Bombay,
Vunshi should have spoken on the spread of Sanskrit edu-
cation Of course, Munshi in this debate stoutly mamntained
that the first duty of a poor young man was towards his
family, learning Sanskrit was secondary, whatever Govar-
dhanram might have said to the contrary At might Munsh:
wrote 1n his diary ‘‘Everyone congratulated me It was a
great victory But who can share this joy with me? ‘Dewi’,
what good are all these triumphs 1f you are not with me?’’
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Chandrasankar had picked up a chance acquaintance
with Munshi a few years before, but they became intimate
m 1911 when both were staymg in the same chawl The
chawl had many tenants from Nadiad, Nagar Brahmins
who looked on Chandrasankar as the natural successor of
Gtovardhanram, so that his room was often full of people
with Iiterary aspirations Munshi soon became very
friendly with Chandrasankar and his wife Vasantba

Every Sunday the fiiends of Chandrasankar gathered
v the Aryasamaj Hall, where Munshi had made his maiden
appearance with striking success Yet he was suffering
from an inferiority complex as his English pronunciation
was not as good as that of a giaduate from a Bombay Col-
lege He was particularly depressed by the superiority
affected by the friends of Chandrasankar, all Nagar Brah-
mins from Nadiad They proudly pomted to a galaxy of
names, Mansukhram Manilal Nabhubhai, Govardhanram,
Balasankar, Daulatram Pandya, Chhaganlal Pandya and
others, great contemporary Gujarat: writers, all of whom
by a peculiar chance had come from Nadiad The young
men from Nadiad, therefore gravely claimed to be the cus-
todians of Gujarat: culture and the legatees of the literary
craft

This group discussed hterature seriously and Munshi
was only too glad to participate But the difficulty was that
¢ven when the leader Chandrasankar delivered a solemn
dissertation, Munshi could not restrain himself from pass-
g some sarcastic remarks Gradually Munsh: began even
to attack some of the views of Govardhanram, an unheard of
act of effrontery mm those days.

Munshi could easily acquire a leading position in this
Iiterary association for two reasons firstly, is readings
were not confined to Gugarat:1 alone, and he knew some-
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thing of English and Continental literature Secondly, he
brought to literary criticism a fund of common sense

Though at this time Munshi eriticised others, he him-
self wrote nothing i Gujarat1 He did not feel that he
would be able to wiite good Gujaratt He however started
writing his letters in Gujarat: but still continued to im-
prove his Enghsh At this time Justice Sir Narayan
Chandavarkar used to preside over the Sunday sessions of
the Social Reform Association Once he warmly congra-
tulated Munsh1 for his speech on the position of Hindu
widows About this time (1912) Munsh: won the Motivala
Prize for his essay on the ‘“‘Theory and Piractice of Social
Service”’

In the same year the assoeciation to which Chandra-
sankar Pandya had introduced him was re-organised as
““Gurjar Sabha’® and Munshi became a leading member
and the Secretary of the Sabha He also formed an asso-
ciation to unite the Bhargava Brahmins of Surat, Broach
and Mandvi, and was appointed its joint secretary The
Bhargavas of Broach married Bhargava girls from Surat
but did not allow their girls to marry a Surat or Mandwv:
Bhargava This naturally wounded the susceptibilities of
the Surat and Mandvi Bhargavas, and Munsh: attempted
to undo this injustice This proved helpful when he was a
struggling lawyer, for 1t brought him close to the leading
solicitor, Jamiyatram, a member of his caste In August
1912, the ‘“‘Bhargava Quarterly’’ appeared with Munsh: as
its editor This was his first journalistic venture With
the help of Dalpatram, he enthusiastically set about pur-
chasing paper, collecting articles, printing them, and des-
patchng the Journal He was also elected the secretary of
the All India Social Reform Conference and helped
‘Sr1 G K Devdhar m the ‘““Social Service League’” He
also 1mproved the position of the ‘‘Education Fund’’ of
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his caste, which he had helped to start in Broach two years
back

All these social activities, particularly those on behalf
of the Bhargava Brahmms, fortunately produced one good
and tangible result Jamiyatiam, the solicitor, changed his
opinion of Munshi

Amidst all this effoit to mmprove Hindu Society and
the Bhargavas in particular, Munsh1 had been preparing
for the Advocates’ examination It was one of the most dif-
ficult examinations of those days, particularly because 1t
had no preseribed syllabus or text books Jamiyatram
once gave Munshi a kindly waining ‘‘Bhai, remember,
this 15.n0t your BA examination’’ Few, 1f any, candi-
dates passed at the first attempt

To prepare for the examination 1t was necessary to
leave Bombay, where Munsh: had entangled himself in all
sorts of social work So on November 28, 1912, he and Ati-
Jakshmi went to Dumas to stay m the bungalow of Man-
chhasankar Dumas was associated with ‘Devi’, the dream
g1rl and her memory sometimes haunted Munshi but he for-
tified himself by repeating the formula mwyatem Fkuru
karmatvam (Always do your duty) After a month at
Dumas, Munshi and Atilakshmi came down to Broach from
where Munshi returned to Bombay to appear at the exa-
mination on February 23, 1913 The examination con-
tinued for a week, after which he went to Matheran for a
much needed change For the first time m Iife Munshi saw
a hill station which thrilled him and with his friends he
roamed over the place On March 11, he recerved half a
dozen telegrams from Bombay congratulating him on his
success Next day Munshi left for Bombay and wrote m
his diary  ‘‘Hurrah for success’’ Not unnaturally, he
Tell 1n love with Matheran the only place where he owns a
house today
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In Bombay he found himself the prize-boy of the
Bhargavas who presented him with a laudatory address
amdst thundermg applause The news was flashed 1n the
Mumbar Samachar under the heading ‘‘Bombay honours
the Broach Advocate’’

7
THE STEEP CLIMB

On March 15, 1913, Munsh: put on bands and gowm
borrowed from a friend and appeared before Justice Beau-
man and was enrolled as an Advocate (OS) Two kindly
solicitors sent him briefs on the same day, so that Munshi
was elated, as Advocates usually got briefs about a year
after their enrolment The next thing to be done was to
1ent a chamber, and here Jamiyatram came to his help by
engagmg for him an ill-ventilated little cubicle, almost like
a prison cell, at fifteen rupees a month The worldly adviece
of this great gentleman was ‘‘Look here, Kanubhai,
whatever happens, pay your rent for the chamber punec-
tually and do not try to adjust 1t agamst your fees’’ This
was a damper but, as Munsh: admits, was a very sound
prece of advice

More than the size and nature of the chamber, which
few people were likely to wisit anyway, Munshi felt his
oppressive poverty when he compared his dress with that
of the fashionable lawyers He developed a new type of
inferiority complex which would only be overcome when
he was able to dress as well as anyone else But that time
was yet to come and, during the period of his struggle, his
plamn dress was an additional source of worry
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Speaking of his dress, 1t may be said here that, as soon
as he could afford, Munshi became a dandy by adopting the
simple process of walking into the most fashionable tailor’s
shop and ordering the most expensive smits After jomng
the Congress he gave up wearing European dress with a
vengeance, and even appeared i the High Court mn a dhotx
But old habits die hard, and even m khadw one can be very
fashionably dressed—in 1mpeccable white from top to toe
with the Gandhi ecap at a shightly jaunty angle But we
are anticipating

At this time, Munsh1 was oecupied with another diffi-
culty, his pronunciation Now his English pronunciation
15 fairly impeccable, but he writes that at that time he
could not even speak a simple sentence without committing
some faux pas Several years later, while staying at Dar-
jeeling with Bhulabhai .Desai, Munshi one day pronounced
the word ‘‘juice’’ as if 1t were a compound of two syllables
““3u’’ and ‘‘ice’’, as every one did at Baroda Bhulabhax
winked at some one who was present and Munshi realised
his mistake He felt his disgrace so acutely that about
three decades after the incident he remembered 1t as one
of the things that happened to him at Darjeehing Most
other people would have forgotten 1t

These little things may appear trivial, but they reveal
his extreme sensitiveness A Cowrt of law 1s not the place
for such young men who are affected by their shortcomings,
some mevitable But Munsh: also had an iron will and
once he made up his mind he let nothing come 1 his way

Luckily for Munshi he was taken bv Jamiyatram as a
protégé Jamiyatram not onlv sent him occasional briefs,
but arranged for him to devil under Bhulabhai Desal, ™
spite of Munshi having developed a fascination for Jinnah
So on June 12, 1913} Jamiyatram mmtroduced him to Bhula-
bhai and a life-long association began
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Munshi always refers to Bhulabhai as his gurw so far
as the profession is conecerned But what a contrast bet-
ween the teacher and the disciple! Bhulabhar was a sports-
man, a Persian scholar, ignorant of Sanskrit and had
Iittle sympathy for Hindwmism His suave manner, assertive
personality and great subtletwy brought him success within
an incredibly short time, and Munshi a short slenderly-
built man, with all the angularities of a nervous youth, was
mmmersed m Sanskrit and ancient Indian culture Years
later, Munshi read the Gife to Bhulabhai, and the latter
made coarse jokes about 1t Munshi gave 1t up as a bad
job, but he did not reproach Bhulabhai, which 1s strange,
for Munsh: will not tolerate this from anyone else In food
and drmk too, Bhulabhai was cosmopolitan, while, with all
his fondness for European dress, Munshi was, as he still 1s,
strictly orthodox about his food

In his autobiography Munshi devotes a section to des-
cribe how he was forced to drink by his seniors, and his
horror at having done so But nothing could ever force a
morsel of non-vegetarian food to pass his Iips The reason,
I think, why he allowed himself an occasional sip of sherry
or the hike was that these, however bad for a Brahmin, are
after all vegetable extracts Though he does not say so,
he must have known that Brahmins m ancient India had
no particular repugnance for drinks or, for that matter,
for meat either However, he never really drank, and as
soon as he was in a position to defy his seniors, he asserted
his new status by refusing to touch anything stronger than
tea or coffee, his favourite drinks His senors also failed
to mnterest him 1n ‘‘bridge’’ which he considered a waste
of time and energy In short, he was not what Dr Johnson
called a ‘“clubbable man *’

Sucesss came to him after extreme hard work which
has been vividly described in his autobiography At the
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end of the first nine and a half months’ work, he found
that he had earned exactly eleven hundred rupees At the
beginning of his career Munshi had also to face a financial
crisis | Whatever was left of the money he had mherited
from hs father was invested in the shares of the Specie
Bank which went into hqumdation i November 1913
Munshi was stranded, for the landed property in Broach
brought him very little So, just to meet his monthly ex-
penses, he had to borrow money every month This was
repulsive to him and luckily 1t was not necessary to borrow
more than Rs 700/- mn all Sometimes he was forced to
raise money from his friends to pay the rent of his flat

However he struggled hard He would start from his
house at ten o’clock in the morning, read the whole day or
Iisten to 1mportant arguments in Court, then wait i his
chamber ti1ll half-past-six 1n the evening with the fond ex-
pectation of a brief being sent to him by some solicitor
Then he would go to Bhulabhai’s chamber and wait there
patiently till the great man left

For the first year Bhulabhai hardly took any notice
of him But gradually he found Munshi to be a useful
Junior, agd entrusted him with various matters, and m a
short time Munshi became his family friend This friend-
ship was put to great stramn when Bhulabhai left the Home
Rule League and wanted Munshi to follow him. But
Munshi was not prepared to accept Bhulabhai’s lead n
politics Ultimately Bhulabhai told Munshi that he would
have to leave either the Home Rule League or Bhulabhai’s
chamber In defiance of Bhulabhai, Munshi went to Delh1
to attend the Congress session

‘When Bhulabhai Desai asked Munshi to leave his
Chamber, Jinnah asked him to join his Munshi, however,
declined as he thought that i1t would be 1 bad form He
still maintained good relations with Bhulabhai by going to

3



66 MUNSHI HIS ART AND WORK

his Chamber off and on Fortunately, at this time the Bar
Association prohibited the practice of a Semior Counsel ac-
cepting as many briefs as he was offered, getting them
worked by his devils and taking the fees himself The
result was that promising juniors like Munshi began to
earn handsome amounts and he remarks ‘‘My income
for the concluding part of 1922 was enough to send a good
Brahmimn to the darkest hell ”’

It 18 a strange thing 1n Munshi that he cannot be satis-
fied with doing only one thing at a time Even while he was
preparing for his Advocates’ examination, he wrote a short
story just to see whether he could write in Gujarati The
story called Mari Kamala was published in the Strmbodh
m June or July 1912, under the pen name of Ghanasyam
Vyas, the nom-de-plume can also stand for Krishna Dvai-
payana the author of the Mahabharata, and was the ori-
gmal surname of his ancestor before they became Desais
and Munshis

All credit goes to Munshi’s friend Chandrasankar for
mducing him to write Mar Kamala, when Munshi was not
at all sure of his capabilities as a writer, even after the
story was published But it attracted the attention of
Narsinhrao a figure to be reckoned with mn Gujarat: litera
ture Bholanath Divetia, then a great name, came to see
the author of Mar Kamala and extended to him a hearty
welcome to the field of Gujarati literature This gave
Munsh: the much needed confidence and he wrote the
Verm-Vasulat 1n 1913-1914 which took Gujarat by storm

Verm-Vasulat is Munshi’s emotional autobiography,
but 1t served another purpose When Munshi settled down
to practise at Bombay he found that his mimimum expenses
would be at least one hundred and twenty rupees a month,
and he was earning practically nothing So he contributed
the Verme-Vasulat as a serial m the weekly Gujarafr which
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brought him about twenty rupees per month, a very wel-
come addition to his meagre resources He was however
mortally afraid lest the old solicitors should come to know
that he was writing novels, for, that would at once stamp
him as a lazy do-nothing and then he would have to bid
good-bye to all hope of ever seeing a brief with his nawme
marked on 1t So the nom-de-plume of Ghanasyam Vyas
was still useful, and Munshi maintained the greatest
secrecy Often, as the story came out, even crusty old soli-
citors discussed amongst themselves the fate of the sweet
young herome Tanman, while all that Munshi could do was
to look vacantly on

But the anonymity could not be guarded after the pub-
lication of the Patan-ni-Prabhuta, his first historieal novel,
where a Jam monk commits a crime to further the ends of
bhis community This brought the Jamns against Glana-
syam Vyas and some young men of the ecommunity started
talking about taking action against the author They
wanted to approach the Government for criminally prose-
cuting the author under section 153(A) of the Incian
Pepal Code Munsh1 was not without friends, and one of
them, V M Shah, promised to bear the entire cost of defence
But Munsh1 clearly visualised standing, in the dock defend-
g himself 1n Emperor v Kaniyalal Munghi alias Ghana-
syam Vyas, with angry solicitors glaring with righteous
mdignation at the little traitor who had brought disrepute
to the legal profession by writing a novel

" Next day Munshi went to Jamiyatram and told him

““Kaka, I am 1n some trouble *’

‘“What 1s your trouble?’’

¢“Er, I write stories, you know *’

“I don’t, but I know that you never pay attention to
your practice What stories have you written?’’

“Vern-Vasulat’’ .
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Immediately there was a mysterious change i the at-
mosphere Jamiyatram’s tight lips gave away to a look of
surprise, then gettmg over the first shock, with a cheery
smile this doyen of the solicitors said softly to Munshi’s
utter amazement ‘‘You have written about Tanman I
thought had written 1t I have read the chapter on
Dumas many times ’’

Thus emboldened Munshi said ‘“But, Kaka, I have
also written Patan-m-Prabhute,”’ and he related the con-
sequences above mentioned After he ended Jamiyatram
assured him  ‘‘The criminal case 1s nonsense I think the
the papers are ,with Gulabchand All right, come to
the Library to-morrow, we shall see ”’

Next day at twelve Munsh1 went to the Library where
Jamiyatram ruled the Solieitors’ world as an unquestioned
monaych  The solicitor Gulabchand Damania came and
Jamiyatiam beckoned him to his side ‘‘Gulabchand, come
here You know this gentleman, he 13 Mr Munshi, a very
promising young man You have read his story, about
Tanman, which I, you and Kabalbhai have discussed so
many times ’’

““Oh yes, certaimnly A fine book *’

““But your Jains are trymg to prosecute him, for you
see, he has also written Patan-ni-Prabhuta ’’

‘“Nonsense, they sent me that book There 1s nothing
wrong with 1t The charge 1s absurd Don’t worry, young
man ’’

The matter ended there but Munshi was outraged when
several offers came to him to write for a thousand
rupees a novel lauding Kumarpala He replied ‘I have
come to the High Court to earn money With any luck I
shall earn my Iiving here God willing, I shall write a novel
on Kumarpala but never for money ’’

Munsh: had good reasons to be angry Firstly, as
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Bankim Chandra Chatterjee has said “‘A movel 1s not
bistory ’” Particularly this 1s true of novels based on an-
cient Indian history, for the paucity of material 1s such
that no story can be created unless the author uses a great
deal of mmagination Secondly, Munsh: had taken very
good care to be authentic, and 1s probably much more care-
ful about history than his boyhood favourite, Dumas In
a, sense his methods resemble more those of Flaubert, whose
8Salambo 1s said to have been the result of five years’ inten-
sive study of all the available books on the history of Rome
and Carthage Munshi1 had been attracted by the history
of Gujarat since his Baroda College days, when he wrote
““Grawes of Vanished Empires,’” being inspired by Briggs’
Cities of Gugarat Smce then he had read everything
published about the history of Gujarat The history of
Gujarat never lost 1ts mnterest for him, but i1t 1s necessary
to add that Munshi has never taken a parochial view of
Indian history India to him 1s one and indivisible, and
more than any other man he has worked hard to publish an
aunthentic history of India

At the time Munsh: wrote his Patan-m-Prabhuta, he
felt that the Gujaratis were not adequately aware of the
greatness of their ancestors, and since then he has laboured
to awaken the historical consciousness in his countrymen.
Patan-ni-Prabhute was the first of a series of historical
novels which ended wath Bhagna Paduka published m 1955.
In this he was eneouraged by Ranjitram Vavabhai and Haji
Muhammad Alarkhia Sivji, the editor of the Visme Sads m
which Munsh1’s next historical novel, Gujarat no nath, ap-
peared month after month, illustrated by the well-known
artist Ravishankar Raval. Narasimha Rao who was then
the best critic of Gujarat, wrote a Foreward for Gujarat
no nath 1 which he compared Munshi to Govardhanram.
As a result, Munsh1 writes, ‘‘several friends became dis-
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tinetly cool ’’ However, his literary career was launched.

In 1915 Munsh: attended the Gujarat: Sahitya Pari-
shad at Surat Its secretary, Manoharram Mehta (who
was a great friend of Munshi and loyal to him till his death)
suggested to him that an association for promoting Gujarati
Iiterature should be started At the time Munsh1 was not
sure of himself and declined.

By 1921 Munsh1 had gaimed prominence at the Bar, he
was also recognised as the leading novelist in the language
The 1dea of starting a literary association and a magazine
was discussed between him and Chandrasankar It was
then suggested that Munshi should accept the editorship of
Samalochak, the paper founded by the great novehist Gov-
ardhanram Mupsh: with his business sense agreed to
aceept the offer only on condition that a jomnt stock company
be started with a capital of Rs 10,000, with himself, Chan-
drasankar and others as directors Ramaniyaram, the son
of Govardhanram, who owned the paper, disapproved of the
scheme However, 1t had the support of Munshi’s great
friends Manoharram and Manilal Nanavati.

In 1922, the Sahitya Samsad Literary Academy was
founded, associated with the Sahitya Prakashak Company,
a company with the object of establishing a press
publishmmg a literary magazine Munshi was the head
of the instytutions, and Narsmghrao Divatia, the great
doyen of Gujarat: literature, blessed the scheme The
Samtya Samsad “thereupon began to publish the monthly
Gujarat,-with Munshi as editor For several years this
magazine was the most outstanding literary journal
Gujarat and the organ of the Romantic School of Literature
of which Munshi was now the leader The object of
Gujarat was te promote the cultural consciousness of
Gujarat and to develop and spread Gujarat: literature and
culture In 1911 Munshi had comed the word ‘asmita’—
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Gujarat conserousness—and that became the manira of
this new school

A large band of authors of established reputation as
well as rising authors followed his lead Among them was
Durga Shankar Shastri, Dhansukhlal Mehta, Master Fakir
Batubha: Umared: and Shrimati Ialavati Sheth (as she
then was), all prominent names m Gujarat: literature

Munshi, as stated before, has developed his hife 1n vari-
ous compartments This makes the writing of his biogra-
phy very difficult While he was rapidly rising in the pro-
fession, strenuously working for the Home Rule League,
writing his novels which gave Gujarat the consciousness of
its great historie past, and establishing a school of literature
by founding the Sahitya Samsad, he was leading a lonely
inner life Many of his novels were self revelations, but
few knew the inner stress and mental agony from which
they sprang He has laid bare this internal tumult and
torment 1n his prose poem Shishu ane Sakhi, and later
with rare frankness in his autobiography Munsh: is ego-
centric and has the fatal habit of ceaseless self-introspee-
tion This brings him internal struggles and often suffer-
mg m 1ts wake

His outward Iife was mnormally irreproachable m
many ways. As soon as he passed the Advocates’ exami-
nation, he took a flat with three rooms in the same Morarji
chawl, brought his mother from Broach and contimmued
the struggle to earn enough to maimtain himself Those
were dark days The Specie Bank in which the remnant
of his patrimony had been invested went 1nto hiquidation_
He had already been suffermng from appendicitis for many
years and the doctors now advised an operation With
some difficulty he borrowed Rs 500 from a generous friend
to go to Miraj for the operation by the famous surgeon
Dr Wandes But the thought that oppressed Munshi was
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not of his safety Most of the cash his father had left had’
been spent and, even as he was put on the opera-
tion table, his thought was of the absolute poverty into
which his mother and wife would sink m case he did not
survive the operation
By 1918 Munshi was singled out by some solicitors as
a promising junior He attracted the attention of some
other solicitors on his own merits In that year he got his
first fee of Rs 1,100 from which, as he remarks, he bought
‘the first almirah and the first ornament for his wife The
same year, Jagdish, his first son, was born The eldest
child, Sarala, was then 5 years old Tapibehn was now
msistent that as her son was making money he must enlarge
the old fa:mlly mansion
X The children also brought the parents closer than they
Had been before, but Munshi writes about this period
“Lakshmi was intelligent and cheerful though
she spoke little She had hittle taste for reading She
devoted herself, heart and soul, in providing a good
home for her husband But she was not interested
in his work
‘‘Her love for me knew no Iimit, but she was like
a child who could not express what she felt But I
wanted the smartness which modern education gives.
I was a fool, hankering after bright conversation, in
which I thought I was myself an adept
““By 1918 a great change had come over Liakshmi.
(Munsh: 1" his autobiography always refers to her
by this name ) For this I was responsible to some
extent But the main credit goes to her inherent
strength of character Money, servants, a cook, a
Iittle Europeanised way of living, came 1 the wake
of professional success and she managed everything
competently She accompanied Ichchabehen (Mrs.
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Bhulabhar Desai) wherever she went and now could
hold her own among the wives of my friends But
what gave her most pleasure was service to me, noth-
mg else.

“If I was sad, she never asked me the reasenm,
but assumed that she was not able to give me proper
attention She never cared for what I was domg,
what struggles I was enduring, how much I was earn-
ing, what my 1ideals were When my stories were
published, she read them, but they mever inspired
her with enthusiasm Whenever I wrote, she took
care to see that there was ink,1n the pot and paper on
the table and that I was not disturbed by the child-
ren

““Our bed room i the new house at Betwady to
which we had shifted, was stuffy Iattle Jagdish
used to ery every night She would then take him
away and play with him for hours lest my sleep be
disturbed She was always ready to give up her life
for me Thus Lakshm became an mseparable part
of my life ”’

But Munsh: felt that the gulf between them was not
sufficiently bridged Deeply conscious that Atilakshmi
tried to be an 1deal wife, he made every effort to be an
ideal husband He had been practising Yoga for a long
tmme One of his favourite verses from the Gita, which he
kept before him, was the following —

wHfegIfr 7o T AT HEAET T |

ghearifeamerr frmmer = s=37 )

(Gt XVIII, v 6)

(He who controls his sense organs but contmues to
think of the sense objects is a deluded fool and his conduct
is hypocritiecal )

Beauty i all forms has a strange fascmation for
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Munsh: He loves Greek sculpture, and had a postecard of
Venus de Milo, framed and hung in his room, even i his
days of struggle Whatever, therefore, this verse might mean,
to Munshi with beauty gone Iife was hardly worth living
‘We know from his autobiography that the conflict between
the full and rich Iife and ascetic living, represented by the
struggle hetween hero and herome, 1 Prithvwallabh,
which he considers his best work, was 1n fact a projeetion of
his own mner struggle Many years later, when Gandhij:
read Prithvwallabh, which someone recommended to him
as a book outstanding for Art’s sake, he wrote ,a strong
letter to Munshi, Munshi’s reply was that of an artist But
that shows the difference between their respective points of
view Gandhiji took the verse of the Gita m the hiteral
sense, the urge for beautiful things was centrolled 1n him
by a deep sense of what he conceived to be the truth It 1s
mpossible to think of Munsh: without his mamn charm, a
worship of the beautiful, which for him is the truth

At the same time, Munshi has a streak of asceticism 1n
him and his failure to live up to the austere ideals plunged
him 1in misery After a long struggle, which continued for
years, he evolved the doctrine of the individual tempera-
ment based largely upon Chapter XVIIL of the Bhagvad-
Gita  While practising the Yogasutra he came to the con-
clusion that any austerities against which the individual
nature revolts and which do not lead to a sense of self-ful-
filment, have to be discarded He also realised that to
‘“be’’ 1s nobler and greater than to ‘‘do,’’ that unless auste-
rity leads to one becoming oneself, 1t has no meaning His
new conclusion was supported by the following verse of
the Giia —

farETaEl e axeaieaTear |
AT w9 gt e
(Ghia XVIIL, v 47) .



THE STEEP CLIMB 75

(Better one’s own dharma, though defective, than the
dharma of another, well performed If one follows the
duty ordamned by one’s temperament he mcurs no sm )

This removed his last doubt Still he felt that he had
not yet made his wife a real partner m Iife So he wrote
to her from Mahabaleswar (20-5-1918)

““I came to Mahabaleswar hoping to resolve many
problems of life 'What those problem are, you have
never asked me You have no idea how these have
been worrymng me I also did mnot tell you, for fear
that you might not understand me Who 1s respon-
sible for this? You to some extent but mostly 1. ..
You do not really know me ”’

Munshi then poured out his heart to her and
ended ‘“We came together in 1905 Thirteen years
have passed After thirteen years I now know that
until T have done my duty by you, I shall be the
greatest hypocrite When will you learn to love all
that I stand for? When will the day come when you
will think like me, share the burden of my life?’’
This was, Munsh1 writes, the last ery for help of a

drowning man But when he returned from Mahabaleswar,
Atilakshmi welecomed him with an understanding smile
There was nothing more to be said Still Munshi confessed
to her his weakness and she listened, but she had raised a
godly pedestal for him, and no avowal from Munshi could
bring him down from there

In 1921, Munshi took his family to Matheran

“‘Lakshm1 had now become my friend No longer
was duty the only link between us I had alreadvy
given up the 1dea of ever having a partner of my life
who could share my 1ideals, emotions, and so I was

satisfied >’ Thus he writes in his autobiography

Tapibehn was happy She had a grandson, her son
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kad built a new house on the Munshi Heights, and restored
the family glory He had also given the community a big
feast at Broach Moreover, her son was now happy with
her daughter-in-law Every day they went out for a drive
and the old lady was content to see them happy
Munsh: now felt that writing only novels was mot
enough 1f he were to give shape to Gujarat conscious-
ness So he began an elaborate study of the Mahabharata
and the Puranas, and the history and literature of Gujarat
This study was the source of many of his later works He
planned a histery of Gujarat Laterature in ten volumes
which however, resulted years later, only in his Gujarat
and Its Laterature m Enghsh He also wrote his first Vedie
drama Purandara-Parajaya and an elaborate article on the
Date of the Bharate War The preparations that he made
at the time were ultimately embodied in his University
Lectures, the Farly Aryans wn Gujarat
The magazine Gujarat became very popular and
Munshi’s utterances and writings acquired an apostolic
‘i',one He was the prophet of beauty m Iiterature and life
c{ the end of 1922, Munshi had reached practically the
oot rank 1 the profession, and was the most popular
,thor in creative literature of Gujarat and a prophet of
Asw romanticism 1 the language The Sehtfa Samsad
8 nd the GQuyarat had become powerful He had reached
the top by what he calls the ‘steep climb ’
And that year he met the Iadv who was to become
Ialavats Munshy
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By the end of 1922, Munshi’s ‘Steep Climb’—the
name which he has given to the second part of his
autobiography—had been successfully mnegotiated. With
the Raja Bahadur Shivlal Motilal Case, he became a front
rank lawyer at the Bombay Bar, his annual income pass-
mg the hundred thousand mark Xe was now the fore-
most novelist 1n Gujarati, sharing with the poet Nanalal
the premier place among the creative lhiterary artists of
Gujarat The Sahitya Samsad of which he was the
founder-president and the Gujarat of which he was the
Editor were the expressions of the neo-Romantic literary
school, of which he himself was the centre. His domestic
Iife had reached a period of felicitous and harmonious ad-
justment Into his even tenor of this life of success and
happiness entered destiny in the shape of the lady who
was to mould his Iife and give him the elixir for which
Munshi had ever thirsted The successful lawyer and
author had to pass through four hectic years of suffering
and sorrow, and the story of this period proves that Iife
18 stranger than fiction

The Vazir Building near the Babulnath Temple, Bom-
bay, which contained the flat occupied by Munshi at the
end of 1918, was to be the house of fate Shortly after he
moved there, he was one day standing on the baleony of his
flat when his friend, Indulal Yajnik, passed by on the
road accompanied by a beautiful young lady Yajnik
greeted Munshi and introduced him to the lady She was
Mrs Ianlavati Seth

Munshi had heard of her, for she used to move 1 the
literary ecircle of Chandrasankar and other friends of
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Munsht But this was the first time that they had met
Sometime later Lilavati’s family moved in and occupied
the ground floor flat The same evening she came up to
the first floor to meet Munsh: and Atilakshmi As a girl
she had been fascinated by Tanman, the herome of
Munshi’s first novel Verns Vasulat, and fervently admired
the author of the brilhant novels which followed 1t She
was naturally anxious to become acquamted with him

Thereafter Lilavat: sometimes came up to the flat of
Munshi of an evening after his return frem his chamber
Munshi at that time thought little of the mntellectual attaimn-
ments of Gujarat: women and was therefore pleasantly sur-
prised when one day this young lady of nineteen discussed
Ibsen with him However, he wanted to avoid seeing her
as, perhaps out of an instinctive protective dread, he did
all women for whom he felt the shghtest admiration Any-
way, Lilavati soon returned to Ahmedabad

They met again for a few days 1n 1921 when she
returned from a tour of Ceylon  Accompanied only by
her daughter of six and a tutor, she had travelled, an un-
usual thing for a young Gujarat: lady to have done 1n those
days This impressed Munsh: and curiously the old long-
g for ‘Devi’, his dream-girl, was revived 1 him

The first number of the monthly Gujarat, founded and

edited by Munshi, appeared in March 1922 On April 26,
1922, Lilavat: wrote to him requesting that her namv be
enrolled as a subscriber of the magazine and explaming
that she had to write to him since she did not know the
address of the Gujarat office Munshi sent her a copy of
the Gujarat and nvited her to write something for his
Journal

The summer vacation of 1922 Munshi was spending
at Mahabaleshwar busy writing his historical novel Raja-
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dharay  One day he received from ILilavati some pen
pictures mecluding one of himself with a request that they
might be published 1n the Gujarat
Munshi was amazed to read
‘““He (Munshi) has great capacity for probing
the hearts and minds of men But his sparkling
mtellect 1s associated with an unconcealed egotism.
He judges’the world with his intelleet Some one
remarked that he was proud, I think the remark is
correct e mixes with people with the objectivity
of a scientist just to analyse their reactions and study
their nature Then he merely tabulates his experi-
ence without any feeling or emotional reaction For
such a man, we can only have respect but cannot
develop any attachment .. He 1s mdifferent
to the world, for it has denied him something which
he hungered for Too proud to complain, he sneers
at the world and takes a delight in destructive criti-
cism He shuns sympathy because he thinks it
lowers his dignity But deep underneath this hard
crust of intellect 1s hid an undercurrent of love
flowing from a heart Someone may have tasted 1t;
but the waters of the spring are not accessible to all ”’
As Munsh: finished reading this thumb-nail sketch
of himself, he knew that at last his dream-girl, ‘Dev1’, had
come to life He went out alone for a walk 1 a frenzy.
In a moment his Iife had changed its hue Recalling this
mood he wrote 1n the prose-poem Shishu ane Sakhy
““A new hope had entered his life Iike the first dawn,
which with her golden rays dispels the darkness envelopmg
the world
““He felt as 1f he were m a dream floating in the awr

and the stars were dancing to the rhythm of celestial
musie ’’



80 MUNSHI HIS ART AND WORK

““Next day’’, Munshi writes i his Autobiography,
“T replied to her letter I revised my letter many #times
and read and re-read 1t to cut out any unseemly word
which I might have included under the stress of emotion.
I requested her to write regularly for the Guyaerat I did
not know Iala well then I had no idea of what her home
Iife was but my heart shouted with joy as I felt that at
last I had met the girl for whom I had been waiting for
ages 7’

A few months later Inlavati’s step-son again rented
the ground floor of the Vazir Bmlding and in October
she came from Ahmedabad to live there

One evening, after the evening meal Munshi, who had
by then shifted to a second floor flat, was reading a brief,
when he heard some one singing on the ground-floor. Hais
heart missed a beat ‘“Who 1s smngmg?’’ he asked.

“‘Talabehn,’’ replied Atilakshmi

After dinner Lilavat: came up to meet them It was
of course the most natural thing for a young author to
meet the editor of the journal to which she was contri-
buting articles but the mutual attraction was there and
they began to talk like old friends

““That might,”” Mumsh:1 writes, ‘I ecould not sleep I
could foresee the dangerous possibility that lay if this
chance acquaintance ripened into friendship An abyss
was before me, I was standing on 1its precipice, and all
this just at a time when I had finished the steep climb of
my life Thirteen years ago I had buried my
‘Devi’—my dream bride Though she had lamn buried
for years, now she had risen in flesh and blood and come
into my life It was for me the begmmning of a
new life ”’

Lilavati, generally known among her friends m
Gujarat as Lilabehn, was by now no longer an unknown
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author The series of thumb-nail sketches, which had for
their subject not only Munsh: but other leading persona-
Iities of Gujyarat like Vallabhbhai—he had not yet become
‘Sardar’—and Vithalbhai, appearing serially i the
Gujyarat, had taken Gujarat by storm They were charac-
terised by a rare shrewdness and particularly stressed the
personal angularities of these well-known people m a
pquant and occasionally stinging style To this series
Munshi gave the title of Rekha-chifro (Pen pictures)

Lalavati was born m 1899 of a well-to-do Jamn family
of Ahmedabad, the only surviving child of her parents
Her mqther died when she was only four years old Her
fa:t}%er married again, and she was brought up by her
maternal grand-parents in Bombay  Her grandfather
Virchand Dipchand, CIE, one of the early founders of
the textile mdustry in Bombay, left her a small legacy
which came 1n very useful later on for her travels and
education Her father died when she was about ten

At the age of eight Lilavati was taken seriously ill,
her illness, which lasted for three or four years, forced
her to leave school after studymng up to the fourth standard
However, she attended a Sanskrit Pathshala set up by
her grandmother near her house, and acquired a fair know-
ledge of Sanskrit Her studies, however, were ciit short
on her being married to a rich widower much against her
will From the beginning the marriage was a failure, and
Lilavat: had to. find relief in reading and writing She
began to study English and Sanskrit under the gmdance
of Janubhar Sayed, an experienced and elderly teacher,
the nephew of the well-known scholar and Iitterateur
Anand Shankar Dhruv, who was for some time Pro-Vice-
Chancellor of the Banaras Hindu University She also
started writing poems which appeared 1n various journals
between 1916 and 1920.
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In 1920 Lilavat: wvisited Kashmir and her travel
diaries which were published 1n a Gujarat: magazine were
greatly appreciated Next year she took another long trip
to the South and also visited Ceylon These travels made
her socially conspicuous, for at that time few ladies in
Gujarat or elsewhere in India, went on such long journeys
m this way, accompanied only by a couple of dependants.

Janubha: Sayed introduced Ialavati, to his friend,
Chandrasankar Pandya and some rising hiterary men In
close association with them, she developed her taste for hite-
rature, but she really made her mark in Gujaratr Itera-
ture only after the publication of the series of Eekha-chiiro
in Munshi’s Gugarat

9
LITERARY CAMARADERIE

WuEN m October 1922, Lalavati and her family moved
into a flat on the ground-floor of the Vazir Building at
Babulnath Road, where Munshi occupied the second floor,
a new life began for them Munshi now in love with her
understood fully what the word meant
‘““My senses suddenly became very keen,”’ he
says m his Autobiography ‘‘I could hear her voice
from wherever she happened to be I could make
out her steps on the stairs Many times, I felt that
she was coming and she actually arrived I had a
feeling that my experience was unique, that none
had felt Iike me before Iala carried fragrance with
her The truth was that love had made my senses
keener, perhaps super-normal
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“By 1922, I had settled down to a happy hfe
after a hard struggle I knew the world for what 1t
was and 1mmediately realised that it was dangerous
for me to see the ‘Devi’ 1n Lila But I was complete-
ly overwhelmed by love ”’

To obtain a hold over himself Munshi went to
Matheran and spent a fortnight there in utter misery The
bungalow 1n which he lived was called ‘Dell ° With mor-
dant and malicious humour, he took a piece of chalk and
converted the ‘D’ mto ‘H’

At Matheran he struggled hard to face what he calls
‘the calamity’ which had overtaken him Practising
Yoga, as he did, he sat three times a day in meditation
He searched through the maxims of Patanjali’s Yogasuira
to find a solution Most evenings he sat on a bench on
Birdwood Point and tried to analyse himself and so gauge
the dominant urges of his Iife and to determine his future
course of action Few people in the throes of such a sud-
den burst of passion would undergo such a trial, but
Munshi has always been different

As a result of this introspection for a fortnight he
formed a curious resolution firstly, he would not, under
any circymstance, give up his ‘Devi’ (his dream bride),
who, he felt, had materialised i Ialavati, secondly, he
would not allow this dream to be witiated by imdulgence
as, according to him, 1ts realization depended upon austere
self-discipline, thirdly, he would be serupulously fair to
his wife and family, not flinching from his duty to them
whatever 1t might cost him

Munsh: was not blind to the conflicting nature of the
course which he had preseribed for himself nor to the
miseries which 1t would certainly mvolve

At this time, Lilavati’s flat had become the rendezvous
«©f the literary group to which Munshi belonged Many of
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Munshi’s friends, Chandrashankar, Mansukhlal Master
and others, came to meet Lalavati i the evening, mostly
to carry on literary gossip. For some time, Munshi jomned
this group off and on But he knew what his feelings
were and soon ceased to come to these general gatherings.
But every evening at about seven-thirty, when he return-
ed from his chamber he would, before gomng up to his
flat, talk for a few minutes with Lialavati and discuss the
affairs of the Gujarat This developed 1nto a camaradere,
and ILalavati became the unofficial joint editor of the
Gujarat

This friendly co-operation in literary efforts could not,
m view of their mutual feelings, rest at that stage much
longer. Ialavati went to a theatre with Munshi and his
wife Next morning she sent him a ten rupee note, the
price of her ticket for the show which they had gone to
see Munsh: felt hurt and returned the money. Agan,
the note came up, 1t was again sent down After the note
had journeyed three or four times, Munshi tore 1t into
pieces and returned them to Lulavat: He knew that she
always paid for her ticket when she accompanied friends
to the theatre but he refused to be placed on their level

In the meantime, the business earried on by Lilavati’s
hushand was gomng from bad to worse due to his neglect
and the vagaries of her step-son Their solicitor came to
eonsult Munshi professionally as to how best he could
rescue the business from the mess 1 which 1t had been
landed It was found that the only way to save the firm
was to appomnt an efficient person who could eontrol the
expenditure Inlavat: was thereupon taken on as a part-
ner by her husband and entrusted with the management

One day, m the course of her business activities,
Lilavat: came with her solicitor to consult Munshi i his
thamber When the consultation was.over, it was already



LITERARY CAMARADERIE 85

evening and she gave Munshi1 a 1ift home This was the
first time they were by themselves For sometime they
talked of their travels, then as they got down at the Hang-
g Gardens for a walk, their conversation turned to the
debatable question as to whether there could be friend-
ship between a man and a woman Those were the days.
of the suffragette movement and Lalavat: contended that
men tsually looked down upon women and never as their
equals

‘““You seem to be very bitter towards men,’’ Munshr
said ‘‘I hope no one has treated you badly Has any
friendship been broken? You have only fo tell me to re-
pair 1t,”> Munshi said 1 a bantering tone

i ““Lala turned on me Iike a tigress ‘I don’t need any-
one’s help or sympathy,” she said Immediately I rea-
lised my stupidity ‘I am sorry,” I said For a mmnute
we stood silent, then I began to laugh But in that hittle
minute we came to know each other, without our saying
or avowing anything We were transported with joy, as
we returned home ”’

At thigs time Munshi had to go for a few days to
Bhavnagar i connection with his professional work By
now 1t had become a daily routine for him to meet
Lalavati as she sat on the verandah of her ground-floor
fat for a few minutes m the morming as he left for the
court and again in the eveming as he returned home

‘When Munshi was at Bhavnagar there began a corres-
pondence between him and Lalavati which extended with-
out a break for over three years Sometimes three letters
and notes were exhanged 1n a day, sometimes a long letter
covered the events of three or four days They continued
to be written even when they were in Bombay living in
the same house and even if they met for some time during
the day.
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Writing 1 his Autobiography about these letters,

Munsh1 says
““We only moved as automatons of correct con-

duet 1 the world of reality We really lived 1 and

through these letters They recorded our struggles

to become one . spirit

“In this way, like birds of the springtide of

love, we wafted in the sky of our imagmation These

letters expressed the joy and angwush of our un-

divided soul There we sang without restraint, not

for others to hear but for the sheer joy of smmging *’

Quotations from many of these letters have been pub-
lished by Munsh: m the third volume of his Autobio-
graphy, Swapnasiddhe nv Shodhma (In Search of Dream-
Realization) The letters are significant, they reflect the
passing mood of the writers, sometimes gay, sometimes
witty, and at others sad, but usually with the buoyancy
of hearts aflame with love Some of these letters discuss
contemporary literature or events, sometimes an imecident
which happened i the High Court 1s described, while
others a doubt as to the future creeps 1 But written
by two competent lLiterary craftsmen, the letters rank
among the great epistles of Iiterature

But I think that the publication of many of them 1s
even more significant than their composition Munshi may
have his faults (who hasn’t), but he 1s no hypoerite As
a matter of fact, he 1s always eager to appear just as he 1s,
no more and no less, sometimes at considerable cost to
himself

At the begmning of the third volume of his Auto-
biography he quotes from Aeschylus

¢Willingly, willingly I did 1t

Never will T deny the deed.”’

The letters are offered not as the justification of his
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conduct, but as constituting the avowal of his inner life.
They were published at the height of his career when few
remembered that he had once made love to a married
woman But that i1s exactly the reason which prempted
him to publish these letters he did not want to appear
except as he was Nowhere 1n his Autobiography has he
attempted to explain away his conduct more than once
he mentions that he had a loving wife,—whom he always
refers to with deep respect as the safi~—children and a
position 1 society In his Bhagavad-Gite and Modern
Iafe (p 163) he writes —

““In 1922 I fell out of love with my dream-bride
and fell m love with a living woman A new and
terrible problem faced us A binding, maddening
attraction drew us to each other Why we did not
follow the normal way is more than I can explaim.
But at this distance of time I can venture an ana-
lysis

‘ ““When I fell in love, I thought that my dream-
bride had materialised A vision of ineffable beauty
stood before me Both of us were fasemated, hypno-
tised by a dream in iridescent beauty But we had
a horror of the ways which led to satiety We dared
not destroy the vision which enveloped us so won-
drously We felt that we had one soul which was
shared between us We felt ourselves inspired and
driven by the Undivided Soul This 1dea, this fancy
1f you so choose to call 1t, ‘indwelt’ us, and kept us
superior to mdulgence With elated minds we ven-
tured to dream of our unity, despite mnsuperable ob-
stacles which stood between us But our determina-
tion to ban earthiness tortured our souls and drove
the mighty flood into a rolling Mandakine of exqui-
site yearning
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““This 1ntensive ‘mdwelling’ of the Undivided

Soul 1 two persons brought about a gigantic wave
of creativeness n us We escaped sordidness, waste
and satiety Our creative art blossomed 1into a
springtime of richness New 1deas, new experiences,
new ambitions came upon us I wrote my best works
then I conducted my cases then as never before
My power appeared to be magnified a million-fold
‘We roamed through Europe like little children burst-
ing with vitality This tremendous creative energy
was the result of transmuting the sex urge into crea-
tive vigour ”’ '

At this time Munshi developed his doctrine of the
Undrvided Soul In a letter to Lalavati mm 1922 (Decem-
ber 16) he wrote

“The high-priestess (Lalavati) and her ad-
mirers may look askance at the idea of submerging
her individuality in another But there are ocea-
sions 1 Iife when one develops such personal rela-
tionship with an individual that to lose one’s own
identity or individuality with the. object of love
comes as a bliss Our personality and pride are the
protecting armour to fight the battle of life, but 1f
we carry 1t inside our homes we shall only trans-
form them into a battle-field When two indivaduals
lose their identities and are united, then only can
they project their joint-self in all its splendour and
lay the foundation of a perfect friendship ’’

About this time Munshi described the emotional up-
heavel through which he was passing 1 a poignant and
moving letter which he wrote to his friend Acharya On
learning from Munshi about his meeting and love for Iaila-
vati, Acharya warned Munshi of the dangerous poten-
tfiahities of this romance In his reply Munshi Jaid bare his
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very soul and with characteristic forthrightness answered
his erities and traducers

‘“As was my habit, I have informed you that a
new factor has entered my life I also begged of you
to extend to me that sympathy which helped me to
conquer the distress of my heart in 1905 But 1t 1s
clear from your letter that the harmony which exist-
ed between us is now broken

““Don’t think for a moment that I have ceased to
be straightforward I am analysing myself in a man-
ner which even you cannot do Assuming that your
analysis of my state of mind 1s correct, so what?
A truth and an overwhelming truth faces me It is
in-dwelling me What 1s to be done about 1t? I can-
not follow your advice and suppress it You think
that 1t will assume a sordid form That 1s 1mpossible
I can only make 1t my own, 1n my own way, though
the way may be very peculiar There are twin
strings to my heart one of love, the other of rever-
ence Others may not be aware of the fact, but you
know 1t well On some days the two Strings play
1 resondnce, I hear their sweet music, and 1if ever
I cease to hear this musie, then this relationship
between us would lose its beauty

““I have wasted years 1 pimng for it (the
resonance) Without 1t I would not have worshipped
a mere childhood memory with such unshaken faith.

““To-day, I am 1 the grip of the same impulse
(to hear the music) It has inspired me to (offer)
worship once agam. If this impulse had only been
on my side, I would have maintained silence But
she shares 1t as intensely as I do

“Jt 18 possible that I am only dreaming, that
what you say 1s true It is likely that the other
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mndividual 1s only playing with me, that she may be
heartless and ambitious But I know what my heart
feels about the relationship If I give her up, my
life would lose its purpose and 1t would be a living
death  Shall I be untrue to the very law of my
being ?

““T only demand justice from you You are right
in a way I am a man, she 1s a woman But we have
not exchanged a single syllable which friends may
not exchange with self-respect and pride The con-
temptible world of the Philistines has only one view
of things- ‘If a man and woman cannot satisfy their
anmimal eravings, they should not be friends’ Should
I accept 1ts judgment, become a knave and poison
‘two lives?

““I know very well that the end of this adventure
is bound to be tragic I also know that when the
cother side outgrows the glamour of my seintillating
"personality, she will no longer remain in her present
state of mind

“But what then? Should I make a desert of
my life? It would be the height of folly If I sup-
press this 1deal, my hife would be a torment for years.
If I do not suppress 1t and my dream continues, I
will realise what has eluded me for so many years
T shall then be able to work better My vision will
grow wider, my zest for life greater and my life
Ticher 77
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WamE Munsh: was conducting the case at Bhavnagar, he
was 1nvited to halt at Ahmedabad on his way back, as the
affairs of Lalbhai, Lilavati’s husband, had become involv-
ed m further difficulties and his adviece was absolutely
necessary But before gommg to Ahmedabad, Munshi took
the opportumity of wvisiting the important historical sites
of Kathiawad, now Saurashtra, of which he had written,
but had never had a glimpse before

First he went to Junagadh which he had deseribed
vividly i the Gujrat no Nath, but which he now saw for
the first time From Junagadh he went to Prabhas, to
see Dehotsarga and Sommnath This visit made a lasting
mmpression on him At Junagadh he saw the famous
Sudarshana Liake inseription of Asoka, Rudradaman and
Skandagupta a vision of the past greatness of his country
flashed before his eyes Somnath and Dehotsarga, how-
ever, were bitter reminders of her downfall The
great temple of the Chaulukya Emperors, or what was
left of 1t, was being used by a Muslim police officer as a
stable What was once the sancium sanctorum of the
greatest Siva temple 1 India was sacriligously filled
with the stench of dung The sacred Dehotsarga where
Sri Krishna 1s believed to have given up his mortal hife
was even worse Not a vestige of the shrine, which had
stood on this spot remained, in spite of all-India protests.
By the order of the Nawab of Junagadh the temple which:
stood had been closed and the frightened Hindus had not
the courage to have the temple repaired or reopened

This was 1 January-1923 A quarter of a century
was to elapse before Munshi was to be Imstrumental e
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restoring the sacred shrines of Sommath and Dehotsarga
For the time being, he boarded the train for Ahmedabad
‘with a heavy heart

By the time Munshi arrived at Ahmedabad he had
had a fornight’s correspondence with Lilavati and 1t was
clear to both that their attitude to each other had gone far
beyond mere friendship

For about two days Munshi remained at Ahmedabad
as the guest of Inlavati Here for the first time he saw
the heroie struggle she was making up against her lonely
and miserable Iife, Munshi has poignantly deseribed i1t m
his Autobiography

On the evening of December 29, he went out for a
walk with Lnlavatt As they walked, he told her for the
first time what had been 1 his mind

“Last night I came to a deciion To-day 1s my
birthday * I must talk to you frankly If we continue to
drift 1 our relationship as we are domng without mutual
understanding, 1t will lead to musery We have already
become the victims of scandal At the same time our
friendship 15 growing more imtimate We should, there-
fore, decide whether this friendship 1s an inalienable ele-
ment 1 our lives or just a mutually inspiring contact *’

““My life 15 dreary I am alone and helpless,’’ replied
Lilavat1i ‘“Your friendship 1s all T have I am prepared
to suffer anything for 1t 1 this Iife and in the next I
am not afraid of what others say *’

““But my career 1s likely to be rumed,’”” Munsh: said

“I cannot say whether such a risk 15 worth running
‘Whatever the consequences, I shall always remaimn the
same *’

‘It 1s not the question of risk I have had a vision

* At this time Munshi was under the mmpressfon that his
birthday, according to the English calendar, was December 29
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of our Undivided Soul My Iife can find fulfilment only
on 1ts being realized, and I am resolved to realise it even if
I were to die 1n the effort But have you faith in our Un-
divided Soul? Will you be able to bear 1ts burden?’’

““I have no faith in the Undivided Soul But I have
faith in you, that 1s why I have faith in 1t,”” said Lilavat:
frankly

“But I am an odd mixture of an 1dealist and a realist
If we hgve to realise the Undivided Soul, we shall have to
go through austere self-control to attamn it ’’

‘“What do you mean by austere self-control?’’

““Lakshmi has been my true and life-long comrade
I respect her and am deeply attached to her I owe her a
deep debt of gratitude I love my children We cannot
raise the fabric of our happiness on their misery This
will 1nvolve very severe tapascharya ’’

‘““Where 1s the question of tapascharye in that?”’
asked Lalavat

‘‘If we are to remaln pure, there 1s only one way for
us We should not do anything without taking Liakshmi
mto confidence This would be a fapas, our idealism
would be tried on the touch-stone of duty So I have wired
Lakshmi to come to Baroda I want to tell her everything
frankly I will show her our letters We will maintain
our friendship only 1f she permiats All of us will go to
Burope together 1f she cheerfully agrees But if she does
not, you will have to leave Bombay I shall do my duty
even with a broken heart Then will begin the tapas of
the Undivided Soul, living away from each other *’

Lilavati was silent fora while She was also on trial
‘‘Please tell Atilakshmibehn everything, and tell her also
that she need have no fear,”” she said ‘‘I don’t want any-
thing that 1s hers If she will only let me have what she
‘hasn’t recerved and will not receive, I shall be econtent ’’
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I have taken this and the following dialogues fromr
Munshi’s Autobiography There he candidly remarks that
this conversation seems as though 1t were taken from a
novel, but he adds that at that time with his 1magination
on fire he was Iiving the Iife of a character in a romance

His stay m Ahmedabad over, Munshi started for
Broach, on the way Atilakshmi jomed him at Baroda
Alone 1n the raillway compartment, Munshi told Atilakshmi
everything, of his hankering after the ‘‘Devi’; or the
dream-girl smce childhood, of how he saw the ‘““Devi’’ m
Lilavati, of his resolution at Matheran, of the letters bet-
ween him and Lalavati and the pledge taken by them both
on the banks of the Sabarmat: at Ahmedabad He gave
Atilakshmi the letter from Lilavati With tears in his
eyes, he begged her pardon and said

¢“What I have just now confessed to you, I know, 1s
unforgivable In a sense 1t 1s my degradation, in a sense
it 13 my salvation But I beg of you, please do not con-
sider me at all Do not think of my happiness You must
decide for yourself If you say ‘no’, I shall be unhappy;
neither shall I be happy if you say ‘yes’ Love has come
(as the God of Fire) demandimg my sacrificial offering
He 18 sure to consume me Read these letters Think over
the matter for two days Then let me know your decision >’

On the third day Atilakshmi came to him and said
‘I have thought over the matter very:carefully I have
always surrendered myself to you completely You have
given me all that you could You cannot give me any
more, for I am not capable of taking or receiving any more.
You should both remam friedds Your sense of inecom-
pleteness will then disappear Three of us will go to
Europe I have complete confidence m you ”’

Munsh1 admits that he felt himself contemptible
before this noble lady To ILalavat1 he wrote: ‘‘After
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belongs to all, Krishna belongs to all, then who is

mine?’” (30 1 23)

In another letter she wrote-

‘““Believe me, I have dedicated my life to the
worship of you, and you alone Do what you want,
go wherever you like, but please let me comfort you
once a day . I have become like Jada-Bharat* No
longer do I care for happiness nor am I worried about
migsery You should not feel sad on my account
Only one thing I beg of you if you have any pity
for me, please look after your health My heart sinks
when I see that you are feeling miserable I do not
want to share your happiess, but do mnot worry
about making me happy I shall be happy when I
see you happy ILove for you has sustained me till
now, 1t will sustain me hereafter

““To express how I feel I have written so much.
You are kind, so you will excuse me When you have-
recovered your health, I shall be happy Pay for-
grve ’?

For some months Munsh: and Atilakshmi had been
planning a trip to Europe For some tmme before they
met, Lilavat: had also been making preparations for going
to Europe Mansukhlal Master, who took a parental inte-
rest 1 Ialavati, had suggested, before Munshi went to-
Bhavnagar, that she should accompany the Munshis
Munshi had not liked the 1dea at first, but when Atilakshmi
agreed to 1t, 1t was decided that Lilavats would accompany
them

Atilakshmi might have felt, as Munshi writes, that
by the time they had finished the trip, Munshi would be-
rid of his infatuation and everything would be as 1t was.

* A mythological character A great sage once loved a deer .
To expiate this worldly attachment he was reborn as an idiot
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before, Munshi also had much the same 1dea So all of
them plunged with enthusiasm into the preparations for
the journey, though, as his letters show, Munsh1 was feel-
ing the mental and bodily strain of keepime to the strange
resolves he had made
Though Lilavati was accompanying the Munshis on
their journey, she was going on her own account and she
naturally thought she was going mdependently Munshi
found this attitude rather disacieeable, used as he was
from boyhood to order everyone about him So he arrang-
ed the trip just as 1t suited him in spite of frequent pro-
tests from Lilavati, but when he left out Germany from
her itinerary, apparently without consulting her, she re-
acted vehemently Munshi therefore sent her the fol-
lowing letter
“Usually Germany comes last, but whatever 1t
18, why should 1t upset you so much You are free
to stay as long as you like and go wherever you like
There 18 nothing to prevent you from going to hell
should 1t be to your hiking You are not bemg ob-
structed 1 any way, so an exhibition of your temper
does not seem to be called for >’ (25 1 1923)
Apparently, Inlavat: had to give mm with a good grace,
a process which she must have soon found out was nees-
sary 1f she were to retain the affection of this impetuous
,man  However, two days later, Munsh1 was writing to
her
‘¢ Atilakshmi has gone to Broach this morning
She has developed a keen desire for going to Burope,
naturally, therefore, petrol and money are bemg con-
sumed at an unbelievable rate If God wanted people
to live within their means, why did He create women ?
“Today I am gomg to Cook’s to finalise our
programme I wish we could follow the American
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system I am making arrangements m such a way

that you can go anywhere you like, 1f you want to

I hope you will thus be free fiom inteiference, and

would have no reason to change your plans

““You should ask Lakshmi how we are dreaming

of this trip She has now opened out Ow life 1s

now so beautiful that most people envy uvs Our trip

to Burope will cause even more heart-burning ”?

The last was an allusion to the scandal-mongers who
were very busy with thent names Thewr world had start-
ed a hunt for them

It was at this time that Deshbandhu C R Das came
to Bombay to consult Jiinah about formimg a new party
composed of the old guards of the Home Rule League
Munsh: as a trusted lieutenant of Jinnah was present
throughout these meetings Munshi also talked with A
Rangaswami Aiyengar and S Satyamurt: about this new
party, as usual keeping Lilavat: posted every day as to
what was goimng on  In one of her rephes she ended —

““My heart was cold, my eyes were tired,

T could not think but of one thing,

I waited and waited to see you passing by

And to bless the day 1f I could cateh your eye

I saw you passing by,

But your eye I could not catch

And you do not know what this meant to me ’

Luckily for Munshi he was not forced to make anv
choice though for personal reasons he had no idea of return-
mg to politics In the course of the Das-Jinnah talks, Jinnah
msisted that 1if a parhamentary paity were to be started,
Gandhiy should have nothing to do with 1t He adhered
to his view that Gandhiji’s direct action was prejudicial to
the country and he would not be associated with the party
if Gandhijr was m 1t Deshbandhu, however, was strong-
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ly of the view that the country would not tolerate any
party which was antagonistic to Gandhijy  The discussion,
therefore, proved fruitless

11
THE UNFOLDING TRAGEDY

On Match 2, 1923, Munshi, Atilakshmi and Lilavati left
for Europe and returned’on June 6 They wvisited Italy,
Switzerland, France and England TUntil they reached
Paris all of them were 1n high spiits, but there they met
some friends fiom Bombav, who gave them news of the
children Atilakshmi began to feel homesick Another fear
was gnawing at her heart she had felt, as Munshi wiites,
that after knowing Lilavati a hittle better, he would giow
weary of her, and that coming to know him better, Lala-
vaty, her stuidy independence thwairted by the domineer-
mg Munshi, would erow cool towards him One night, at
Parisp Atilakshmi, who could never bring heiself to dis-
cuss such thimgs, worked out an adaptation of an old
Gujarat1 song which exactly described her feelings This
she showed her husband, and they wept together at the
curious fate which had overtaken them  ‘‘I spent the
night mm her arms, and she in mine, each trymng to save
the other from drowning,”” Munsh: wiites

In England, Lilavati wanted to get admitted to a
college for further studies, though Munshi was against
the 1dea, for he felt that 1t would snap theiwr literary part-
nership and would not be in keeping with his 1deas of the
Undivided Soul But fate again stepped m While they
were discussing this matter, Talavati received an urgent
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cable from her husband requesting her to return imme-
diately, as his busimess was 1n a state of collapse She had,
therefore, to give up the 1dea of staymg in England

Munshi writes

““The eternal triangle continued Blinded by
love I thought that I could follow the precepts of the

Yogasutra and resolve this triangle of forces by

making them parallel 1n a way that no one had ever

succeeded m dommg It was folly At that time I

felt that I would be able to confine love within the

limits of Iiterary-partnership and imagimary unity of
spirit and keep 1t apart from my domestic life which
would continue undisturbed ”’

After returning fiom Europe, Munshi’s hope of con-
tmuing his peaceful domestic Iife was dashed to the
giound Atilakshmi never complaimmed, but his efforts to
make her happy did not succeed

Munshi could not help writing letters to ILilavat:
every day

Munshi 1s right in counting some of these letters
amongst his best writings, for they were the living, vibrant
outpourings of his heart While reading these letters 1t
takes some effort to remember that the author was an ema-
nent counsel of the highly competitive Bombay bar, and
alse a successful organiser conducting a monthly maga-
zine and a press, leading the Gujarat Sahitya Samsad and
later the Parishad to literary trrumphs They were both
living m the same bwlding, so he could have met her any
time he wanted, still they went on exchanging letters
Munshi 1s not by nature so shy as to take recourse to writ-
mg what he did not have the courage to say The only
explanation possible 1s that he was really addressing these
letters to his dream-girl, 1f he actually talked to her of
love, the whole 1dea of the dream-girl which he had cherish-
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ed since he was a child of five would have been shattered.
The fact that the dream-girl whom he was addressing was
a married woman did not disturb his picture
‘When he was a student, the sight of a postman in the
street gave him hopes that at last a letter from the dream-
girl had arrived. Now at last she was writing to him
what did 1t matter if he was now mariied and had four
children and she, a married woman with a daughter The
hope of a Iife-tyme, which he had once given up as an un-
attainable bliss, had at last arrived, he would enjoy 1t while
it lasted, even if like some msidious narcotic his mtoxieat-
ing 1mpulse was leading him to a slow agonising death
This correspondence also had become a part of his life
and 1t was mimpossible for him to give 1t up even had he
entertained such an i1dea As he says, these letters had
become the very breath of hig life
He describes these days faithfully m his Autobio-
graphy, taking all the responsibility on himself
‘‘Lakshmi knew that my consecience was pure but
I had no control over my mind I had so to regulate
my life that I would often be left alone At such times
she would come and meekly request me ‘You are
not feeling well You are 1ill, so please go with Lila-
behn for a drive’ Sometimes I felt Iike taking ad-
vantage of her generosity But I could not bear the
relentless stoicism with which this devoted wife, the
Sati, was sacrifiemng herself Her sublime self-surren-
der brought tears to my eyes I would then refuse to
go out for drive unless she too came
‘““When I was young, I sometimes felt that if
Lakshmi, even once in a while, crossed me or refused
to obey me, 1f she became jealous or quarrelled with
me and made me miserable, our relations would be
more human But Lakshmi never swerved from the
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highest pedestal of bhakta She never complamed;
1f ever she felt jealous or angry, she never showed any
signs of bemg so She became the living embodiment
of charana-raja, the dust of my feet

“If my head began to ache, or 1f there was pan
m my chest, and I happened to place my hand on the
spot, she would immediately ask me ‘Is something
huiting you? Have you a head-ache?’ and teais
would spring to her eyes Then immediately I would
have to exercise self-control, assume the cheeriest
smile at my command and assure her that I was per-
fectly all right If she came to my drawmg room
while I was reading a brief, she would just stand
silently by my side and look at me with longing,
pathetic eyes, and I would feel that look like a whip-
lash If at dinner she offered me somethmg and I
dechined 1t, a wave of pain would pass over her face,
and I would shudder

““By nature I am impatient and quick-tempei-
ed, even on the slightest provoeation, I would beetle
my brows, I always found 1t difficult to control this
exhibition Liakshmi, all her hife, was used to such
mannerisms and never worried about them Now, if
I dd anything of the kind, she would burst into
tears and I would feel someone sawing my entrails

‘“As a result, I could not ecomplam, I could not
ery, I could not let myself go I would try to be
very, very careful But something or other would
surely happen one day I would then beg her to
forgive me This made her sadder still How can
one forgive one’s deity? I was her God

““Sometimes neighbours came and told her
‘Atibehn, 1t 1s 1mpossible to hear what they are
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saymg about ILilabehn and Munshibhai ’ ‘“Why

then do you listen?’ she would retort

““We wanted to make each other happy, but the
result was that both of wus were plunged 1into
mIsery.

Tt 1s impossible to desciibe how wretched the
three of us felt, but 1t was I who felt 1t most acutely
To express whatever I think or feel 1s the first law of
my nature But before whom to unburden my sor-
row? Love and the Gifa, the stiuggle between pas-
sion and duty, my baffling effort to lighten the sorrow
of two loving women, my Incessant struggle to make
them happy, all these neaily drove me mad When

I was with Iala, the eyes of Liakshmi expecting mv

1eturn haunted me, talking with Lakshmi I would

begin to think of Inla I had read enough of ‘eternal

triangles’, but never could I imagme one hike this A

boa-constrictor was ciushing the three of us in its

remorseless coll None of us could freely go near the
other, nor stay away Iala and I gave vent to our
furious pent up passion m our letters But Liakshmai!

She always stood before us Itke an image of for-

bearance hewn out of frozen tears ’’

All this time Tapibehn was at Broach, looking after
the construction of the new house In October 1923, Ati-
lakshmi and the children went to see her

The constant mental strain was telling on Munshi’s
health Every morning he would get up with a feeling of
exhaustion and a heavy dull ache i his head However,
he had to go through his briefs and conduct cases
the Courts On his way down to the ear he would see
Lilavat: on her verandah, she would come out to meet him
and, along with the papers for the Gugaraf, shp mto his
hand a letter, which Munshi would read as he drove to the
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Court From eleven to five, his cases occupled him, thenm
he would be busy m his Chamber with conferences with
solicitors, the manager of the press or some young writer.
Atilakshmi would come to the Chamber to call for him at
half-past-seven  Quarter-to-eight found him m Ialavati’s
drawing room, busy over the affairs of the Gujarat, talk-
g with some artist o1 wiiter As he came out, he would
slip his letter 1n her hand and with a sigh climb the stairs

This eould not go on for long The pamn in Munshi’s
head gradually mecreased The might before Atilakshmi
left for Broach, Munshi could not sleep The day after
she left, he felt feverish As he returned from the Court,
he collapsed with high fever

For two days Lalavati, Manukaka and Shankarlal
nursed him, on the third day Tapibehn and Atilakshmi
retuined to Bombay As soon as he got rid of the fever,
he took them to Matheran

‘While at Matheran, mother and son had a frank talk.
Tapibehn, living at Broach, had heard all sorts of rumours:
how her son was wasting money after gay pursuits, how he
was lavishing gifts on Lalavat:, how he was not helping
his sister and her children It was not proper, she admoni-
shed him
. Munsh: felt deeply hurt Fuirst, he rendered her a
complete account of his earnings and expenditure As a
matter of fact, all the accounts were kept by Atilakshmi
herself with the help of a clerk, for, in spite of his large
mecome, Munshi has never reconciled himself to looking
after his own financial affairs, he would look after every-
body else’s, but not his own He told his mother, how his
sister, brother-in-law and their children, who were Living
with him, were being looked after, and the latter’s educa-
cation provided

Then Munshy told her about his relations with Lala-
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vati from the very beginning He still remembers what he
then told his mother ‘‘Ba,’’ he said, ‘“What shall T do?
If T give up Lala, I will not be able to Iive If I forsake
Lakshmi, remoise will drive me to death Take a fool, I
had thought that Iula would be my partner i Iiterary
efforts and Lakshmi, i my life, and that Iike Mahadevj,
I shall Iive happily with both Parvati and Ganga But
now I know that my life has been poisoned Love comes
to all as an exeiting joy, a pleasant experience To me,
however, 1t has come 1 a form worse than death It has
come scorching everything with its pestilential breath,
destroying my peace and happmness ”’

Next day (29-10-23) he received a letter from Lala-
vat1 full of hope This had, curlously enough, a depress-
mg effect on Munshi He replied ‘‘I had a peculiar
dream mnight before last I could not sleep I was sad
and had a head-ache I dreamt that we had gone to
Andher: in the car For a time we followed a glow-worm
on the road to Andheir Then we sat down on the road
Do you remember the last act of the Hernana. When
people came 11 search of us, two corpses were found lying
on the road Then Undivided Soul had reached the In-
finite > This 1dea developed a lhittle later, and a swcide
pact appears to have been ciscussed and given up

Ultimately as the tortuie became unbearable, Munshi
decided to efface himself fiom society He resolved to give
up worldly life and retire to Malsar near Chandod on the
Narmada In his college days he had once been there, and
had a vivid memory of 1ts peaceful atmosphere and the
sonorous peal of the temple bells which seemed to call him
But Atilakshm: was m a delicate state of health, so Munshi
decided to postpone his departure till her confinement was
over

In the meantime, he made preparatléns to renounce
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the world Ha drafted a trust deed on December 28, settl-
mg whatever he had on his wife and children This was at
Broach where he had followed Atilakshmi and the children
to celebrate his birthday On their return to Bombay,
Munshi re-diafted the trust deed, but was careful not to
mention anything to Atilakshmi But she had a premoni-
tion and could not even bear to see him out of sight TIn
February, she gave birth to a still-boin child, this was
followed by puerperal fever, the best physicians of Bom-
bay could render no help She died a week later
When Atilakshmi died, Munshi was broken-hearted
‘When looking through her papeis, he found one, to which
M&nshl refers 1 the following terms
*‘She left a curious message for me During our
visit to Europe, or sometime thereafter, she had pour-
ed out her heart on paper and kept 1t with the flowers
which I had gathered from Shelley’s tomb and given
her This message ran
‘¢ ‘Beloved Sea, You brought me to your shores
and calmed my rushing heart At the same time,
you rendered me helpless, broke my strength Be-
loved, did you not consider even for a moment what
tribulations I had to undergo m bemg born so that
I may be yours? I had to break through the moun
tam to come out He dashed me to ground But I
did not care for it, and ran to come to you as fast as
I could Rushing forward to meet you, T uprooted
trees that came m my way I even destroyed their
flowers I even killed the human beings who crossed
my path I brushed aside whoever came m my way
and came to you But, O King of the Seas, you
remamed unmoved You did not shower on me even
one of your surgmg waves If you had sent towards
me but one caressing wave, I would have remained
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happy m 1ts memory Beloved, did you want to test
me ?’

““God! Who was I so earthy to test her? This,
the purest of satis invited the test heiself

‘If I have always worshipped Rama by thought,
deed and word, O Mother Eairth, open up gnd recelve
me ’

““These words were spoken not only bv Sita,
they were proclaimed through the life of a woman of
this materialistic iron age

““When I think of her loyalty, my heart is stirred
by deepest 1eveience I mnever came across such a
wonderful example of self-surrender

‘‘Fate has a crude and 1uthless sense of humour
Oh God!' when I read this‘touching letter, I felt as
1f my heart was breaking I spent a Life-time 1n
thinking of ‘Devi’ But she, in whom I could never
see the ‘Devi’ became a Devi in fact by her
sublime self-immolation Lakshmi gave me every-
thimg , I gave her everything but love This I could
not give her But ever-thuisting for 1it, she lived
She gave me the gift of Iife and left Oh God, why I
was made so0?

““Of the three noble women who shaped my life,
she was by far the noblest She lived but for me,
she died with my name on her hps Dying, she gave
me a new Iife ”’
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SELF-APPOINTED OUTLAWS

AT the age of thirty-six, Munsh: was left with four children
to look after Tapibehn was old To add to lus misery,
proposals for marriage started coming i Munshy natu-
rally refused them with as much grace as he could muster

By the end of April, Munshi took his mother and
children to Mahabaleshwar Soon after Ialavat: went to
Panchgam to have her daughter, Bala, admitted to a resi-
dential school From Panchgani they came to Mahabalesh-
war and for a time she took the care of Munshi’s children:
off the shoulders of Tapibehn

At this time Inlavati*was i great difficulties Her hus-
band’s business, once very flourishing, was on the verge of
msolveney She did not want any money from him for
herself, but wanted him to provide for the education of
their daughter, Bala

One day after her return to Bombay, she told him
frankly that unless he provided for Bala, by setthng some
property on her, she would not give him the key of the safe
deposit vault He replhied ‘I shall order the darwan
to foree you to give up the keys ’’> The manager, Shankar-
prasad, was there, He ran to Munshi and said that the
Seth was very angry and might do anything, so would
Munsh: please induce Lalavat: to give up the key

Munshi called her up to his flat and requested her to
give the keys to her husband, as for Bala, he promised that
either he would get her father to settle some property on
her 1n trust, or would provide for her himself ‘‘You are
taking care of my children, why shouldn’t I do the same
for vours,”’ he said

She threw away the key but immediately decided to
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move out of her husband’s house All these yvears she had
agreed to live 1n the house for the sake of his social pres-
tige, but only on one understanding, that her dignmity and
mdependence were respected, otherwise she would have
jomed the Gandhi-Ashram eight years agco However, be
had now gone back on his words and had insulted her by
threatening that he would let loose his darwan on her So
she left the house, decided not to return there again

Munsh: was now faced with the new problem of find-
mg a surtable residence for Iilavati Some of his friends
refused to give her asylum They were afraid of jeopar-
dising their social standing by helping a woman who had
left her husband’s house TUltimately, a kind friend who
looked on ILalavat: as a sister let her the ground floor of
his bungalow at Santa Cruz She, moved there on the
next day alone Her husband would not allow her daugh-
ter to go with her

Money was the next problem She had never accept-
ed any money for herself from her husband, and she would
not take anything from Munshi either She firmly clung
to her {ndependence mspite of all Munshi’s entreaties to
be allowed to help her TUltimately she agreed to accept
the paid post of Assistant Editor of the Gujarat From
the next day she began to attend the Gujarat office from
eleven to five

One mntimate friend advised Munshi  “‘Munshi, 1t 1s
not sufficient to be moral, 1t 15 necessary to be so circums-
pect that soclety accepts you as such You are rumning your
reputation ”’

Munsh: retorted ‘“What 1s society? One of our
friends every evenming gets down at Gamdevi (near the red
light district of Bombay) and returns home at ten An-
other respectable gentleman, happily married, has present-
ed a bungalow to a certamn lady Please do not judge me
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by these standards Here 1s a lady whom I respect, I am
not ashamed to tell the woirld of my relations with her, T
do not want to hide them ”’ N
* Rumowms reached the ears of Munshi that Talavaty’y
family was planning to remove her by foree from hei houge
at Santa Cruz and take her away to Ahmedabad or some-
vwhere else where she would be kept in seclusion Thg
caused serlous anxiety to Munshi and Ialavati  As a last,
1esort Munshi arranged that she should join the Convent
School at Panchgani, a hill station near Bombay, where,
at anv rate, she would be immune fiom such attentions v’
Munshi and Ialavat: were now planning their future
They had no intention to plan a Iife without each other,
nor was there any prospect of their being fiee to marry’
fo1 vears and years, 1f both happened to live so long  They'
theaiefore, made an elaborate plan according to which Iala-,
vat1 was to pass her Cambridge School Ceirtificate Exam-
nation, proceed to England, qualify for the Bai, and prac-
tise at the Oiiginal Side Bai where Munshi was now a
leading Counsel
During all this time Tapibehn, now n Bonﬁoav, was
watchmg her son’s mterest with an anxious eye At-
lakshmi’s young children wete not keepmg well m Bom-
bay Tapibehn, therefore, decided that they should take,
a house at Panchgani where she would live with her grand-
children Lalavat: would also live with them and continue
with her studies
+ Early i 1925, a house was rented at Panehgani and
Tapibehn and the children shifted there Ialavati, now
studying at the Convent, also came to live with them There
1s little doubt that behind Tapibehn’s generous decision to
give a happy asylum to Lilavat: there was also the inten-
ctom of rubbing off her angularities and makmg her a ht
wife for her son whenever that ewent occurred
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Though they were planning for an inchoate future,
1t was also Munshi’s mtention that Lalavati should be a
mother to his children He therefore desired that she and
the little children should come together In his letters,
therefore, he often instructed her how to look after this
or that child, how to satisfy the faney of one or the other
c¢hild  And when Munshi came to Panchgani almost every
week-end—Bombay to Panchgani is rather a strenous
journey —he found to his satisfaction that they were all
Iiving as a happy family The result of this experiment
was unique For i the Munsh: family there 1s a com-
plete absence of those mental barriers that separate children
of different parents

‘““Whenever I went to Panchgani’’, writes
Munshi, ‘‘mother would place Lila at the head of the
table and ask her to piepare the menu All of us
then would go out together for walks After dinner,
mother would sit down with het pun  The children
would dance and sing the garbe Lila would play
on the harmomium and I on the tabla Sometimes
I sang my old favouirite songs and Lila accompanied
me on the harmonium DMother would take an active
mterest and say, ‘Lilabehn, now sing some of Mira-
bai’s Bhajans Bhair likes them ’

‘“Mother arranged our affairs with wonderful
tact She took care to see that her son did not slip
fiom the path of stizet rectitude She not only
Iived for him she was the guardian-goddess presid-
mg over his Iife  ‘Bhai, how long can you contmue
Iike this?’ mother would sometimes ask ‘So long
as 1t 15 His wall,” T would reply

‘‘My 1dealism however helped me I have a firm
belief that ideals can be realised only when we, do
not seek satiety This convietion came to my help



112 MUNSHI HIS ART AND WORK

If I lowered myself, I felt the 1deal for which I was
living would be shattered, the day-dreams of ‘Dev1’
would fall to pieces But the ‘Dewi’ had complete
hold over me and I could never ignore her ’’
Munsh: ' was particularly solicitous about his mother
and children In a letter to Lalavati (29-3-25) he writes
““I have received both your letters Do mnot
hesitate to assist mother 1n every way you can
Write to me whatever you feel about 1t, there 1s
nothing wrong i that But in no event should you
wound my mother’s susceptibilities You should
accommodate yourself to her She has done so much
for me that her shightest wish should be respected
I am constantly thinking about the children You
should not neglect your health, at the same time you
must see that the children do not cease to love you
Today I was thinking how the colour of my Ilife has
changed smce you came mto 1t Mother 1s happy
and peaceful The children are 1eceiving proper
education I am deep m the study of literature and
‘Miss Inspiration,’ 1s progressmg all round—Enghsh,
French, piano, belles-lettres, badminton, table-tennis,
and domestic work, etc I have a feeling that at
this rate you will make such progress that by compa-
rison, I may appear a wretched old man When that
happens, please spare a merciful glance for me ’’
‘After June, 1925’7 Munsh1 wiites, ‘‘our letters as-
sumed a new form We admitted without any reserve
that we belonged to each other I was convinced that we
were going to live together and so we discussed thread-
bare our future ’’ )
During this time Munshi’s piractice at the bar was
rising fast The affairs of the Sahitya Samsad mn Gujarat
engrossed his attention Some of his finest writings
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belong to this period But in Bombay, he was alone and
without friends, grimly fighting a world which was trying
to break him by a conspiracy of calumny Munshi kept
his head high, his lips closed and he worked hard He
knew that 1f ever he received a setback in his suecessful
career society would not hesitate to dance on his dead
body

Munshi writes

‘“‘Even the Bar Libraiv which 1s generally gener-

ous m such matters was highly critical 1 dared

not stand near a gossiping table lest a vulgar joke

be cracked at my expense which would make me mad

with 1ndignation  Few knew the self-denying

ordmnances I had mmposed upon myself and what I

suffered because of them But the worst came from

my friend and Guru, Bhulabhai, who, with the liberty

of a boss, indulged in 11bald jokes about me I

could mnot escape him, I could not hit back, I was

meclined to shout back in anger, but I never forgot

that years and years ago, as an obscute, helpless,

young lawyer, I had come to his chamber and sat at

his feet to learn the art of law ”’

One day mn Febiuary 1925, Munshi’s great friend
Manukaka and his wife came to him seriously perturbed

‘““People are saymg all kinds of things about you
They suspect you,”’ said Manukaka

‘“You are wrong They do not suspect me They are
positive that T am gwilty of flagrant immorality So there
is nothing to worry about,”” Munshi replied

“I am asking my husband to forece you to realise
that the situation 1s becoming intolerable It hurts even
to hear the things that are being said about you,”” said
Mrs Manubhai

Munsh: reassured her. ‘‘Please do not worry I am



114 MUNSHI HIS ART AND WORK

not worried about i1t myself Fellows who have found no
joy mn life are enjoymng 1t vieariously by talking about
us 2

There was another friend but of a different class That
morning Mangaldas Desai came He was enquring after
Bala

‘““Her father will not give her to us,”” Munshi said.
“What can I do?”’

‘‘Bxcept yourself, Munshi, Tnlabehn has no friend m
the world ”’

“I know ”’

‘“So when the time comes, don’t Iike a coward refuse
to marry her ’’

““That time 1s fa1, far away,”” Munshi 1ephed “‘But
when 1t arrives, believe me, I shall not back out Of
course, 1f she refuses me, then there would be no help ”’

And thus Lilavat: was virtnally an outcast Munshi
single handed fought his social world with the determined
heroism of an unbending outlaw

Lafe at Panchgani, however, was not without its
lighter side Munshi had engaged a poor scholar to col-
lect quotations fiom old hterary manuscripts After
some months the gentleman died suddenly leaving a help-
less widow So Munshi sent her to Panchgam to work
for his mother When the lady arrived in Panchgani, she
suddenly became a ‘grand dame’ She would not be of
anv help whatever She wanted Tapibehn to give her
socks ‘‘I cannot walk a step bare-foot,’’ she used to say
Instead of her serving Tapibehn and the children 1t was
she who demanded thewr services Tapibehn was forced
to look after her comfort Sne even went about ordermg
the children She also developed the habit of complaining
about everything i the house At first the children en-
joyed her airs and tantrums, but very soon she became
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a nwsance At last and with considerable difficulty,
Munshi induced her to go back to her village, but he con-
tinued to help her financially

13
‘INTERLAKEN’ COME

Ix October, 1925, Munshi puichased the ‘Rubv Villa,” at
Panchgani, had 1t 1eparred and renamed 1t ‘Guivilas ’° [t
was to be their home, toen asylum durmg the long stretch
of uncertain years which extended before them, their
‘Golden Heaven’ as Munshi called 1t

In spite of his mecreasing work and personal strain,
Munsh: became interested in the election to the Senate
of the Bombay University, which were to be held in Nov-
ember 1925 Munshi decided to contest it In order to
secure the necessary support he undertook a prolonged
tour 1 different .parts of the Bombay Presidency as it
then was When he wisited Baroda, for the College at
which as he had and still has a stiong attachment, he met
Sir Manubhai Nandashankar Mehta, at that time Diwan
of the State, and discussed with him the question of estab-
lishing a University for Gujarat Sn Manubhai arranged
for Munshi an interview with Maharaja Sir Sayajirao
Gaekwad to whom he explained the scheme The same
evening Munshi gave a lecture on the need for a university
for Gujarat Thus was born the idea which has now
blossomed into three Universities the foundation of which
Munshi has been associated with

His talk with Sir Sayajirao Gaekwad resulted in
the appommtment of the first Baroda University Commis-
sion, of which Munshi was a member In 1942, Munshi
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became the Chairman of the Second University Commis—
sion which planned the present Baroda Umiversity

From Baroda, Munshi went to Poona and then to
Broach and Ahmedabad Everywhere he received enthu-
siastic support Professor Balvantrao Thakur, the well-
known poet of Gujarat wrote to one of his friends, ‘‘Guja-
rat cannot put forward a stronger candidate than Munshi ’

On January 5, 1926, Munsh: was elected to the Senate
of the University This election had a special influence
on his future career Immediately he was elected, he
threw himself heart and soul into 'all the activities of the
University

By February, 1926, Munsh: was on several committees
of the University In February 1926 he spoke m the Senate
for the first time defymng the advice of his friend, Prof
Balvantrao Thakur, that he should for the first three years
wateh and weigh things as, the old man said, University
education 1s a very difficult matter It was the fitst meet-
g of the Senate after his election and he wrote to Lalavat:
that evening

‘“Today I spoke for the fitst time 1 the Senate.
‘What I said was highly appreciated and they listened
to me attentively You will read about 1t i the
‘Times * *’

In February, 1926, Munshi was elected to the Gujaratr
Board of Studies i the Umnwversity TIn 1927 Munshi
was elected to represent the University of Bombay on the
Bombay Legislative Counecil, a privilege which he enjoy-
ed till the elections of 1946 His activities in the Bombay
Legislative Counecil brought him mto direet contact with
the Baidoli Campaign, with Mahatma Gandh: and Sardar
Patel

In a short while Munshi came to be prommently as-
sociated with all the activities of the University In this
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way he obtained a keen imsight mmto the problems of high-
er education m India In the Legislative Council, as we
shall see, he helped the Education Minister to prepare
and pilot the Bombay University Bill in 1928

The planets 1n their mercy however were planning a
sudden change 1 the Iife for Munshi

‘When Ialavat: left her husband’s home she had left
her only child, Bala, behind The father would not part
with her and ILalavati, venturing out into the wilderness
of Iife, did not want to rum her daughter’s future At
the same time, she was torn with anxiety for the little
girl who had been her only solace Her anxiety became
more acute as the business of Bala’s father went from
bad to worse axd the girl was beimng brought up in utter
neglect

One day, m October, 1925, Munshi, on making en-
quries, found that Bala had a severe attack of fever
Lalavat1 came down from Panchgani, and the fever hav-
g been diagnosed as typhoid, Bala was transferred to a
hospital For two months Lilavat: stayed in the hospital,
nursimg her morning, noon and night When Bala had
recovered, Lilavati was anxious to take heir to Panchgani,
but her father would not agree She, therefore, brought
her daughter to his house and returned to Panchgani
She had decided not to resume her old life, and, under no
cireumstances, would she do so now As a result of her ab-
sence from Panchgani for two months, she lost the chance
of appearmmg in her Cambridge examination that year

Munshi also felt responsibility for Bala, 1f he had to
make 'the mother happy he could not mnegleet the child.
He therefore, tried to do his best to look after Bala In
a letter to Lulavati he wrote .

‘“‘Bala 1s well Jadibehn and Lata (Munshi’s
sister and daughter) went to see her yesterday She
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has recovered her normal health I suggested her

visiting Panchgan1 for a change Lalbhai replied,

‘I haven’t the money to purchase waim clothes for

her ° He 1s thinking of sending her to Ahmedabad

for fear that I would take her away ”

Within two weeks Munshi was writing agam
(14 11 25) -

T have succeeded m inducing Bala’s father te
execute a trust deed for her  Lalbhai, Bala and
Shankarlal came to see me Bala 1s now completely
recovered Lalbhai 18 extremely weak and climbed
the stairs with great difficulty He proposed the
tiust Bala will get the property when she 1s
thirty-five mstead of five years lafer You are to
recelrve Rs 7,000/- which would revert to Bala after
your re-marriage or death, to which I added a third
claugse ‘or if you decline to accept 1t ° Lalbha1 feels
that his days are numbered ”’

Suddenly Lalbhar was taken 11l and died on January
11 and soon compelling reasons forced Munshi and ILala-
vat1 to hasten their marriage

‘When Munshi received the news of Lalbhai’s sudden
death, his first thought was of Bala He rushed to their
house and mmduced the step-brother and one of Bala’s
trustees to send her to her mother at Panchgani The
step-brother took the view that now that Bala’s father
was dead, her mother would return to Ahmedabad, at any
rate for the ceremonial mourning period and bring back
his step-sister

It does not appear that Munsh: was thinking of mar-
riage yet, for a few days later he was writing to Ialavat:
ST hope Bala has ariived safely Today I have made
1t clear to the step-brother that she is not returning from
Panchgani even 1if you are not there Next year you may
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have to go to England for higher studies, mm which case
she will have to stay with mother He has agreed '™*

But the problem of Bala soon became acute Munshi
writes m his Autobiography that Ialavati as the widow
was expected to go to Ahmedabad for the ceremonial
mournimmg However, she had broken off all relations with
her husband’s people and was not gomg to do anything
of this sort -

Her not going to Ahmedabad would immediately
lead to complications The brother would not tolerate the
step-sister living with her mother who did not even come
for the mourning ceremony His natural anxiety would
be to claim the custody of his step-sister, to bring her up
m his own way and marry her immto his own communitv

Anxiously Munsh: thought about this If the step-
brother demanded Bala’s custody no 1esistance was pos-
sible  He could easilv go to court, make an allegation
agamnst Linlavat:i that she was living with Munsh: and she
would, i the normal course, never be given the child’s
custody At the same time, 1f the step-brother was given
custody of the Iittle gul, she would be brought up m
utter neglect without education and married at an early
age The absence of her mother would always be a stigma
on the poor child and her future would be in danger
And 1f she was miserable, Munsh: was sure that Lalavat
would continue to be miserable for the rest of her Iife

““There was only one way out” writes Munshi

mm his Autobiography ““‘If we got married none

could take Bala away from us At the same time,

1f we married at once society would tear us to pleces

But should we lose Bala or take up the challenge

(of society) I made up my mind and wrote to Lila
as follows —

* Ttahes mme AXKM
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‘Now about you You may think that T am
making too many terms and issuing orders in the
fashion of a Napoleon! Within three months you
will have to recoup your health and brighten wup
your Enghsh Give up studymg mathematics and
dismiss the teacher, they are proving burdensome
to you I want to have a frank talk with mother
If people know that we are gomng to.marry there
will be a storm You had better tell Sister Stain-
slaw that you will have to leave Panchgani for pri-
vate reasons From now on please concentrate on
studyimng English  Discharge the Pandit, appoint
someone else to g1ve you morning lessons m English
conversation

‘Now for the programme I shall come to Panch-
gan1 m February You will have to come here on
March 15 for the Parishad Meeting

*Interlaken’ will come on the 4th April

““On the 5th Mr and Mrs Munsh: will be At
Home to the President of the Parishad The Court#
closes for the vacation on the 12th, after which we:
go to Darjeeling or Kashmir for a month and a half
Before that we shall be at Panchgani with mother
and the children for a week I know I am rushing
you Perhaps you may be frightened But we have
suffered enough We are not gomng to undergo suf-
fermmg any longer out of regard for social conven-
tions No one has given us credit for anything and
no one will do 1t any way ”’

Munsh1 discussed this very difficult problem with his

mother She immediately agreed to the idea of his marry-
ing Ialavati early This for an orthodox Brahman widow

* Evidently theiwr wvisit to Interlaken had associations with

them and the word was always referred to indicate marriage
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of seventy was an act of generosity, which has scarcely
a parallel She however only made two conditions firstly,
that the marriage should be performed aceording to Hindu
rites, secondly, that after marriage, as 1s usual m themr
family, Munsh: should take Lilavat: to Broach and wor-
ship the family deity She also consulted an astrologer.
One of Munshi’s nieces was very 11l and she was not hkely
to recover If she died, 1t would be inauspicious to per-
form the marriage for a month She, therefore, gave him
the choice of having the marriage performed m February
or after April

Munshi had to fix the earher date. Februaiy 15th,
because he had heard that Bala’s step-brother had already
an mklme of the coming marrmage and was preparing
te claim her custody before that took place  Infor-
mation also reached Munshi that his life was in danger
and he carried a loaded 1evolver with ham wherever he
went

During this eritical period of Munshi’s life, his
mother stood by him like a rock

‘““Even as I write now,”” Munshi1 wiites in his Auto-
biography, ‘‘I cannot think of ‘that wonderful mother,
sage and loving, without worshipful affection She blessed
our marriage, she had the courage to tread the path of
truth regardless of what others might say When we
were aetu‘a.lly discussing the arrangements of the mar-
riage, she suggested ‘I have been to you both a father
and a mother, I shall therefore issue mwvitations under
my signature and invite all our friends and relatives We
are not domg anything shameful ° In her wise way she
thus put the seal of her sanction on this, the most unortho-
dox of marriages ’’

But the wedding date had to be kept a seecret A
. friend had hls&honse pamnted and made preparations for
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a party on the pretext that he was giving a reception
because he had recently been made a Justice of the Peace
The invitations were posted late at night on Sunday, so
that people would only receive them after the 10 o’clock
post on Monday, the day of the wedding

On Monday morning, Tapibehn, Talavati and children
arrived 1 Bombay As Munshi was well known mm Bom-
bay society, two thousand guests came to attend the
wedding without knowing who the bride was It was a
piece of calculated defiance of social canons m which the
leading men and women of Bombay suddenly found them-
selves

The ceremony was over, the visitors depaited and
relations and peisonal friends were left behind and quite
a few hilarious speeches were delivered Next day, the
Bombay Samachar, the leading Gujarat: daily, came out
with a ten-column description of the marriage The Sub-
editor who happened to be 1n the family party evidently
took down every word of the speeches made by Munshi’s
friends The 1ssue burst almost like a bomb in certain
cireles, and 1t was difficult, almost impossible, to get a
copy of the Bombay Samachar even for a rupee mn Bom-
bay In Ahmedabad, 1t was said, a copy was sold for
as much as Rs 25/-

Concluding the deseription of the marriage, Munshi
writes 1 his autobiography — .

““Thus ends the story of our marriage We came
from different places, we belonged to different castes,
by accident, we came together and were mutually
attracted  We saw the vision of our Undivided
Soul and became friends and a literary partnership
sprang up between us Our journey to Europe was
without parallel even m fiction For all this, we
had to suffer We defied society, let our reputation
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be mutilated and were, at all times, prepared to lose
everything Struggling against heavy odds, we felt
exhausted when we set up our ‘golden heaven’ at
Panchgani And we lived happily ever after, as hap-
pens only in crudely construed novels

‘“Had the end not come this way, 1f our
love had met a tragic end future poets might have
sung of our love, and young girls would have re-
garded us as the pole-star of their destiny How
was this dream realised? It was due first to Lala I
found that without her T ecould never be happy, she
was willing and ever determined to take the place
I gave her m my heart In doing so, she threw her
reputation to the wmds, gave up home and whatever
security she had, surrendeired comfoits, left her only
child and Iived in a strange house

‘“When she came to Panchgani, she had left
everything behind She did not even stop to consider
what would happen to her i1f I ever became tired of
her or 1f I died Such thoughts never crossed her
mind even for a moment She gave me all she had,
never dreamt of the possibility of bemng separated
and never wished to Iive except with me and for me,
though she was at all times free to act according to
her conscience And never did she wish to stray from
the strict path we had chalked out for ourselves

““The second reason was the large-heartedness of
mother She was a great woman I was her very
Iife She did for me what no other mother would
have done in her old age She understood me as
no one else could have done After Lakshmi’s death,
she again took over the management of the family
affairs In her quiet, shrewd way, she put ILaila’s
loyalty to test She often told me, with 1are idea-
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lism, that I should not think of marrymg anyone
else and wait She adopted Iala as a daughter and
co-operated with me 1 preparing the ‘golden heaven’
and to become 1ts presiding genius She looked after
my children and when Bala, then a problem child,
came to us, enveloped her with the same care and
affection

‘‘BEven after our marriage, her affectionate caie
brightened our life Whenever she could, she pro-
tected me from the unpleasantness to which I had
been otherwise exposed At the same time, she rais-
ed around Lila and me such a high wall of idealism
that, durmmg the most critical period of our life, we
stood strong in our unity and yet never lapsed into
untruth

‘“Mother has been the guardian goddess of my
life



PART II
MUNSHI THE LAWYER






1
ENROLLED AS AN ADVOCATE

TrE Munshis of Broach had, m every generation, more
than one lawyer at any 1ate during the last few genera-
tions At one time, at the beginning of the mineteenth
century, there were not less than eleven members of that
large famly connected with the profession of law and
revenue collection Munshi’s gieat-grandfather, Karson-
das Munsh:, was a distinguished lawyer, who, for some
time, was Government pleader of the Sadai Court at Surat
and later the Sadai-Ameen, what we now call Civil Judge,
of Thana, then a position of gieat standing Narbheram,
the grandfather, was also a lawver  Munshi's father,
Maneklal, served i the 1evenue depairtment risimmg to the
iank of Deputy Collector and there were at the time not
less than five or six lawyers in the family
Maneklal’s eldest biother, Parshuram, followed the
ancestral profession of law The story of how he rode to
Bombay on a horse and obtammed the coveted sanad of a
High Court pleader has been set down bv Munshi as nar-
rated to him by his uncle
““The day before I started for Bombay for my
examination, our munim staited ahead i a bullock-
cart I followed on horseback Bha: (Grandfather)
had sent men in advance to arrange for my reception
at the different towns on the wav Every arrange-
ment was perfect and wherever I went, I 1eceived a
hearty welecome and a good feast
“‘ After some days I 1eached Bombay and put up
with Dhirajlal Mathurdas, a great friend of Bhai’s
He was the Government pleader i the High Court,
as you know
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““Dhirajlal Airst enquired of me about the welfare
of the different members of the family He then said

“ ‘Look here, Parshu, I shall take you to the
Chief Justice tomorrow I hope you aire ready with
your answers ’
“‘Don’t worry, Kaka,”’ was my reply ‘I will
answer all your questions I am an expert in answer-
mg questions But don’t ask me difficult ones’

““The next day we proceeded to the High Court,
Dhirajlal m a palanquin and myself on horse-back
After some time I was called into the presence of the
Chief Justice, who was seated on a big chair in the
majesty of wig and gown I saluted him respectfully.

“‘Dharajlal had some conversation with the Chief
Justice in English about me The Chief Justice then
asked him  ‘Does the candidate know what is the
law of mortgage?’

““Dhirajlal then turned to me and asked in
Gujarati  ‘Parshuram Munshi, are you married?’

““T promptly answered 1n the affirmative Dhiray-
lal told the Chief Justice that I knew all about the
mortgages

¢“ ‘Ask him what 1s the equity of redemption,’
the Chief Justice said to Dhirajlal

““Dhunajlal agam tuined to me and asked
Gujarati ‘How many persons were mvited on the
occasion of your marriage feast and what were the
dishes served?’

¢ “Sir, there were three dishes of sweets,” I
rephed and described the menu

‘“ ‘That 1s enough,” said Dhirajlal to me and
tmined to the Chief Justice with a smile ‘My Lord,
the answer 15 correct,” he saxd ‘It must be correct
He comes from a lawyers’ family His father 1s &
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lawyer, his grandfather was a lawyer The Munshis
suck m law with their mothers’ milk ’

““The Chief Justice smiled He took a big quill
pen, dipped 1t mto a huge mkpot and signed the
sanad which lav near him His Lordship then hand-
ed over to me I saluated as humbly as I could,
gathered up the sanad and marched out triumphantly
from the Court

Another uncle of Ius, well-known m the Gujarat of
that day, Hardevaram-—called ‘Adhubhai’—Munshi, was
the colleague and friend of two other well-known lawyers,
Narbheram Thakore and Harilal Setalvad Ewdently,
there was something in the doectrine of ‘‘sucking law with
the mother’s milk’’ For, the nephew of ‘Adhubhai’
Munshi, Harilal Setalvad’s son and grandson, Sir Chiman-
lal Setalvad and Sr1 Motilal Setalvad, and Narbheram
Thakore’s son, Sr1 Govindlal Thakore, have all been dis-
tmeguished lawyers

In March 1907 young Munshi, with the Degree of
Bachelor of Arts as his only woildly eguipment, arrived
m_Bombay to have his first taste of law On arrival he
made straight for Sr1 Krishnalal Jhaveri, (now Dewan
Bahadur), a friend of the familv, who was the only influen-
tial mdividual m Bombay then known to him Sri1 Jhaveri
was until then practising mn the High Court and had just
been appommted a Judge in the Small Causes Court He
gave him a note of recommendation to Si1 Dinshaw (later
Sir Dinshaw) Mulla who was then Principal of the Law
College The first experience of law ended m a disappoint-
ment 1 as much as the Principal expressed his regret for
not granting the young aspwant the necessary term.
Young Munshi then returned to Broach

In June 1907 Munshi agamn eame to Bombay to pro-
secute hig law studies After some interval, when he stay-



130 MUNSHI HIS ART AND WORK

ed as a guest of a relative, he tried to settle down i
Kandewad1, 1n Bombay, by approaching the Trustees of
Kanji Khetsey Chawl for a room, but his request was
turned down at first as he had no womanfolk to come and
iive with him One of the Trustees, on hearing his sur-
name, however, asked him 1f he was a relative of ‘Adhu-
bhai’ Munshi who was for sometime the Receiver of the
Dakore Temple On bemng assured that he happened to
be the nephew of ‘Adhubhai,’ the Trustees directed the
Bhaiyya to give this nephew of the famous lawyer a decent
room without the guarantee which the presence of a wife
ensured The incident 1s important because 1n his first
approach to Bombay life, young Munsh1 eame across two
institutions—the Kanji Khetsey Trust and the Dakore
Temple—with which in later years he not only came into
close contact but was responsible for their development to
a considerable extent

During this early period Sri Dalpatram Shukla, who
later became a solicitor of the Bombay High Court, and
Sr1 Pranlal Munshy later a lawyer of Baroda, and a leader
of the local Praja Mandal, were his constant companions.:
In between his legal studies, he spent much of the time 1n
the Petit Inbrary or in political discussions or long walks
at Chowpatty interspersed with wvisits to Gujaratr and
Urdu theatres which at that time happened to be the high-
lights of the Bombay entertainment world

The most :mportant intellectual influences on Munshi’s
mind durmg this perod were the Giia whose verses he had
made a practice of memorising and reciting and the works
of Carlyle About the latter he wrote in his diary
““Carlyle has become my best companion He has given
me considerable confidence ”’

In July 1910, Munshi passed his LL B examination
On the 22nd of the month he came to Bombay to receive
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his law degree He went to see Sr1 Manchhashankar, a
brother of Sr1 Jamietram, the latter was the founder of
the solicitors’ firm of Messrs Matubhar Jamietram and
Madan While Munshi was with Manechhashankar, a well
groomed gentleman peeped i and greeted the latter The
young man went away after bidding Manchhashankar
goodnight The latter turned towards Munshi and said,
‘“See, this 1s fate, you do not know him, he 1s Bhulabha:
Desai, onece a professor at Ahmedabad, now an advocate
earning about Rs 4,000 a month This fellow has never even
been to Burope Why don’t you become an advocate like
him 27’

By sheer aceident Si1 Bhulabhai enteied m the life of
the young lawyer and indirectly contributed 1n a large
degree to his future wav m Iife Munshi records this acci-
dental meeting 1 his immimitable style  ““Can this be called
an accident?’”’ he asks ‘‘Bhulabhai and I have alwavs
been chamned together, willy-nilly, Iike two stars equi-
cdistant and yet mear, roaming 1 the limitless sky—-
separate from each other and yet jommed together bv a
magnetic force 7’

In October 1910 Munshi decided to go 1 for the Ad-
vocate’s Examination Writing to a friend at that time he
complams, as all other piospective advocates must have
done, that 1t was tiresome to have to keep on staring at the
robed barristers and lawyers , The whole affair, he
grumbled, seemed futile!

The lLiterary coterie of Sri Chandrashankar Pandya
came to consider the young lawyer as their chief piide and
m 1912 young Munshi began to take an imecreasmgly large
part 1 the debates and discourses held under the auspices
of the Students’ Brotherhoood During this year, the
Brotherhood advertised its mntention to give the Motiwala
Prize for the best essay on ‘‘The Theory and Practice of
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Social Service > Munsh: had the satisfaction of recerving
the coveted medal from the hands of Ladv Ratan Tata
amidst the applause of Sr1 Chandrashankar and his friends
Many were the opportunities that he got i debates and
meetings to cultivate a habit of marshalling facts and argu-
ments on social reform and of propounding propositions, m
both of which fields Munshi 1n later years, was to excel
before the Bench

But the natual .diffidence, boin of mofussil breeding
and atmosphere, had not yet entirely vanished In
February 1913, Munshi1 appeared for the Advocate’s Exa-
mination Writing then to one of his friends he says
““There 1s Iittle hope of success, weak health, weaker still
was the preparation > Agam, he writes ‘‘Questions
were fair, so were the answers, but there are such stuidv
candidates that they are sure to beat me ”’

In March he went for the first time to Matheian, which
has since then become his second home Theire he enjoved
Nature’s lavish green foliage, and wrote ‘‘Came to
Matheran  The journey was delightful The earth’s
beauty 1s alluring Panorama Pomnt 1s grand Fiom there
a marvellous view greets the eye >’ In his Autobiography
he speaks of his first visit to Matheran with great fervour
¢“T saw a mountamn for the first time m my life The thick
fohage of 1its trees, lovely giroves, the twitter of the birds
and the sweet fragrance of wild flowers have constantly
given me quet and inspiration Wandering on its roads,
I have come to many a great decision in my life Even
now T write this Autobiography here ”’

On the 11th of Maich, a telegram arrived in Matheran
bringing the tidings that he had successfully passed
through the great trial Munshi had become an advocate
1 the great and reputed line of Inveraiity, Sir Chimanlal
Setalvad and Sir Jamshedj: Kanga ‘‘I have become an
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advocate,’” he writes m his diary, ¢ doubts, difficulties and
diffidence have vanished *’

The ‘ides of March’ 1913 found young Munshi n
somebody’s borrowed gown and bands bemg enrolled
before Mr Justiese Beaman Messrs Shamrac Minochehar
and Haralal, Solieitors, gave him on that day his first brief
and provided an opportunity for his maiden appearance
Sr1 Jamietram, who was then the most eminent amongst
Hindu Solicitors (and who bossed over them as he did over
his own firm of Messrs Matubhai Jamietram and Madan,)
arranged for the young advocate a chamber 1 a neighbour-
mg atorney’s office on a monthly rent of Rs 15 and did not
forget to give advice characteristic of him not to adjust the
chamber rent agamst fees payable by the attorney The
chamber was worse than a jail room with only a room
and only a roof ventilator for Iight The next room con-
tained old, musty, stinking records, which during the mon-
soon, sent out insects careermg mto the adjoining chamber
of the young lawyer In this cave-like chamber Munshi
spent s waiting period with all the anxieties and tribu-
lations which every junior at the bar has to undergo

Sr1 Jametram apart from bemg an astute attorney,
possessed certain outstanding qualities which would have
stood him 1n good stead m any piofession or oecupation he
would have chosen to follow Wherever he went, he breath-
¢d strength, orderliness and self-confidence and he was a
piullar of stiength to his brother solicitois and clients He
took an amazmg delight 1 mfluencing other people’s lives
During his career as a solicitor, he repaired the broken for-
tunes of many a client

Sr1 Jamietram now commenced taking interest: i
Munsht which meant that he had deecided to take i hand
the entiie legal career of the voung lawyer He and his
mnephew Sr1 Narmadashankar of Messrs Manchershaw and
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Narmadashankar started sending small briefs to Munsh:
Likewise, he also decided that the young lawyer wounld best
devil with Sr1 Bhulabhair Desai, although Munshi, as irony
would have 1t, would rather have jomed Sr1 Jmnah’s
chamber. But Sri Jamietram wultimately prevailed by
merely stating that there would be a variety of thimngs to
learn at Sri Bhulabhai’s

On the 12th of June 1913 Sri Jamietram took the ner-
vous, self-diffident Munshi to Sri Bhulabhai, who had just
returned from England He was duly mtroduced Si:
Bhulabhai smiled 1m the way people who knew him well
can realise, and young Munshi was left to make his way n
the august chamber On the first day the master told the
pupil: “‘Lowndes once told me what I am telling you If
you will be useful to me, I wall Iikewise be useful to you
Come here at about 6-30 1n the evening and meet me when
I am alone here Generally the solicitors do not appreciate
a third man bemg present > Thus ended the first mter-
view between the master and the pupil

2
EARLY DAYS AT THE BAR

FroMm the next day, the life of a fresh advocate started
with its dry and uninteresting routmne Tiake all new-
comers who join the High Court, Munshi used to start from
home at ten 1n the morming, read the whole day, sit m his
cave of a chamber until half-past si1x waiting for the rare
sight of an attorney, and then attend Sr1 Bhulabhai’s cham-
ber, and wait there until his senior was free from the usual
round of consultations. Then with all the rest of the devils,
young Munshr would go in and put a question or two on
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wrelevant matters to attract the attention of the great man.

In July 1913 young Munshi got his first responsible
brief and appeared before Chief Justice Scott i an appeal
from Thana Court Sir Basil Scott was a Judge whe
had not the habit of sailing with a senior counsel. Sir
Basil was imndifferent whether a senior or a jumior appeared
before him To him facts were paramount, personalities
of hittle importance.

‘When young Munshi came to the Court he found to his
great concern that he was beimng opposed by no less a per-
son than the Advocate-General, Sir Thomas Strangman.
Sir Thomas used then to be the terror of the junior Bar,
very often to the Bench as well, and was nclined, like
many a counsel, to mterfere when the other side was argu-
mg Conducting a first case 1s always a nervous affair and
young Munshi fumbled and mis-stated a fact or two TUp
stood Sir Thomas and sneeringly corrected him But Sir
Basil was vigilant and with his eharacteristic severity cried
halt to the Advocate-General ‘‘Mr. Advocate-General,
your inninmgs -are still to come ’’ Sir Thomas felt perplexed
and sat down ‘‘Mr Munshi,’’ the great Judge said, ‘‘you
may now proceed,’’ and proceed he did without any more
untoward meident

A few days later Sri Jamshedji Kanga (later Sir Jam-
shedji and now a doyen of the Bombay Bar) rolled into
the hibrary as he always does (he never walks or strolls
in) and greeted the young advocate ‘‘Are you Munshi?”’
‘““Yes’’, said the thrilled advocate ‘‘You conducted a case
before Scott a few days ago?’” ‘“Yes’’ ‘‘He has formed a
good opinion about you I had a talk with him m the club
He remembered you when he was making appomtments of
law professors but you are so much of a junior *>> Nothing
tangible happened but 1t was heartening to the young
lawyer to be mentioned by a Chief Justice and complh-
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mented by Sr1 Kanga The year rolled on monotonously
with many a day spent in the library interspersed with a
few appeals sent from the mofussil and a few briefs con-
trived by Sr1 Jamietram and his attorney fiiends The
fee book for the year 1913 showed a gross receipt of
Rs 1,150, a figure considered not bad for a fresher

Before he enrolled himself at the Bar, young Munshr
had jomed the Articled Clerks’ Association Amongst the
more well-known men in the Association were Sri Nayan-
suklal Pandya, Si1 Manilal Nanavati, Sr1 B G Kher (later
the Premier of Bombay) and Sri1 Dhanjishah Nanavat:
Sri Pandya passed his Solicitor’s exammation in March
1912 and started his own firm In September of that year
Sr1 Manilal became a solicitor and joined his brother’s.
firm Later on, when Sri Kher became a solicitor in 1918,
Munshi was helpful 1n starting the firm of Messrs Manilal
and Kher The friendly relations which thus commenced
m 1918 remained unbroken till their climax was reached
when Munsh: joined the first Congress Ministry headed by
Sr1 Kher m 1937 About this period Sri Kher became the
secretary of Mr Justice Beamen Owing to some eye
trouble Beamen was not able to see properly, much less
to read Nevertheless, the Judge was both a keen scholar
and an ardent lover of books Sri1 Kher used to read to
him and spend most of his time with the Judge and went
more than once on European tours with him Through
his close friendship with Sr1 Kher, Munshi toe came into
personal contact with the Judge When he appeared
before Beamen J the Judge used to treat him kindly and
gave the young lawyer great eneouragement

It was m Mr Justice Beaman’s Court that young
Munsh: had his first big case on the Original Side An
Uliterate grass merchant had died leaving behind him two
widows, a mistress and a son by the mistress and a fortune
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amounting to five or six lakhs of rupees The case of the
mistress was that she was a legally wedded wife of the de-
ceased and that her son was his legitimate child and heir
of the fortune Young Munsh: was briefed as the junior
of Sr1 Rustom Wadia for the mistress and her son Sri
Rustom Wadia was considered by the attorneys as the
favourite of Mr Justice Beaman and was 1 great demand
m that Court Every morning and evening the solicitor
and the junior counsel used to meet and make preparations
for the impendmg trial  The junior would complan to
the solicitor that there was neither the requisite evidence
nor preparation The solicitor used to counsel patience
and comfort the junior by assuring that everythmg would
be done

One day the junior said that if his chient was a wedded
wife there must be some evidence of marriage The soh-
eitor turned to his clerk and asked where that evidence
was The clerk complacently replied ‘I will bring the
witnesses to-night ’’ ““But 1f the wedding took place,’’
said the counsel ‘‘there must be the mvitation cards, the
priest to perform the wedding >’ ‘‘Oh! yes, that’s true,”’
said the attorney, and turned agam to his clerk inquiring as
to where the evidence was The clerk assured that even that
evidence would be brought the next day When the motley
crowd of witnesses was brought before Sr1 Rustom Wadia,
he turned to his junior saymng that he felt there was some
thing wrong somewhere Anyway the trial commenced;
witness after witness, all of them, needless to say, eye-wit-
nesses of the marriage, went 1n and out of the witness-box,
each narrating the picturesque story in detail to the sur-
prise of the other side TUltimately, the case was, as 1t
happens ‘in all such cases, compromised and the mistress
with the ambition of being styled the legally wedded wafe
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of the grass merchant, received a mot too inconsiderable
amount and so also did the precious heir.

Sr1 H. V. Divatia (later Sir Harsidhbhai Divatia, ex-
Chief Justice of Saurashtra) and one or two other friends
had started practice by now on the appellate side and very
often young Munsh: began to be briefed on the appellate
side 1n several mofussil appeals Some friends mm Surat
and Broach were keen on giving all possible help to him.
A dispute arose about an election i the Rander Muuic-
pality and Munshi was briefed to appear in the Surat Dis-
triet Court When the tramn started for Surat, Munsh
found in the next compartment his old friend Sir Thomas
Strangman who still somewhat terrified the young lawyer.
‘With great bravado, Munshi addressed the District Judge
for four hours Sir Thomas addressed for half an hour
and won The chent gave Munshi a packet of Surat sweets
and the lawyer paid his own railway fare back

How dangerous an opponent Sr1 Jamietram could be
can be seen from the following incident.

Young Munshi had drafted a plamnt which, according
to him, could not possibly have any defence The plantiff
complamned that his wife had deserted him and had gone
and stayed with her uncle He claimed conjyugal rights
and a return of ornaments whieh, according to this mnocent
vietim of domestic cruelty were of the value of Rs 50,000
No written statement was filed and, m course of time, the
suit appeared as an undefended lohg cause 'The defendant
was not expected to appear at the time of hearing '‘Munshi
was briefed and he thought that he had simply to lead
evidence of the lovelorn hushand and ask for a decree At
2-15 pm when Munshi went into Mr. Justice Beaman’s
court he found not the defendant but Sr1 J. amietram seated
there brooding

‘“Are you in this case?’’ asked Jamietram.,
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““Yes,”” replied Munsh:

‘“Are you taking a decree 1n this case?’’

““Oh!' Yes, of course ’’

‘“All right Let’s see how you take 1t ’’ said the old
soliertor

In the voice of Sr1 Jamietram, Munshi found some
implied threat All the enthusiasm with which he had
entered the Court gradually trickled away When the
case was called out the defendant was not there but the
Associate Registrar of the Court got up from his seat and
1ead out a letter to the Judge from the wife Old Jamietram
was sitting opposite with a steady smile on his face which
appeared more dangerous than ever In the letter the wife
alleged that the plamntiff was an unemployed idler, was
addicted to cocaine, and had wasted such lLittle property as
she had brought from her father. Tired of his cruelty she
had, out of sheer desperation, gone to Iive with her uncle

The Judge barked at young Munshi. ‘‘Your client
appears to be a veritable raseal.’’

‘‘Nothing of the kind’’, said the advocate bravely, and
added- ‘‘My client 1s going into the box presently and
your Liordship then will see that these allegations are
totally false ’’

The plamtiff then entered the box with a Iump of betel
leaf 1 his mouth, his cap titled on one side and his whole
appearance distorted by a long tongue lolling out from one
side of his mouth

‘“Are you the plaintiff in this suit?’’ was the first
question

The witness, instead of looking at the counsel, turned
to the Judge ‘‘My lord’’, came his voice in a slow rolling
way—‘Khun (murder) committed—my father-in-law—
by Jamietram Jivaram, Solicitor, Higch Court and M T
Diwan of Bhavnagar >’
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Munshi then realised why Sr1 Jamietram was there al?
along A great effort was necessary to save the situation
““My lord’’, said he, ‘‘the witness does not understand
English; he needs the aid of the interpreter *’

But the Judge by then was more than ever interested
in the husband and wanted to probe mto the murder mys-
tery He questioned the witness ‘“What happened to
this murder ?’’

“My lord’’, came the reply, ‘“my father-m-law’s khun
committed—dJamietram Jivanram, Solicitor, High Court—
M T Diwan Bhavnagar

A smile Iit up the Judge’s face Shri Rustom Wadia
who was watching with great mnterest the spectacle whisper-
ed to Munshi i a not too maudible voice to pray for the
withdrawal of the smt with liberty to file a fresh suit
Munshi’s attorney, of course, had fled by this time and the
Judge announced with the objectivity associated with our
judicial admimistration ‘‘Mr Munshi, you cannot do
anything better than this *’

After two or three yeais of hard woik young Munsh:
had gammed the confidence of Sr1 Bhulabhai Desar During
the strenuous period of dewvilling, he used to prepare for
his senior a number of pleadings and opinions, much time
also used to be spent on preparing exhaustive analysis of
other briefs Many a time Sr1 Bhulabhai used to take
young Munshi to his residence directly from the chamber
and there both of them used to work out brief after brief,
till late hours

Sr1 Bhulabhai had an extraordinary analytical mind
and a way of stating and re-stating facts and propositions
of law He used to stait by saylng ‘no’ to everything said
and then arrange the facts in his mind i his own way At
last he would say, ‘‘Munshikaka, now they fit mm 7> This
method enabled Sr1 Bhulabhai to conduct many a big case
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melely by relving on his memory More than his ability to
present his case, he possessed the wonderful gift of knowing
that a particular manner of presentation would go a long
way with a particular judge and that way, he could gene-
1ally win over that judge to his side within a few minutes.

Young Munshi came mto contact with Sir Chimanlal
Setalvad having by this time already appeared in some
surts as his junior  Sir Chimanlal’s advocacy was of a
different category He depended entirely on sheer intel-
lectual strength and a vast knowledge of human nature.
Ile never depended upon the cheaper weapons that are
sometimes, though fortunately raiely, used te please the
Bench No attempt to please either the client or the soli-
citor was ever made The opposite side always and -
variably teceived courtesy and fairness. The Bench was
dealt with dignity and severity and rarely allowed to
digress from the path which Sin Chimanlal had decided
it should tread Severe precision of language, a presence
of mind and an mpertuibability almost superhuman were
the mam traits of his advocacy

Intense dewvilling with a senior entails hard work with-
out any duect reward for it  But reward sometimes comes
unexpectedly In 1917 the well-known case regarding the
trade name of the famous jewellers of Bombay, Narottam-
das Bhau, was being attended by Sri Nariman of Messrs.
Airdeshn Hormusjyi Dinshaw, Solicitors The defendant,
one Somi Narottamdas Bhanji, had started a rival concern
and Narottamdas Bhau had filed a smit for mjunction to
restrain his rival from conducting a similar business with
almost a stmilar trade name Sri1 Nariman had briefed with
several other leading counsel Sr1 Bhulabhai for the plamntiff.
While Sr1 Bhulabha:r was addressing the Court, he ask-
ed young Munshi, who was not then briefed in the case, to
find an appropriate case, telling him that he would still ad-
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.dress for an hour and that his dewl should find a case 1n the

meanwhile Munsh rushed to the Library and after a few
minutes of rush-work found the wanted precedent Sri
Bhulabhai relied on that case

Next day, Sri Nariman met Munshi i the Iibrary and
saidd ‘“Mr Mehta, you have, I hope, received my brief *’

““My name 1s not Mehta, and I have not received your
brief,’’ said the junior

‘“‘But you brought that case to Bhulabhai, 1s 1t not?
Are you not K M Mehta? Is not your chamber in Bhai-
shankar’s office?’’ asked the attormey.

““No Mr M J Mehta happens to have his chamber
there, not I’ said young Munshi, feeling that the fat egg
had already shipped from his hands

Sr1 Nariman immediately went, panting as was usual
with him, to the mistaken counsel, brought the required
brief and almost pushed the thing into Munshi’s hands,
addmg, ‘‘Do your best ”’

Such are the random rewards of devilang, a system
which 1f a junior 1s lucky enough to have a responsive
senior to work for, 1s fruitful The fees earned mn this
brief brought the first hibrary cup-board and the first
ornament to the Munshi household

In the May vacation of 1917 Bhulabhai took young
Munshi to Darjeeling Sri Chhotubhai of Messrs Madhav-
31 & Co also was a member of the party Sri Chhotubhai
was a great lover of art and lhiterature, apart from being
an eminent solicitor of the day The elderly solicitor and
the young advocate spent many an hour reading together
great classies like Meghadute, Gute Govinde and Amaru
Shatak  Sri Chhotubha: had read Munshi’s first novel
Verns Vasulat and had already been attracted towards the
novel, as also to its author It was during this tour that
young Munshi met the famous scientist, Sir Jagadish
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Chandra Bose, and leaint the miraculous mysteries of
plant life upon which Sir Jagadish then had already made
his famous discoveries

Between 1913 and 1918 Munsh: planned an elaborate
and thorough programme for equipping himself with the
necessary quabfications of a good lawyer In spite of the
dire poverty with which he was then strugghng, this stre-
nuous programme that he set before himself was followed
meticulously

On joming the Original Side Bar, the first thing that
Munsh: found was that his English pronuneciation formed
m the back-water atmosphere of the Baroda College, was
very bad To cure this defect he carried a little pocket note-
book with him i which he entered in Gujarati the correct
accents of the English words as they were pronounced by
the leading members of the Bar, then checked them at night
with the dictionary and, as he came to and from the Court
on a tram, he refreshed his memory of the correct pronun-
ciation For years he kept up the habit of checking up the
pronunciation with a dictionary.

‘When Munshi joined the chamber of Bhulabhai m
June 1913, he was given a written statement to be drafted
Proud of his knowledge of English, based on Macaulay,
Carlyle and De Quincey, Munshi wrote out a florad draft
and presented 1t to his gurw Bhulabhai read the first
paragraph and threw the draft in the waste-paper basket
remarkimg  ‘“‘Munshi, this English will not do’’ This
hurt Munshi very much and he began to unlearn the florid
English he had acquired in the Baroda College and for
four years every two or three days he took a new brief to
draw a pleading from Bhulabhai’s chamber and prepared
as perfect a draft as he could Bhulabhai was then con-
sidered one of the ablest draftsmen at the Bombay Bar,
and the traming Munshi received under him gave him both
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the practical experience and the capacity to give a case a
perfect shape at the earliest possible moment

During these years Munshi also collected the pleadings
drafted by eminent counsel at the Bar like Inverarity,
Lowndes and others Later, he added to the list some of
the excellent drafts of Bhulabhai He followed the model
of these drafts, more than that, while workmg for Sri Bhu-
labhai, he tried to draw the pleadmgs mn the hight of and
following the language of Damniel’s Chancery Practice,
Roscoe’s Emndence wm Cwil Actions and Seton on Orders
and Decrees Such was his study of these works that he
could lay his finger on a requisite paragraph i a moment
At all times Munshi had been a lover of beautiful
phrases and wherever possible he acquired the habit of
using m his pleadings an appropriate phrase from a classi-
cal law book or a dictum of some great judge Often he
would, for the purpose of his pleachng, find out the nearest
possible case from the decisions of the Privy Council or the
House of Lords and reproduce the identical phraseology

Munsh: was fascinated by the neatly expressed and
short but authoritative judgments of the Privy Counecil
published 1n the Indian Appeals Series He accepted this
Series as his mam source of stiength m two ways He
began to study each volume from 1914 backwards, study-
ing each important judgment, analysmg 1t and summaris-
g 1ts pomnts He kept another note-book in his pocket in
which he noted down the name of the leading case, the
numbe1r of the volume and briefly the pomt decided mn 1t
This note, when he left off the habit, consisted of about 400
or 500 of the most leading cases 1 English and Indian
Law In the early years whenever he had time he glane-
ed through the mnote-book refreshing his memory of these
leading cases Ak a result, important legal principles with
“4Her authorities got fixed up m his memory and were avail-
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<ble to him and his colleagues whenever required In his
vaily years, he thus became a walking reference book.

But that was not quite enough for Munsh1 Durmng
the vacations 1n those years, he took a leading judgment
from one of the Indian Appeals volumes, every day analys-
ed 1t on paper, set some of 1ts appropriate phraseology
agamnst each pomt and, facing a mirror, tried to address
Limself on the case i the language or order used by a
Privy Ccuncil Judge This practice very soon gave him
< command of legal phiaseology This training has been
1esponsible for making Munshi’s address 1 coutt entirely
different from his public speeches While addressing the
Court he worked up sets of propositions and closely mar-
shalled the facts in clear and dispassionate manner till he
raised a fabric of facts and principles, then he piled up
effective phrases till a new shape was given to the ecase,
windmg up by drawimmg up a vivid picture of the case as a
whole 1 a manner which made any other wview look
immature

After acquiring these two arts he next turned to the
art of giving legal advice In trammmg himself to give
advice, Le was considerably helped by the discussions he
had with Bhulabhai in regard to the opmmion briefs which
Munshi had worked for him Munshi always said, that a
diseussion with Bhulabhai on a pomnt of law was a tramning
m subtlety, though Munshi himself had no Iitile share
of subtlety But soon he departed from the practice of the
leading counsel at the Bombay bar of giving only short,
direct and concise often mono-syllabic replies to the queries
From somewhere he acqured some opmions of Su Rash
Behar1 Ghosh which were 1n a sense an elaborate discus-
sion of the pomnt, and following that model he gave his
opmion the shape of a discussion of the pommt and
the rival pomnt of view supported with authorities
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Munshi’s view was that such an opmion would help the
client’s lawyers later 1n noting the pitfalls and developing
the pomnts m favour

It was later, after about 1922 when he had gained
sufficient mastery over these aspects of advocacy that he
turned his attention to developing the art of cross-exami-
nation As usual with him, 1t was an elaborate prepara-
tion to study all the different methods adopted by the
leaders at the Bar and slowly he became a master of sur-
prise 1m cross-examination It was very rarely that he
dealt aggressively with a witness till he had i a sweet
reasonable manner made him concede important points.

3
THE RISING LAWYER

Amoneg the great jyudges, Sr1 Lallubhai Shah, (afterwards
Sir Lallubhai), was the one with whom young Munshi
came 1to close contact and for whom he entertained
great regard and even affection Sir Lallubhai’s mecom-
parable ethical sense, his great sense of justice, and mode-
1ation of speech and thought attracted the respect of every
one with whom he came imto touch On the 1st of April,
1913 Sri Lallubhar Shah was raised to the Bench on the
tetirement of Sir Narayan Chandavarkar

Munsh: summarising the mamn characteristiecs of this
great Judge, says ‘‘He was more mndustrious than bril-
hant Has advocacy was different from that of either Sir
Chimanlal’s or Bhulabhai’s Full of dignity and solemn
depth, 1t was ceaselessly absorbed in search of truth, dread-
ed exaggeration and was terrified of mere brilliance It
had one sole object, to secure justice from the Judge *’
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These traits, we are told, became more and more eon-
fitmed after he became a Judge Munsh: was once eon-
ducting an appeal before him The trial Judge had used
some harsh words against the defendant’s evidence and had
characterised 1t as unielhiable Muunshi added his own com-
ments by saymng, ‘‘My Loid, the mildest term that can be
used for this witness 1s the one used by the learned Judge
of the trial court, ‘master-craftsman of the art of menda-
Qltvy ? 2

Sir Lallubhai looked up and said “‘M: Munshi, do
you mean to say that there can be a stionger term than
this?”’

Munsh: retorted ‘“My Lord, the resources of the
English language are not so poor as not to provide a
stronger term ”’

The dread of strong terminology was in the Judge
and out came the caution- “‘I don’t want to hear a
stronger word This 1s quite enough >’

Sir Lallubhai’s main contribution as a Judge lay in
his well-considered judgements on questions of Himndu law
It 1s said that, on his being raised to the Bench, he com-
menced learning Sanskrit with the aid of a Shastr: and
studied the Dharmashastras Munshi had the opportunity
of conductmg several cases before him which mvolved cer-
tam 1mportant questions of Hindu law

Bar Gulad v Jeevanlal (24 Bom LR 5) was one such
case Bai Gulab was a daughter by a Vaishya father and
a Shudra mother When she came of age the father ceased
to care for her and a Bhatia lady took her under her wing
and got her married to a Vaishya wateh-repairer A week
or so after the marriage Gulab left her husband, who then
filed a suit claxming conjueal rights The case came up for
hearing before Kajijn J and Sri Bhulabhai appeared for
the husband agamnst Munshi The piincipal contention on
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behalf of the wife was that she was the daughter of a
Shudra woman by a Vaishya, and therefore, a Shudra and
that her marriage with a Vaishya bemg anuloma was pro-
hibited by Hindu law The Judge immediately came on the
defence counsel saying that in the event of his deciding
that the mairiage was bad, what would happen to the poor
wife? Having hived alieady with the plamtiff for a time,
who else would, 1n Hindu society, give her a wife’s status?
The case dragged on for two or three davs and the Judge:
asked Muushi to peisuade his client to settle Meetings
were arranged 1 Munshi’s chamber but Gulab 1emained
as adamant as ever and instructed her counsel and attor-
ney to go on with the case The Judge was mtformed of
this and as sometimes happens, counsel became the butt of
the Judge’s displeasute M1 Justice Kajii decided against
the defence contentions and held the marriage a valid one
At 2-30 pm that afternoon the learned judge who was
still perturbed by the refusal of Gulab to accept his sug-
gestion of a compromise ordeired that Gulab should forth-
with go to her husband Munshi had anticipated this and
was actually drawing up the giounds of appeal When
the Judge finished, he asked for time to appeal and in the
meantume prayed for a stay of the order The Judge would
have none of 1t The defence asked for one day The
Judge refused the request TUltimately he gave one hour
m which to get the stay order from the Appeal Court
Munsh: immediately 1ushed to Chief Justice MeLeod'’s
chambe1, nairated the facts and told him that there was
not enough tme to have the giounds of appeal typed
The Chief Justice asked Munshi to apply in open court atr
3-30 pm that day and asked him to submit the hand-
written memo of appeal Su Thomas Strangman opposed
him 1 the Appeal Court The Chief Justice asked-:
‘“Where the marriage itself 1s challenged, how can I allow
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the decree to be executed?’”” and the stay order was
granted

The appeal came for hearing before MacLeod CJ and
Sir Lallubha: Sr1 Jinnah appeared for the husband As
gsoon as Munsh: began his address MacLeod CJ opened
Mulla’s Himmdu Law and started, as was usual with him,
to cut the matter short But Sir Lallubhai was already
mterested 1 the case and 1esisted any such attempts to
cut the matter short The question of anuloma marriage
was a vital question and for two days Sir Lallubhai and
Munshy were absorbed in the mysteries of Mitakshara,
Mayukha and other Dharmashastras Sir Lallubhai at last
made the appellant admit that the 4nuloma marriage was
not one prohibited by Hindu law This decision has still
remained undisturbed as a landmark m the development
of Hindu law

A rich Hindu fell 11l m the house of a nayaekn and
ched after a few days The nayakin, Nagubai, claimed to
be the avaruddha stree of the deceased and filed a suit for
maintenance against the widow and children of the deceas-
ed The case was heard in the trial court by Mr Justice
Kanga Munsh:1 who was for the defendants, wnfer aha
contended that the deceased had relations with other
women, apart from the plamntiff and that the defendants
had no knowledge whether the plamtiff was a permanent
or a temporary concubine The t1al Judge decided agamst
the defendants

The swit went up to the appeal court, consisting of
Sir Lallubhai, who was then acting as the Chief Justice,
and M1 Justice Crump For the appellants Munshi argued
that although the Hindu shastras recognised the right of
an avaruddha stree to maintenance and placed her on a
footing analogous to a married woman, a mere concubine is
not recognised and that m order to be so entitled the con-
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cubine must have attained the status of avaruddha siree
1e, she must have been openly kept and accepted by the
deceased’s famuly. A. concubine kept i a hole and corner
manner 1s not the awvaruddho stree contemplated by the
Hindu law Sir Lallubhai got mterested in this argument
and began to cite the ancient texts which even counsel
had not produced The acting Chief Justice acecepted the
vlew that 1f that was not the position, 1t would be impos-
sible for the legal 1epresentatives of the deceased to prove
that the concubine was not a permanent or an exclusively
kept mustress Sir Lallubhar held this argument to be
valid and reversed the trial court judgement (Moghibar
v Nagubar 24 Bom LR 1009)

Naguba1 took her case to the Privy Council where
Loid Darling favoured a commonsense to a merely serip-
tmwial view  ‘“Whoever heard of a family accepting a eon-
cubline? Would the members of the deceased’s family
m this modern world ever accept and recognise such a
concubine?’’ he enquired and reversed the decision of the
Appellate Court (Nagubar v Moghbar 53 T A 1553)

From the pomnt of view of the surviving relations of
the deceased, perhaps the powmt of view of Sir Lallubhax
though mvolving a stricter interpretation of the law, was
correct  Unless the iecognition of the concubmme by the
deceased’s fanuly was not made a necessary ingredient, 1t
15 possible that such relations may become the vietims of
false lLitigations and of consequent injustice What his
cuents lost, Munshi gained, for quite a few rich men who
id not look upon with favour any posthumous claim by
their mistresses, came to him for advice and for preparing
documents to be executed by the mistresses that they were
not permanent concubines

During the last year of the first World War there was
a great spate of speculation i Japanese textiles In
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October-November, 1918, certamn groups of merchants in
Bombay got themselves heavily muvolved i such dealings
and more particularly m what was known as the Nie
Dragon Japanese Longcloth There was a strong belief that
the World War would still continue for another couple of
years, with the result that every day marked big fluctua-
tions m prices Thousands of bales changed hands and
merchants every day counted lacs of rupees as profits, all
of course, on paper. The bales were nowhere to be seen in
the market, and no one intended or thought of giving or
taking any delivery.

In November 1918 the war came to a sudden end and
the prices tumbled down equally suddenly  Purchasers
refused to take delivery and a crop of suit for damages for
breach of contract ecame to be filed From the meagre
figure of 1,200 swits a year i the High Court on the Origi-
nal Side, the number rose to 5,000 or more Munshi though
comparatively a junior, had by then made his name both
as a draftsman and as a dependable junior and got a fair-
1y large share of the new crop. Apart from the usual
court work, he was able, on an average, to dispose of four
to five pleadings a day

The High Court premises were buzzing with Iitigants
and commercial disputes of almost every kind involving a
variety of legal pomts All these commercial suits came
on for hearmmg mm 1920 Chief Justice MacLeod, known
for his quick disposal of matters, used to finish on an aver-
age fifteen to twenty of these commercial suits, most of
which, instead of being thrashed out to a final judgément
used to be compromised Sri Bhulabhai and Sir Jamshedji
Kanga invariably appeared against each other m most of
these matters

In the meanwhile, Sir Jamshedji was raised to the
Bench and his junior, Sri Harilal Kania, who rose to be
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the fiist Chief Justice of the Supreme Court i 1947, join-
ed Sri Bhulabhai and his group of juniors, among whom
was Sr1 Motilal Setalvad the first Attorney-General of
Free India and of course Munshi.

In the begmning of 1921 the Chief Justice, 1n order to
dispose of the arrears which had accumulated, appointed
seven Judges to sit on the Original Side m place of the two
or three until then TUpto this time the holdwmg system
prevalent 1 England was also accepted on the Oiiginal
Side of the High Court in. Bombay as a necessary concomi-
tant of the dual system and the English traditions of the
Bar Sri1 Bhulabhai was i great demand, particularly
after Sir Jamshedjr had gone to the Bench, and every
evening briefs used to be collected 1n his chamber n -
ereasing numbers Not being able to cope with the work
he used to ask his juniors to hold briefs for him and work
them out i the various courts while he himself attended
one court and supervised and directed the work of his devils
mn other courts

The manner 1n which this holding system was being
worked by Sri1 Bhulabhai, though contrary to the way
which 1t was handled in England, was not noticed so'long
as there were only two or three courts on the Original Side
But with the merease of courts the work of all the courts
collected 1 one chamber and a systematic monopoly of the
entire work being established, the rest of the members of
the bar grew restive Theuir complamt culmimated i what
Munshi called the ‘Trial of the Seven Bishops’

A, committee of mquiry was set up with Sir Thomas
Strangman, Sr1 Bahadurji and Shr1 H C Coyap to in-
qure mto the charge that Sri Bhulabha: and his juniors
were guilty of unprofessional conduet mn carrying on busi-
ness m partnership The trial ultimately ended in the
acquittal of the seven members. But with the end of the
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trial vanished tragically the holding system which, when
. worked 1n 1ts true spnait, had been responsible for turnmng
out junior members as worthy suceessors to their more ex-
perienced seniors
There 1s no doubt that the end of the holding system
has resulted in the loss of the requisite traming of the new
members of the Bar It has also resulted to a large degree
in the dismtegration of the Bar

4
HEIGHT OF PROFESSIONAL SUCCESS

By the tume the holding system came to an end Munshi had
already made his mark in the profession The Raja Baha-
dur Bansilal ease mn which he was briefed by Sr1 Mancher-
shaw established him as the Leader of the Junior Bar

Sr1 Manchershaw, of Messrs Minocheher Mancher-
shaw and Hiralal, Solicitor, was 1n many respects an extra-
ordinary attorney Whenever he took a matter in hand the
merely pecuniary aspect of it became immaterial Com-
plete preparation on all factul aspects of the matter, melud-
mg even mvestigation of questions of law and cross-exami-
nation, were made and when the brief was delivered
comnsel always felt that nothmme had been left out Since
1915-16 he had grown fond of Munshi, and m manv a mat-
ter he had taken the assistance of the young advocate and
tested his ability Since then Sri1 Manchershaw had evine-
ed m Munsh: and his affairs a keen interest which was not
merely friendly but was also paternal When Munsh got
ready to go to JaI% 1n 1930, tears came to the eves of this old
soliciton Later T mye<elf came m touch with Sr1 Mancher-
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shaw in regard to certain personal matters of Munshi, and
I perceived that in spite of old age the same paternal feel-
g for Munshi, the same love for detail and partiality for
piecision were still there

Raja Babadur Shivlal Motilal was a businessman i a
jarge way and a multi-millionaire of Hyderabad State
He died leaving behind him a son, Raja Bahadur Bansila]
and several grandsons Disputes arose between the Raja
Bahadur and his two elder sons over the partition of the
gomnt family property Sri Manchershaw was attending to
this case on behalf of Bansilal’s minor sons In 1922 this
important case came up for hearmng before Mr Justice
Piatt and Sr1 Jmnah and Bhulabhai appeared for the
plamntiffs, the elder sons of R B Bansilal Sir Jamshedy
Kanga appeared for Raja Babhadur Bansilal Sri Mancher-
shaw briefed Munshi with Sr1 Kania as the junior counsel

The mam pomt mmvolved i the smt was whether a
Hindu father had the 11ght to separate only one of his sons
without severmng the joint status between himself and the
rest of his sons It was contended for the plamntiff that
the father had no right to effect such a partial partition as
regards some of his sons, and 1f he separated one son, there
should be a total partition between him and all his sons
Sr1 Jinah and Sr1 Bhulabhai, who appeared for the plain-
iff, contended that the father had no right to effect a par-
ti1al partition as regards only some of his sons Prof Ghar-
pure, one of the well-known authorities on Dharmashastras
was helpmg them The points mvolved in the case were
interesting and the 1esearch entailed considerable labour al-
though now that they are settled by decisions, they do not
arouse any curiosity From the pomt of view of a legal
practitioner, the action was till then the heaviest and, the
parties bemg well-known residents of Bombay, had become
a causus celebre of the time It was also the most well-paid
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case of the time and became a turning pomnt i the history
of the Bombay lawyers in increasing the scale of fees paid
to counsel on the Original Side When the appearances
of some dozen counsel were mentioned, Mr Justice Pratt,
who heard the case, exclaimed ‘“Where 1s the rest of the
Bar?”’

After a short opening Sri Jinnah sat down and Swr
Jamshedj:t Kanga appearing for the father, Raja Bahadur
Bansilal, in his address dealt with the legal aspects of the
case mostly citing decided cases Then came Munshi’s turn
Unknown to Sr1 Manchershaw, Munsh: had been callmg a
shastry at his residence and with his help was going through
the origmal texts Tracing the father’s right from the
Vedic texts down to the Mayukha, he took the Judge step
by step through the complicated labyrmmth of citations In
the intensity of the argument he forgot his juniority and
the diffidence from which he then used to suffer and evolv-
ed a clear and elaborate argument before the impressed
Court

At the end of the second day of his address when he
sat down 1t was apparent that both the Court and the spec-
tators were convinced that the performance was something
out of the ordmary Sri Manchershaw, who all the time
was seated opposite his counsel, was amazed at the argu-
ments which did not form part of his instructions, he was
overjoyed at the feat of hig favourite Sir Jamshedy:, who
always delights 1n an able exposition of law by his juniors,
was effusive mm his appreciation Munshi’s own guru shook
his pupil’s hands Unfortunately, the smt was settled and
did not find a place 1n the Law Reports

This case was a landmark m Munshi’s career giving
him a place ag the leader of the Junior Bar, besides bring-
ing him a rich harvest of fees The case also focussed on
him the attention of several firms of solicitors who were



156 MUNSHI HIS ART AND WORK

not until then briefing him too often, with the result that
the evenings became day by day busier and busier with
conferences and consultations

Another 1mportant and equally complicated case which
Munsh: attended during this period was a misfeasance
summons agamst the directors of the Anglo-India Steam
Navigation Co Litd, its career bemng more like the South
Sea Bubble of England Sir Jamshedjr appeared with
Sr1 Bhulabhai for the hquidator and Sir Chimanlal, Sr1 V
F Taraporevala and Munsh: appeared separately for one
or the other directors Onece again, Sri1 Manchershaw was
instrueting Munsh: One of the interesting aspects of the
case was that one of the Directors of the Company was a
very young son of Mr Justice Kajiji, then on the Bench
The Judge himself was involved m the case The case last-
ed for a month and a half

During the pendency of the case Mrs Munshi fell
seriously 11l and Munsh: had to conduct the case under
great mental strain As the case progressed, the condition
of Mrs Munsh: became steadily woise and 1t reached a
critical stage about the time that his tuin came to address
the Court The last five or six days before the actual
addresses were over were almost terrible Mrs Munshi
throughput the period lay wunconscious, and the doetors
reported her ag sinking The case became so complicated
that Munshi could not even think of giving 1t up or leaving
it to some one else It was in that distiessed state of mind
that Munshi had to address the Court for four days As
soon as he finished his address he went straight to his dywng
wife Two days later, the woist happened, and Mrs
Munshi breathed her last

Those who know the intense prepaiation that 1s neces-
sary 1 a case of this character will realise that with a
dymg patient mn the house, Munsh: must have had very
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hittle time to marshall the facts of such a lengthy matter
and prepare the requisite arguments Bv this time, how-
cver, he had begun to evolve a svstem of preparing a
case m which he completelv became a master Now, before
the case opened, all that Munshi generally did was to mas-
ter the pleadings of the case and to have before him a
meagre sketch of the ewsential tacts mvolved m the case,
unless of course he was 1equiried to opan the case involving
complicated facts Peculia1 though the svstem was to him-
self, at the start manv a soliio1 and client were m distress,
believing that their counsel himself was not aware of all
the materials of the case As the case proceeded Munshi
used to take up a notebook i which he would jot down
the analysis of the various pomts, the facts and the pro-
positions of law, which he thought he would have to sub-
mit to the court All this was done while the case proceed-
ed. He had got into the habit of thus completing his
preparation 1n instalments, while at the same time he
watched counsel on the othar side and followed the
evidence led by the opposite side He took down only
mmportant paits of evidence which, almost mn an automatie
fashion, got maishallad in the note hook 1 a logical and
a clronological form

When his turn to cross-examine a witness or to deliver
‘the address arrived, the note was ready, but to a stranger
1t looked so hopelesslv arranged that it was more a mess
than the sketch of a luaid aigument No one except him-
self could produce anv coherence out of it To him, how-
ever, all that was necessaiv was to number the different
notes m a logical order by a blue or 1ed pencil Those who
saw him closely at work 1ealised that this special method
of prepaiation onlv enabled wim to do full justice to
the most complicatcd cases without his having to sit up late
hours for preparmmg his briefs Incidentally, on account
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of this habit, a heavy brief did not put any strain upon
his health which otherwise remained in a delicate state for
several years It saved considerable time even in the
midst of heavy cases for him to mmdulge 1n many activities,
literary, political and cultural

One of the heavy cases which during this period put
his knowledge and famiharity of book-keeping and ae-
counts to a severe test was the famous case of Chand Chhap
Kesar A very large business in saffion was bemng con-
dueted by an old widow who rarely made any move in her
business without consulting Sri Jamietram  The mucea-
dam, who had ben instructed to take delivery of certamn
cases of saffron which had arrived from Spain, got some
papers signed by the old lady for the purpose of taking
delivery of the cases from the Port Trust authorrties
When delivery of the cases was demanded by the lady s
firm, the muccadam alleged that they were pledged with
him to secure the repayment of Rs 20,000 advane-
ed by him to the firm In support of his allegation the
muccadam produced a document signed by the lady pur-
porting to be an wmstrument of pledge The lady was pirac-
tically 1lliterate and did not exactly know the kind of docu-
ment which she had signed m favour of the muccadam
The muceadam’s books, which were produced in the court,
showed that he had given the firm a loan of Rs 20,000.
Munsh: appeared for the widow, challenged the document
as a forgery on the ground that the body of the docu-
ment had been written on the blank space kept in the paper
signed by the widow

Sir Thomas Strangman and Sri Bhulabhai who led
Munshi had already taken a pessimistic view of the case
Their junior, however, toolea different view of the matter
and shared Sri Jamietram’s opinion that the widow had on
the whole a fair chance of success The suit went on al-
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most for a fortmight and 1n the absence of Sri Bhulabhai,
Munshi had to conduct 1t  In order to support his theory
of having made the advance the muccadam produced his
books of account On a first examination the books appear-
ed to be in perfect order but on a closer scrutiny Munshi
found that an elaborate set of entries had been made 1n
order to provide theremn the necessary balance of Rs 20,000
A more detailed mnquury for two or three days disclosed
the key to the mystery.

Mr Justice Crump who heard the case followed the
arguments 1 regard to the books with great deal of
patience, It was a matter of touch and go and ultimately
the mugeadam’s action was dismissed The dismissal was
a jomt triumph of Munsh: and Jamietiam who had pro-
ceeded with the case notwithstanding the adverse opinion
of the senior lawyers

As expected, the muccadam went into appeal Sm
Bhulabhai appeared this time for the widow, leading
Munght Convinced as he was that his client had no case,
1t was difficult to shake him from his view of the account
books Within a couple of hours the appeal Court reversed
the trial Court’s judgment

The widow went to the Privy Council, where her coun-
sel Sir George Lowndes K C applymg the searchhight
whick those entries justly deserved, addressed that august
body on those entries for a number of days At last the
Privy Counecil upheld the view taken Ly the trial Judge and
Munshi, and the decree of the appeal Court was reversed
By a curious coincidence, Chief Justice McLeod who pre-
sided over the appeal Court here happened to be:present
m the Privy Council and actually witnessed the reversal
of his somewhat hasty judgment Never was Sr1 Jamietram
so full of joy at the perfoimance of the young counsel
whom he had brought up in the Bar
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The method of presenting a cage 1 a strictly chrono-
logieal order and of propounding definite propositions has
been Munshi’s favourite method Chionology, according
to him, unravels many a ditficult situation and when once
seemingly contradictory facts are airanged strictly in this
manner 1n a logical and coherent order the facts prove
themselves Chief Justice Sir Ambson Martén was a lover
of such orderlmess m counsel’s address He loved to
hear elaborate arguments and Munshi loved to present
them and consequently he became almost a constant fixtuie
i the Court of that Chief Justice, appearmng in several
heavy cases which the Judge delighted to call ‘Chancers
Actions ’

Mr Justice Beaman had been holding the Teji-mandz
transactions to be no more than wagermg contracts In
many a case that Munshi appeared he had felt that Justice
Beaman’s tempeiramental horior of the Marwar: business-
men had prevented him from appieciating the true nature
of Tep-mandr The case of Manudbhar v Keshavy (24
Bom LR 60) which came up befoie Ma Justice Kmeaid
gave him the chance The Judge luckilv was firee from
any prejudice But he had to be taken, fo1 weeks to-
gether through detailed cvidence and a labyrinth of
account books i order to combat the pirevailing notion
that these contracts weie by ther mnature wagering.
Munshi’s view was accepted by Justice Kincaxd The Ap-
peal Court upheld the view and the tiend of judicial opinion
which had persisted foi1 years was 1evised

If Mr Justice Kmecaid had no prejudice agamnst this
type of contracts, he was to a certain extent a peculiar man
to tackle He looked upon the court work as more or less an
unavoidable nuisance He had an intense fascination for
Maratha History and Hindu Gods and loved to write about
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them He used to take down every conceivable type of
evidence without so much as applying hs mind to 1t and
only made a pomt of hearing counsel’s arguments with
attention at the end Whoever presented his case at
this stage m a lucid and systematic manner, enabling
the judge to produce a coherent and readable judgment,
was more often than not likely to succeed Munshi’s style
of propeunding propositions and his adherence to c¢hrono-
logy were very useful to this judge and enabled Munshi to
be a fixture m this Court for some months

Mr Justice Kineaid remembered Munshi several vears
later when he was writing his remmiscences ‘‘Forty Years
as a Public Servant’® After eulogising the Bombay Bar
as ‘‘very pleasant and courteous’’, he referred to Munshi-
““I remember especially my agreeable relations with
Mr DMunshi, a Gujarat1 Advocate Since then he has,
unfortunately, become an extremist’’ When Munshi’s
Gugarata and 1ts Interature was published, Kincaid review-
ed 1t for the Indwan Emmre Review In the course of the
review he wrote “Mr K M Munshi has one of the largest
practices mn the High Court of Bombay, at the same time
he 1s one of the most widely read Gujyarat: novelist’> The
review apotheosised Munshi as ‘the greatest master of
Gujarat: prose’ Enclosing a copy of the Review, Kincaid
wrote to Munshr  ““I trust that my stiay remark about
you 1m my reminiscences did not give you even a moment’s
annoyance With your talents as lawyer and novehst, I
thought 1t a pity that like Burke you should *‘to party give
up what was meant for mankind > However, 1f you can
always combine politics with the production of books such
as Gujarate and ts Laterature, then I shall certamly
have no further quarrel with your extreme views!”’
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ON SEVERAL FORENSIC FRONTS

ArTER Munshi’s success 1 getting the true nature of Tej-
mands transactions accepted by the High Court, he began
to be briefed in a series of linseed cases and these cases
came up before Mr Justice Taraporewala In many of
these commercial cases he was generally opposed by Sri
Kania, (later Sir Harilal) By this time Sri1 Kamia had
established a reputation for a keen appreciation of both
accounts and the mtricacies of commercial transactions
which were then coming up for judicial decisions in the
courts While these cases were gomng on, Munshi used to
sit down with the merchants for hours on end and get them
to explain to him the various aspects of theiwr transactions
In one of these cases, the learned judge hearing 1t set his
face against the custom which Munshi was trymg to prove.
No sooner a witness’s exammation-in-chief was over than
the Judge tucked up his sleeve, turned fiercely to the wat-
ness and put a series of questions The brokers, unaccus-
tomed to this kind of judicial ordeal, completely broke down
and started saying ‘yes’ to every question that was asked
Even the Judge felt that there was something wrong and
asked a witness severely ‘‘“Why do you say ‘yes’ to every-
thing that I ask?’”” The witness frankly replied “‘My
Lord, how can I say ‘no’ to Sarkar?’’ The Judge’s cross-
examination destroyed the structure the minute the coun-
sel raised 1t Ever since Munshi handled these cases he
was 1n the habit of having a personal contact with the client
wherever complicated facts were mmvolved Once he under-
took a case he warmed himself up to such an extent that
he erected the fabric of his case not from the typed brief
but by a hiving touch with the client himself
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Between the years 1919-1930 there was scarcely a
branch of law which Munshi did not deal It was
during these years that he came to be acknowledged as one
of the most reliable counsel for drafting pleadings Drafi-
ing 15 an art which can only be mastered, like all other
arts, by constant practice and hard industry Curiously,
however, drafting has always remamed an undervalued
piece of work though m many a case 1t throws on the draft-
ing counsel responsibility until the matter 1s finally heard
and disposed of

Munshi has always held that to be a good draftsman
18 a sme que non for bemng a clear-headed lawyer and
always msisted on his juniors and devils first learning the
art of draftsmanship

Unlike the way he follows m his Iiterary work, Munsh:
always msists upon usmg a uniform phraseology m his
pleadings and generally entertains a horror for passive
vorce and complicated sentences An averment or a praver
m a plamt for a mortgage suit preseribed by the authori-
ties Iike Buller and Leake 1s to him as inflexibly sacrosanct
as a Vedic verse This uniformity of language he even
exacted from his juniors and dewvils with the result that
when his pleadings were drafted by one of his dewils he
could adopt them as his own with suitable variations

In the forties, he had to do some very complicated
pleadings going over, some times, nearly to a hundred para-
graphs One of the most elaborate drafts which he did was
a written statement fo1 a party in Hyderabad State which
went 1nto nearly ninety pages The draft was ultumately
sent to Sir Tey Bahadur Sapru for settling and he approv-
ed 1t with only a few minor corrections

From the pomt of wview of sheer artistry, Munshi
regards two of his plaints as his best efforts omne was the
plaint 1n the case of Bansilal Abhwrchand v Suwr Manekn
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Dadabhoy, an action for the dissolution of partnership
between the sons of the famous industrial magnate Sir
Kasturchand Daga and Sir Manekji That case became
a first class causes celebre at Nagpur both by reason of its
volume and the personalities 1mmvolved. At the hearimg of
the case Sr1 C K Daphtary and I were briefed for the
Dagas and between us we cross-examined Sir Manekj: for
not less than four weeks In the beginning, the plaintiffs
i that case had in their possession very few material docu-
ments as the management of the partnership had for more,
than forty years remaimned entirely in the hands of the
defendant Munshi happened to be at Matheran and it
was there that, with the scanty materials produced before
him, he had drafted the plaint 1 remember vividly how
on his return he was full of enthusiasm for this draft It
was later on settled by Sr1 M C Setalvad and between
them they had produced a plaint as perfect as one could
expect in the circumstances The plamnt was so flexible 1
language and shape that when the evidence was led 1t eould
stand the stramn of a whole forest of complicated facts

The other memorable pleading was a plamnt in a suif
to be filed in Sholapur Court by a minor for setting aside
an alienation by a Hindu father of an estate 1 Sholapur
known as the ‘Warad Estate’ and also setting aside of
certamn debentures issued by a financing company floated
for purposes which could hardly be called very proper
The suit was transferred to the Bombay High Court and
as coincidence would have 1t, I had to appear in this smt
too for one of the parties TUltimately, the suit ended in a
compromise decree

In 1936 one of the most imteresting cases that Munshi
was briefed mn related to the controversy about the famous
temple of Kesariyaji in Udaipur State In the early part
of the 19th century the flagstaff of this temple had fallen
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down and the Svetambar Jains who held considerable
power in the state at the time put up a new flagstaff.
After about a century that flagstaff too broke down.
Dhulev, a village mn the State where the temple 1s situated
happens to be a Digambar village In recent years the
Svetambars had lost much of their original power and
influence and the Digambars now came forward to exercise
their privilege of putting up the flagstaff

Riots followed The State appownted a Committee of
Inquiry to decide between the rival contentions In the
meantime, as the flag must fly, the State put up 1ts own.
Ongm,ally, Sir Chimanla] Setalvad and Sri Jinnah appear-
ed for the rival parties Some time later, however, they
returned their respective briefs. The Svetambars instruct-
ed Sri M C Setalvad and the Digambars Munshi. The
main question mn the Inquiry was as to which was the sect
that had founded the famous temple

The inquiry involved a close study of several Jain
shastras, the nature of the temple’s architecture, genealogy
of some of the more important jamn sedhus who had wor-
shipped there and a number of inscriptions which devout
pilgrims had mseribed on the temple walls during the last
several years Sri Setalvad had the advantage of beng
ably assisted by that famous Jam scholar, Muni Jinvijayji,
who later became the Director of the Bharatiya Vidya
Bhavan Munshi, in his turn, revelled in the research,
partly historical and partly legal, that he had to undertake
m order to do justice to his side TUdaipur until then had
been a sealed book to him Its ancient atmosphere, to-
gether with the reminiscences of the geat Pratap and his
warriors and the complete isolation of the State from the
modern world, enraptured him

The most interesting part m the Inquiry was the one
taken by the doves TUdaipur at that time had hardly any



166 MUNSHI. HIS ART AND WORK

arrangement for a court Out of deference to the Bombay
lawyers the State put up a temporary Court in the State
Museum The doves of the Museum were as high pedigreed
and as unflinching 1n courage as the Rajput soldiers While
the case was going on, they would come 1 every few
minutes into the Court and perch themselves on one or the
other hangers and continue to coo with unabashed insis-
tence As soon as they started thewr loud chorus coun-
sel would stop 1n the middle of s argument and the se:-
vants of the State would rush in with long poles to drive
away these unwanted guests It was regarded sacrilegious
to 1mmjure the doves so that the servants could only keep on
shoomg them off all the time, keeping the ends of the
poles at a frespectable distance Some minutes would pass
thus in di1ving them away, when the legal arguments would
be resumed After a short interval, the whole episode
would be 1epeated

Durmng the course of the Inquiry, counsel on bpoti
sides visited the famous temple 1n order to find out whether
the mnumerable 1mages m the temple were carved maked
or dressed 1n a lomn cloth The Inquiry thus went on for a
considerable time To those who heard him, Munshi’s per-
formance both as a legal as well as a historical argument
appeared to be one of his best XEven Muni Jmmvijayan
who was taking part in the enquiry agamnst the Digambars
admitted that Munshi’s interpretation of the Jamn shastras
was a brilhant one The Civilian member of the Inquiry
Committee complimented Munshi heartily and before he
left for England mformed Munshi that the Committee had
decided 1 his favour

The Report of the Commaittee was at last submitted to
the State In the meantime, the then Prime Mimister died
and with his death the report was shelved The State flag
has been still flymmg on the flagstaff notwithstanding the
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Inquiry and the Repmt Both the Digambars and the
RBvetambars wairted to hear the contents of the Report
The State managed to forget all about i1t The Report
was published only i 1947 when Munshi1 was mvited by
+the Maharana to be his honorary Constitutional Adviser
The only result of the dispute between the two sects ap-
pears to have been the piivilege that the Jain community
had 1 spending lakhs of rupees to see a kind of gladiatorial
ficht between their prominent counsel to thewrr full
satifaction

About the year 1939 the new Income Tax Aect with
the establishment of Income Tax Tribunals opened out a
new figld for Munshi’s talents The new tribunals, though
limited i scope, have undoubtedly been able to check the
vagaries of the Income Tax Department This kind of
hitigation specially was swted to the genius of Munshi
Prom the time that the new tribunals came into beng, he
began to appear m a large number of Income Tax cases in
several parts of the country and became almost a fixture
in one or the other tribunals, for months at a stretch In
the course of this branch of his practice his adviece was
sought by some of the wealthiest multi-millionaires i the
country He appeared m some of the leading Income Tax
cases 1 the High Courts and the Supreme Court, before
which he conducted his last case in 1950

When Munshi came back to the Bar m 1941, he had
to carry out his professional obligation to appear for somz
industrial concerns for which he held general 1etainers
Complaints went up to Gandhijz when Munshi appeared
against the INTUC m a case before the Industrial Court
Gandhiy sent a message through Sardar requesting Munshi
not to appear against labour The rest of the story might
well be told in Munshi’s own words —

““I explamed to Sardar how I was regulating my
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professional activities As long as a lawyer was n
practice, his professional obligations demanded that
he should not deny his services to those who retained
him, unless, for personal reasons, he could mot do
justice to their case Whatever happened, he could
not go agamnst those who were retaining him With
regard to the INTUC, however, though I held 1t mn
great regard for i1t was both national and non-violent

1 character and played to no foreign tune, I agreed

to abide by his wishes.

““Later on, I placed the matter before Gandhip
himself, and though he would have liked me to accept
his view, he let me have my way of regulating my
practice So long as I had not decided to withdraw
from practice, I could not abjure professional obhga-
tions Nor did he allow this difference to come in the
way of his treating me with the old consideration I
was grateful for this mdulgence »’

It was 1 this connection that Gandhiji wrote a letter
to Sardar about Munshi The letter was 1n Gujarati and
has recently been published The followmg 1s the Eng-
lish translation of the part referring to Munshi ““Call
him (Munshi) and tell him this, that if he appears at all,
he should appear on behalf of labour, he cannot appear
on behalf of mill-owners So far as I have understood him,
he has resolved not to stick to the profession. He is out to
serve the country, he would take a special ecase only if that
was offered to him He would be blameworthy only if he
started practice hike other lawyers I eclearly understood
him to say that he was not gomng to be absorbed m his
practice He has gone out of the Congress under the clear
msistence of a moral duty Except for this, he belongs to
the Congress In my opinion, by leaving the Congress he
has become more of the Congress like me I have found
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him to be straight-forward He understands things of the
heart He has the spirit of self-sacrifice He keeps him-
self open to correction If that also be your impression of
him, call him and talk to him frankly. We should conduct
towards him as 1f he were a Congressman ’

6
CRUSADE FOR CIVIL LIBERTIES

SHORTLY after the outbreak of the second World War, the
Government of India armed themselves with extraordinary
powers through the Defence of India Act When the ‘Quit
India’ Movement was inaugurated in 1942 a number of
new ordinances were promulgated under the guise of quell-
mg a subversive movement The new ordinances threaten-
ed to throttle political life and public activity of any kind.
The situation threw upon Munshi the burden of leading
what became a veritable crusade in defence of personal
Iiberty and political rights He and his team of juniors ap-
peared practically throughout the country from Srinagar
to Madras

In these sensational cases Munshi brought out not only
his skill as a lawyer but often an element of smashing sur-
prise One of the first of these cases was mn connection with
the warrant of arrest issued by the Allahabad High Court
against Mr. B G Hornmmman, the famous editor of the
Bombay Sentinel, for contempt of Court Munshi’s con-
tention was that the Allahabad High Court had no juris-
diction to issue such a warrant for contempt in other pro-
vinees Ewidently, nobody had until then tried to issue
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such a warrant and when this contention was placed before
the Appellate Bench of the Bombay High Court 1t took
every one concerned by smiprise The High Court decided
m favour of Munshi’s contention and the judgement
created quite a sensation in the country When the war-
rant was ultimately returned unexecuted, Hormman with
characteristic promptness, wrote in the Bombay Sentinel
that the Allahabad High Court would have to wait long
before they got him to the United Provinces

Immediately after the arrest of the Congress leaders
on 9th August, 1942, Munshi set up an organmisation for
the defence of every person connected with the Quit India
Movement put up before the Police Courts in Bombay He
also managed to get the Bombay High Court Bar Associa-
tion to appomnt a committee to go mnto the high-handedness
of the authorities The expenses were mostly borne by
Munsh: himself He and the lawyers working in his cham-
ber became a sort of office for public advice Apart from
the number of important cases 1n which he himself appear-
ed without fees, as 1 the case of Chimur, lis juniors also
conducted and interested themselves in several cases at his
request and at nominal fees

One of the most sensational cases i which Munshi
came 1o be briefed durmng this period was the famous case,
popularly known as the T'7bune Contempt Case The case
was heard by the full bench of the Lahore High Court con-
sisting of Chief Justice Sir Trevor Harris, Mr Justice
Munir and Mr Justice Teja Smgh Munsh: assisted by
several leaders of the Lahore Bar, appeared for the Res-
pondents, while the Crown was represented by Sri Sleem,
the Advocate-General of Liahore High Court

The charges of contempt against the Respondents fell
under three headings —(1) for having published com-
ments on the arrest of Sri A C Bali under the heading
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‘‘Arrest made on flimsy grounds’’ in the issue of the T'r-
bune of 6th September 1943, (2) for having published the
proceedings of the hearing of the Habeas Corpus petition
filed by Sr1 PL Sondhi mn Lahore High Court for the
production of Si1 Bali in the Court to be dealt with in ac-
cordance with the law and to which objection was taken,
for having published the petition 1w ertenso as also for
having published observations attributed to Mr Justice
Munir and the remark of Sri1 Anand, Advocate, that the
arrest of Sr1 Bali was illegal, improper and mela fide, and
(3) for hawving published the news item regarding the
transfer application in Mr Justice Munir’s Comrt under
the heading ‘‘Lawyer msulted ’’
The political climate of the Punjab and the tense at-
mosphere of the Court are vividly portrayed by Munshi —
‘“Before I attended the Court, the Bar was exer-
cised over two questions first, whether Munshi the
lawyer and Munshi the author were the same or dif-
ferent persons, and secondly, whether he would ap-
pear with a Gandhi cap, which had been prohibited
within the Court premises by a notrfication
““My host, Sir Manoharlal, then a minister and
a trustee of the Tribune, was also anxious about my
cap. When leaving for the Court, he gave me a
mild hint as to the wisdom of my appearing in the
Court m a Gandhi ecap I said I would I think
Bakshi Tekchand had told me about the notification
and reminded me that several leading Congress law-
yers left their Gandhi caps behind when they went
to Court I told him that i1f any objection was taken
to my cap, I would apply for an adjournment of the
case till such time as the trustees of the Tribune were
able to engage a lawyer whose headgear was more
palatable to their Liordships
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““The Punjab at that time was passing through
not only one of 1ts worst periods of Hindu-Mushim
tension, but the authorities were also dealing with the
‘Quit India’ Movement with a heavy hand At such
a time for a lawyer to appear with a Gandhi cap
m defiance of the notification was quite unexpected

““The Court room was crowded to capacity I
made my appearance and thanked the Chief Justice
for permitting me to appear before the Court He
was good enough to make a pleasant remark of wel-
come My cap stood the test

‘‘For several days we went mto the Law of Con-
tempt of Court I soon discovered that the Chief Jus-
tice Sir Trevor Harris, was one of the greatest
Judges before whom, I have the honour to appear in
the course of my practice pleasant, informal, clear-
headed, open-minded, courteous All in all I have
never come across a better Judge in my life

‘“We waded through law report after law report,
the pleasant remarks of the Chief Justice relieving
the boreddm of reading dull judgements, sometimes
two eenturies old

““To give but one mnstance When I referred to a
law report, the Chief Justice said, ‘There 13 only one
copy 1n the Judges’ Library, while in the Patna High
Court from where I come, there were seven copies of
each report, so that each Judge could have a copy for
his own use’

‘“ ‘But surely, My Lord, the Punjab 1s a rich
provinee,’ I said

¢ ‘The riches are not reflected mm our library,’
said the Chief Justice

‘¢ ‘May be,’ I replied, ‘the wisdom of the Judges
of this Court makes law-books a superfluity.’
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““The Chief Justice had the habit of quietly
grasping the principle underlymng a case, and, after
summarising it i precise terms, having the summary
confirmed by me ‘This 1s what you mean, 1s 1t not?’
he would repeat again and agan

“‘Justice Munir was naturally annoyed that some-
body should have the temerity to question his judg-
ment 1 the way I was doing He was comparatively
a young Judge then

‘“One of the first principles which I had learnt
as a raw junior at the Bombay Bar was never to be
impatient or angry with the Judge, never to hit back
at him, never to be upleasant, and never to sacrifice
mdependence

““I had quite a few lapses from this standard m
my forty-two years of practice But every time I
had a lapse, I was sorry that I had not been able to
find the right woid to turn unpleasantness away

‘‘Irrepressibly sarcastie, Justice Munir tried to
find fault with every argument I advanced More
than once he was annoyed with my English, justi-
fiably perhaps, for my English 1s none to good

‘I bore his comments as patiently as I could
Ultimately, to one of his 1emarks on the language 1
had used, I replied with a low bow; ‘My Lord, you
know the handicaps under which all of us suffer. We
have to express ourselves by means of a foreign ton-
gue, and not having been to England for my Bar
examination, as Your Lordship has had the good for-
tune to do, you will forgive me if my Enghsh does
not come up to your Loirdship’s expectations ’

““The atmosphere became a little tense A breeze
was anticipated But Sir Trevor Harris rose to the
occasion. ‘Don’t say that Mr Munsh: You are very
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modest We mn England speak English, you m India
learn English, and any day you speak 1t better than
most of us Englishmen ’

““On another ocecasion, Justice Munir asked me
‘“Why should the papers publish the comments of a
Judge? For their own safety they should only pub-
lish judgements ’

¢ ‘If Your Lordship’s view was accepted, the
Iiberty of the Press would be mn jeopardy and the
meanming and purpose of proceedings in open court
would be lost,” was my reply

¢ ‘Justice 1s not a handmaid of journalists,’
returned Justice Munir

¢¢ ¢Neither, My Loid, 1s 1t a cloistered virtue that
cannot stand the public gaze’ I replied

““Soon the Chief Justice and Justice Teja Singh
were 1n my favour A stage came when they them-
selves replied to all the objections that were raised hyv
Justice Munir

““At the end of the argument our nerves became
a little frayed Justice Munir observed with a touch
of asperity  ‘If Bali comes before me again 1n & case
like this one, I shall deal with him m the same man-
ner ’

““I bowed ceremoniously and said ‘My Lord,
Your Lordship 1s unjust to yourself With the
volume of learning to which I hawve drawn Your
Lordship’s attention, I am sure the next time Your
Lordship would find 1t difficult to do as you say you
would ’

““Liater, I appeared before Justice Munir 1n one or
two other cases I was glad to find that my impres-
sion of him in this case was just a passing experience
For instance, in a long argument in a very difficult
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case which went on before him for weeks, I found him
both pleasant and patient And no guality m a
Judge 1s more indispensable than that of which the
tecdium of a long and boring case can be made enjoy-
able

““The Tribune case ended 1 a majority judge-
ment m my favour, Munnn J dissenting The Full
Bench judgements are 1eported m AIR 1942, Lahoie,

page 329 The judgement of the Chief Justice 1s a

leading authority on this branch of the law ”’

The Habeas Corpus petition of Sr1 Jai1 Prakash Naram
was another sensational brief that Munshi took up during
this critical period The application was heard before a
Division Bench of Liahore High Court consisting of Chief
Justice Sir Trevor Harris and Mr Justice Abdul Rehman
Sr1 Ja1 Prakash Naram had been origmally detamned under
Rule 26 of the Defence of India Rules When a Habeas
Corpus application on his behalf was filed by Sr1 H R
Pardiwala of the Bombay Bar, the Lahore Police ariested
Pardiwala himself on the very day he filed his client’s
petition The Government of the Punjab, perhaps finding
that 1t could not resist the petition, sought relief in the old
and obsolete Regulation ITI of 1818 and declared Sri Jar
Prakash Naramn a state prisoner This took away the
jurisdiction of the Court to interfere mn the case

Arising out of this application was the case of Sm
Pardiwala who, as I have already stated, had gone to Lahore
with Munshi’s own personal notes to Sr1 Jeewanlal Kapur
(then practising lawyer of the Lahore High Court, now
a Judge m the Supreme Court) and other friends to file
the Habeas Corpus petition on behalf of Sri1 Jai1 Prakash
Naram After fillng the petition when Sri1 Pardiwala
came out of the High Court bmilding he was arrested and
detained tmder Rule 26 for about three days in jail by the
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Lahore Police under harassing conditions This created
a frst class scandal throughout the whole country '

‘While Munshi was on his way to Lahore for argumng
the case of Sri Jai Prakash Naraim, he realised that there
was no case to argue, In fact he had declined to proceed
to Lahore but Sri Pardiwala and some friends, wanted
him to go on with the case even 1f for mo other purpose
than to submit that there was no case In the tram,
Munshi drafted a petition agamnst the DIG, CID, of
the Punjab and the Superintendent, CID as also the
Inspector for arresting Sri1 Pardiwala while discharging
his duty as a lawyer and for withholding from the High
Court of Liahore his Habeas Corpus petition made while he
was 1n jail

‘When Munshi went to the Lahore High Court he ap-
plied for a rule for contempt agammst the three officers
mentioned 1n the petition drafted by him  This surprising
move fell Iike a bombshell for the Punjab police who had
at that time managed to acquire a smister reputation

When Munshi went again to argue the application, all
the three officers concerned did mnot even care to remam
present 1n Court When the question arose as to when
Sr1 Pardiwala’s petition to the Court for Habeas Corpus
sent from the jail was dated, the Advocate General stated
that he would make mquries from the second Respondent,
Robmson Munshi promptly drew the court’s attention to
the offensive attitude of the three Respomdents m not
bemng present m a quasi-criminal case The Chief Justice
was annoyed and the three officers were immediately sum-
moned As soon as they arrived they mstructed their
counsel to say that the petition had been destroyed For-
tunately, Sri Pardiwala had all throughout maintamed a
diary, mn which he had noted that he had submitted his
Hubeas Corpus application on a particular date
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The Court then gave liberty to Munshi to ask
questions to these officers Supermtendent Robinson was
more or less regarded as a power m Lahore and had never
before in his life gone through the gruelling experience of
being cross-examined on his own conduet

Munsh1  You had the petition of Habeas Corpus and
the letter addressed to your superior, the DI G

Answer Yes

Questron  You tore up both the petition and the
letter

A Yes

Q For how many years have you been in the Police
Force?

(The Superintendent gave the number)

Q  TIs 1t the practice mn the Punjab Police Force for
a subordinate officer to tear off the letters addressed to his
superior ?

The Superintendent tried to evade the question but
Munsh: msisted on reply and the Chief Justice who had
noted the none-too-humble attitude of the officer registered
a stern warning to the witness The question was agamn
asked and the answer was ‘“No It is not’’

Q Is 1t not a iule of the Police Force that every

Jetter addressed to your superior must be forwarded to
him?

A Yes

Q Why then did you tear up the letter to the DI G?

The Superintendent could sumply mutter ‘I think I
was foolish *’

The Supermtendent and the Inspector were ordered
to pay a fine of Rs 50 each and the Court gave a stern
warning to the Police not to trifle with petitions made by
detenus to the High Court On the other charge it was
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held that Sr1 Pardiwala at the time he was arrested was
aischarging his duty as counsel

The case of Pardiwala created quite a furore i the
Punjab and the Police felt extremely crestfallen The
Superintendent was soon after transfered from Lahore

Sr1 Shiva Kumar Shastri, Bariister-at-law then prac-
tising 1 the Lahore High Court, wrote i 1946 his impres-
sions of Munshi’s first appearance in the High Couit of
Lahore that the management of the Trbune after great
deliberation had decided to brief Munshi and that ‘‘by that
decision something like history was made’”’

““Munshi’s name was not unfamiliar to us m the
Punjab but he had done so many things in life that very
few of us knew exactly the number or range of his activi-
ties and accomplishments He 1s a lawyer of great stand-
ng, one would say According to another, he was a novelist
and dramatist of great repute A third would remark
with some heat that the Munshi he knew was a profound
scholar 1 ancint Indian History and knew Sanskrit like
the sages of old A fourth would mmquire meekly 1f the
Munsh1 that was coming over was not the one who had
1ecently started the Akhand Hindustan movement and had
actually been to Lahore i that connection  The first
would nod his head wisely and say ‘Why not? He was
also a very successful Home Minister m the late Congress
Ministry i Bombay ILawyers take to polhities as a duck
to water ’

““The second would say, ‘May be But I stall insist
that Munshi 1s primarily a novelist and a dramatist, that
is, a man of literature He 15 famous 1 the literary cir-
cles of India Perhaps he took to law and politics as a
side line’

““The first would say, ‘Don’t be absurd’ How can
law be a side Ime? Tt 1s a jealous mistress. A lawyer
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may take interest m other things, but he cannot humanly
specialise 1n any other thing 1 should know I am a law-
yer’

““The third would say, ‘Nevertheless, I mamtain that
1f Munshi had specialised 1n anything 1t 1s 1 the history
and culture of India You can feel 1t by listening to him I
should know I have talked to him’

‘“The fourth would say, ‘Hasn’t 1t occurred to anyone
that there may be different savants answering to the same
name? One may indeed be a specialist m history, the other
might be a literary man and the third a lawyer’

“The first would say, ‘Yes, that 15 a sensible view’
The second would say, ‘But I thought we were talking
about the same man’ The fourth would say, ‘How can
you, 1f you keep on deseribing him differently?’

“T was frequently coming across views of this kind
Naturally, T was mterested to know more about a man who
was bemg acclaimed on different sides as a specialist on
more subjects than one I read some of his published
works 1n English I also came to know something about
his status 1n Gujaraty hiterature

““For the moment, however, I and other members of
the legal profession were concerned wholly with the fate of
the impending proceedings agamst the Tribune and thought
of Munsh1 1 no other capacity except that of an ement
lawyer on whose ability and advocacy we would have a
chance to form a conclusion of our own

““The events I am recalling occurred about three years
ago (1946) Yet they are fresh n my mind Watching
Munshi develop his arguments i Courts, one felt at once
that one was confronted with a powerful and fearless per-
sonality having a splendid mtellect and a profoundly judi-
cial mind His grasp of facts seemed thorough, his back-
ground of law masterly, and his logic penetrating and
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irresistible In a firm yet restrained language he would
formulate his points, rebuking where rebuke was called for'
and at times conceding with a grace that disarmed all
cpposition and dissent He would put new light and clarity
cn old and well established principles of law and the judi-
cial decisions on which they rested There was no asserticn
of his which could be regarded merely as a debating pomnt
and which could not be backed up by the strictest require-
ments of law and equity He never said anything that was
redundant or superfluous

‘“Therefore, whatever he said carried conviction ’’

““The result was a triumph for Munshi Then the liti-
gant public of the Punjab literally fell over him Brief
after brief came to him He could not accept them all
Nevertheless his visits to Lahore became quite frequent
Each case :n which he was briefed ended i his triumph
and 1n vietory for those that engaged him His ‘mofussil’
practice was already extending beyond the confines of hig
own province It seemed that the Punjab was also bemng
annexed to that wide area

““The Executive and the Police of our Province began
to sit up and take notice They had got used to acting
arbitrarily and with an insufferable arrogance The ab-
sence of any vigorous protest on the one hand and the om-
nibus character of the Defence of India Rules on the other
had bred m them that absence of vigilence which leads ine-
vitably to an abuse of authority Two cases which Munshi
argued gave them a well-needed jolt from this complacency
In one, a Superintendent of Police of the C I D. was found
guilty of technical contempt becausé he had been responsi-
ble for withholding the transmission to the Haigh Court of
an Habeas Corpus petition by a detained person on the
fatuous plea that, 1n his opinion, i1t had become mnfructuous
The Court held that i1t was no business of any official to-



CRUSADE FOR CIVIL LIBERTIES 181

form any conclusion about an application addressed to the
Court This case 1s reported m A IR 1944, Lahore 196

‘“The other case dealt with the ambit and scope of Rule
129 of the Defence of India Rules For some time this rule
had become a kind of Santa Claus to the Police It al-
lowed them to detain a person on mere suspicion Inevitab-
ly 1t had come to be misused In this case (reported m
A IR 1944, Lahore, 373) the accused persons had been de-
tamed under this rule not to ensure a more efficient prose-
cution of the war but to ensure a more efficient mvestiga-
tion into, and therefore a successful prosecution of their
alleged crime of cheating. This was a gross abuse of Rule
129 and was held as such.

“During this time I came to know Munshi intimatelv
I soon discovered that behind the alert and eminent lawyer
there was a deep thinker That gave a special sigmificance
{0 his views on polities’’.

In August 1942 the wvillages of Chimur and Ramtek
drew countrywide attention by certamn Government officers
having been killed by the mobs there and by their having
indulged 1 arson and looting Some of the Dracoman
measures adopted by the Government of the Central Pro-
vinces 1mmediately after these mncidents made the situation
in that Province more bitter than ever Stories of rape
eommitted on women in these villages, looting of houses
and various other persecutions by the soldiers, magistrates
and police stationed there spread like wild fire, giving rise
to tremendous mdignation throughout the country

In Ramtek, a small town near Nagpur, the Govern-
ment Treasury was looted by a mob In Chimur some
members of the public had taken out a Prabhat Pher1 The
Police as usual m those days had thought fit to stop 1t by
a lathi charge. The upshot of such tactless behaviour on
the part of the Police was only to increase the number of
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persons 1n the procession. The procession wended its way
to the Dak Bungalow where a Govenment officer had put
up the previous evening Unfortunately the officer con-
cerned lost his presence of mind. Seemg the crowd coming
mto the Bungalow but only to scare the crowd away he
shouted to his chaprasi to bring him his gun Then the
tragedy happened The crowd thought that the officer
mstead of listening to their complaint was about to shoot
them down and in their excitement fell on the officer who
was about to run into another room In the fight that
took place the officer was done to death  Some of the police
officers started shooting at the crowd and then began run-
ning for a neighbourmg town The crowd followed i
order to stop them from securing help The policemen
shot down some members of the crowd; the crowd dis-
armed some of the policemen and killed some others

After the incident was over the villagers realising
what was to be their lot went out in all directions, felled
a good number of trees from the road sides and blocked
the roads leading to the village

Almost 1dentical events took place in Ashti, a pros-
perous town near Wardha with a population of about three
to four thousand souls Two or three days prior to the
unfortunate events that happened there, 1t was openly
announced by the local people that a procession would be
taken out in the morning Express directions were issued
to those mmtending to jomn the procession not to carry with
them any lathi or stick HEwidence i the Ashti case made
1t clear beyond doubt that certain persons who came to
Ashti from the neighbourmg wvillages were actually asked
to lay aside therr sticks before entering the wvillage

‘When the procession started i1t contamned no more than
three hundred persons shouting Congress slogans and was
preceded by a person holding aloft the tricolour flag
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The thana had an Inspector of Police, who had kept
himself and his five constables ready, armed with rifles
As the procession came near the compound gates the pro-
cessionists, who were till then quite orderly, were met bv
the Inspector He took the leaders to the verandah to dis-
cuss matters The leaders were trying to persuade the In-
spector to permit them to hoist the national flag on the
Police thana While these talks weie gomg on, one among
the constables who were standing on two sides of the build-
ing started all of a sudden firing at the erowd which was
squatting 1n the compound mn a quiet and orderly fashion
A few of them were mjured and a Muslim vouth who
happened to belong to a Nawab’s family died.

The crowd dispersed immediately and the proces-
sionists out of sheer fright ran back to the town That
was the end of the procession An how or so later another
erowd, this time much stronge1, came back td the thana to
fetech the dead and the mmjured The Inspector perhaps
thought that the public would pairade the dead and the
mjured through the town and believing that i1t might per
haps lead to more serious trouble immediately sent one of
the constables for assistance from the nearby town, closed
the compound gates and obstinately refused either to de
Iiver the mjured or to give any medical help to them
Some of the members of the crowd had by this time gone
mad with fury owing to their comrades bemg either killec
or mjured as a result of the firmg Even m such wild fury
some of them did not forget to go to the Police quartes
and escort the wives and children of the Inspector and the
constables safely to the village

Even then perhaps nothing worse would have happen
ed had the Inspector mot run amuck Going about her
and there, shooting wildly at the crowd, he came near th
eompound gate where the greater part of the crowd wa
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still standing and shot down a young man standing near
the dispensary opposite The crowd thinking that others
might hikewise be shot at, fell on the Inspector and did
him to death Omnce the crowd had seen red, the rest of
the constables too met with the same fate The constable
who had first started firing 1n the morning on the peaceful
crowd was found m the evening and he also shared the
fate of his colleagues

The trials were scheduled to take place in October
1942 Special judges were appointed under the Special
Cimminal Courts Ordinance to try these cases Smt Janks-
devi Bajajy had sent a messenger to Bombay and asked
Munshi to take up the defence in these cases Munshi him-
self with Sr1 A C Amin went to defend the accused in the
Chimur case and sent Sr1 J H Dave and me for the
Ashti case

Both. the®cases were lengthy affairs, and oceupied two
months Dr Kedar of the Nagpur Bar also joined us in
the Ashti case after some time

‘While we were comfortably lodged in the Bajaj Wadi
at Wardha, Munsh:1 had to stay in Chanda where no
arrangement worth the name was made for his stay It
was amusing to see Munsh: with his junior living in one
room on the ground floor a building, which until his arri-
val was used as a shop selling miscellaneous wares Possi-
bly none mn the town could imvite so dangerous a persom
as counsel for the aceused in the Chimur case

Before the Chimur trial was over Munshi was asked to
attend to the application m the High Court of Nagpur for
a writ of Habeas Corpus (Svtao, Jholwa and others v Kwng
Emperor, ATR 1943, Nagpur, 36), challenging the wvali-
dity of the Special Criminal Courts Ordmance of 1942
and the Special Courts established thereunder. The ap-
plication was heard by that distinguished Judge Mr. Jus-
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tice Niyogi and Mr Justice Digby The two judges gave
differmg judgements and ultimately the application was
beard by Chief Justice Grill. Appearmg on behalf of the
applicants Munshi raised the question that the Ordinanece
was ultra vires of the Governor-General, that 1t was not
retrospeetive and did not apply to mcidents which took
place before 1t was passed Mr Justice Niyog1 delivered
a very learned and scholarly judgement in favour of the
applicants Mr Justice Digby, however, gave a differmng
Judgement On this difference the Chief Justice as the
third judge held most of the applicants’ contentions un-
tenable and dismissed the application

This was the first attempt 1n the country to attack the
validity of the Ordinance, a piece of legislation which m
those days was more hated by the public than any other
Finding this application as a precedent many a lawyer
other Courts i the country filed such applications The
controversy was decided by the Federal Court holding the
cbnoxious Ordinance invalid

Owmng to the provisions of the Ordinance to dispose
of cases as summary trials, many, 1f not all, salutary rules
of ceriminal jurisprudence were thrown overboard The
1dentification parades i these cases as in all other cases
where a mass of people were concerned as acecused were
searcely unimpeachable The testimony of the prosecution
witnesses when put to the test of cross-exammation was
hardly of a nature that would be called dependable The
Ordinance allowed the Special Judges to take down a mere
memorandum of evidence led before them In fact the
accused were seated far away beyond hearing in the Chi-
mur case when the memorandum was taken down

Mr. Wickendon, I CS, the Special Judge, was des-
cribed by Munshi to me to be as conscientious as Mr
Justice Broomfield and as quick as Chief Justice Macleod,
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with an attitude which considered the Bar as entirely un-
necessary and the Empire as being i danger The great
tial of Chimur had afforded the Judge also the oppor-
tunity for some display of the armed might of the British
Rajy All throughout the sittings the Judge used to keep
armed guards round the Chanda Court and an armed
officer behind him

We met a batch of these young prisoners at Wardha
Statron at midnight When we tried to express our polite
regrets for the extreme sentence awarded to them we met
with the reply ‘‘If the Japanese had invaded our Mother-
land and if there had been a national government we would
have jomned therarmed forces and would have been called
upon to make this very sacrifice There is a war gomng on
m the country for freedom and the trials and the penal-
ties are merely the consequences of that war.”’

The Chimur case became more well-known in the
country than the Ashti case, owmg to Prof Bhansali
having undertaken a” fast and determined not to swerve
from his resolve till the C P Government promised to hold
an mdependent mquiry into the cases of alleged rape in
Chimur

It might be remembered that durmng this period of
Piof Bhansali’s great ordeal 1t was due to the publicity
carried on by Munshi through public lectures and articles
m the Press that the attention of the country was focussed
on the problems of Chimur He was 1 no small measure
responsible for the victory of Prof Bhansali

About this time Munshi came to be briefed on behalf
of the Acharya of the well-known Swami Narayan Sect
i Gujarat, the headquaiters of which were. at Vadtal I
happened to be briefed as his junior in this ease The
zase as originally filed was a small affair i the Court at
Borsad, a small town m Gujarat But in the course of
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the trial 1t acquired a tremendous importance by reason of
the Court having to go mto the religious doetrmes preached
by the rival parties

For about the last half a century certain dissentient
religious doctrines had been preached by the defendants
m the ease The defendants msisted upon bemng called
sadhus of the Swami Narayan Sect and asserted their right
to go to the various temples belonging to the diocese of
Vadtal and preach their heterodox doctrines The Acharva
therefore filed a suit against them for an mmjunction to
restramn them from going mto the temples and for a de-
claration that the defendant and his followers were not
the followers of Swami Narayan and were not entitled to
the benefit of the Vadtal temple and 1ts subsidiary temples

The first defendant who was the leader of the dissen-
tient party had, during fifty vears or so, undoubtedly aec-
quired considerable influence as a religious preacher and
in rivalry with the diocese of Vadtal had built a number of
temples 1n the varwious villages :n Gujarat It had there-
fore become necessary for the authorities of the Vadtal
temple to put an end to the efforts of this rrval sect to use
its temples

Munshi’s elaborate argument was a discourse on the
evolution of the monotheism of the Gite culminating in the
latter day doctrmes of Swami Narayan He took the central
doctrine of avatare and kshare and akshara purusha from
the Gata, raced thewr evolution through the Bhagwat, Sr1
Ramanuja’s wrrtings, and the Vasudeva Mahaimya i the
Skanda Purana to Swam Narayan who gave them a pecu-
liar emphasis m his discourses and was accepted as the
avatara of Sri Krishna He also traced the evolution of
the doctrines of the other sect to establish how they were
destructive of the founder’s doctrine He then dealt with
the law m support of his contention that the members of
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a seet who do not accept the founder’s doctrines are not
entitled to the benefit of the foundation In preparation,
maishalling and presentation, his address i the Borsad
case to my mind, 1s one of his most brilliant performances

‘We won the Swami Narayan Case The appeal from
the decision was dismissed and the other side allowed their
second appeal to the High Court to be dismissed also.

In 1937 he had a sumilar case of a different sect. He
appeared for the Mullajr Saheb of the Dawoodi Borah
community and traced the evolution of the doctrine of
the representative character of Mullajy Saheb from the
days of the Prophet It was i such cases that Munshi’s
scholarship and forensic ability excelled

The most brilliant performance of Munshi which I
saw was his argument in the ‘‘Demonetisation Ordinance?’’
case The Government of India issued an Ordinanece
stopping the cashing of Rs 1,000 notes after a certain date
In Munshi’s opmion, this ordinance did not exonerate the
Reserve Bank from its IO U hability as the promiser
A mandamus petition was filed, and heard by Mr Justice
Kania, Munshi had a few hours with leading financiers and
carried on research m the origin and development of the
Bank promissory notes from the earliest days of the Bank
of England His arguments before the Original and in
the Appeal Cowrt consisting of Sir Leonard Stone, CJ.,
and Lokur J, was a marvel of precision and presentation,
which richly deserved the learned Chief Justice’s com-
ments ‘‘brilliant and exhaustive ”’ The petition none-
theless failed

Munsh: has always mamtained that the senror’s
chamber where jumiors and pupils came to learn should
be Iike a Hindu jomnt family pivoting round the senior.
His relations with his devils have not been merely
professional On a young lawyer entering his chambers,
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Munshi’s relations immediately became personal, and the
newecomer was not only extended a cordial and enthusiastic
welcome from his Guru but was received as a member of
his family Apart from his concern for the jumior’s pro-
fessional rise, Munsh: was always anxious to help his de-
vils m every difficulty XEven an ordinary illness of one
of them made him extremely concerned Any of his
Juniors could approach him without fear of disappoint-
ment for solution of a legal dafficulty in the busiest of.his
busy time Many a time he re-wrote the draft of a plead-
g drawn by his devil for himself Apart from his per-
sonal iterest the junior began to share in the manifold
activities that were ceaselessly gomg on in the chamber
Each of the devils was given a directive share in the
various activities, educational, social or political, :n which
Munshi was mnterested

Amongst the many young men who have come into
Munshi’s close contact during his legal career, one of the
more promment was Sri1 Purshottam Trikamdas In-
spite of deep differences m political outlook, both of them
have maintamed relations of mutual affection

It was a piece of happy comncidence that Munshi came
to argue Sri1 Purshottam’s own Habeas Corpus petition
filed by him while he was 1n detention as a result of the
Quit India Movement

After the passing of the ‘Quit India’ Resolution of
the 8th August 1942 some of the left wing Congressmen in
the city of Bombay went underground under the leader-
ship of Sr1 Purshottam Sri Purshottam, or P T, as he
1s popularly known amongst his mtimates, successfully
evaded the Bombay CID for a long time He was ulti-
mately arrested on November 19, 1942 at Bandra On
December 2, 1942 the Government of Bombay passed an
order detaiming him under Rule 26 of the Defence of India
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Rules and transferred him to the Lahore Central Jail.
The Government of Bombay by another order dated the
22nd of December 1942 passed an order ‘i supersession of
the previous order’ authorising the Inspector-General of
Police, Punjab, to detain PT 1 any jail in the Punjab

Late m 1945 when P T was transferred to Yervada
Jail after having experienced life in a couple of jails mn
the Punjab, m solitary confinement m one of them, the
Gdévernment sought further to continue his detention under
the Restriction and Detention Ordinance of 1944 He sent
m an Habeas Corpus petition to the High Court of Bom-
bay Munshi’s eye caught the fatal defect m the orde:
The Governmment had been continming a superseded oider
and keepmg PT 1 jail unlawfully

Munshi argued the petition on behalf of P'T bhefore
a Division Bench of the High Court of Bombay packed
with the Advocates and friends of P T The contentions
of the petitioner were upheld by the Court and PT was
there and then set at liberty No one in the vast crowd
was gladder to see him agamn at liberty than his Guru

7

THE PUSHPA CASE

Tae Tribune Contempt Case and Sra Pardiwala’s Habeas
Corpus application created quite a stir mn Incha at the
time for more reasons than one The judgement 1n
the Contempt Case endorsing Munshi’s exposition of the
Law of Contempt 1s a leading authority on this branch of
law Moreover, mn view of the political situation in the
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Punjab these two cases and their outcome were entwined
with the struggle for freedom

Munshi, however, considers thiee of the cases 1n which
he appeared to be his most outstandmng performances
They are the Pushpa (ase., the Ratlam Conspiracy and
the Lakshmikantam Murder Case

The first dealt with the law of marriages among the
Hindus The second was a political conspiracy case where
the accused were charged with trymng to overthrow the
Government of the then Ratlam State The third, was
a murder trial One took place at Bombay, another at
Ratlam and the third at Madias But they had three
things 1n common In the beginning 1t looked as 1f the
case for Munshi’s clients stood no chance of success at all
Secondly, each case created a great deal of sensation, and,
thirdly, there was an element of surprise mn each by which
Munsh: obtamned success for his clients

The Pushpa case had created, even before the case
started, excitement 1n the community to which the parties
belonged Pushpa was the daughter of a rich meichant
m Bombay At a very tender age she was attracted to a
boy of her own caste who was alleged to have induced her
to leave her house and the custody of her parents They
went, through some kind of mairiage 1n a chawl at Parel
in Bombay and immediately left for Poona

The parents made a search for the girl and through the
assistance of some friends, mnduced her to return fo
their house Her running away had given a great shock
and distress to her orthodox parents However they pro-
mised the boy that if she was still willing to go and stay
with him they would'raise no objection

On her return when she saw the distress of her parents,
she realised the folly of her impulsive action and declmed
to go to the young man The young man was given a
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chance to see the girl again but the girl was adamant and
even refused to have any talk with him

The young man i1mmediately started guardianship
proceedings against the girl whom he called his wife In
these proceedings a compromise was arrived at as a result
of which the father of the girl had to give the young man
the costs of the proceedings TUnder this compromise the
young man was agamm to be given an opportunity to see
the girl and 1t was agreed that 1f he succeeded 1n winning
her back the parents would consent to her bemg regularly
married to hum  Though the young man failed to win her,
he filed a suit in the High Court of Bombay for a decla-
ration that there was a valid and binding marriage between
him and the girl

Munshi was instructed to appear on behalf of the girl.
In the initial stages the case had acquired an unpleasant
notoriety by reason of a general feeling that rich and ortho-
dox parents were breaking up the romance of the two
young lovers Munshi, the high priest of romance, had
made a condition before accepting the brief that he would
appear only 1f the girl independently of any parental an-
fluence, convinced him that she wanted to resist the alleged
“marriage

This she did Heaps of letters written by the
girl and the boy to each other added to the curiosity
already prevailing not only m the community but even
amongst outsiders The young people had gone through
a marriage ceremony of which the plammtiff had managed
to have photographs taken The plamtiff brought several
eye witnesses to the marriage ceremony There was evi-
dence too that both the young people had gone and lived
together for two days at Poona

In the course of the case, when the letters were read,
Mr Justice Chagla, as he then was, remarked, ‘‘Mr Mun-
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shi, your books seem to be responsible for these love
letters > Munshi promptly replied, ‘I can’t disown res-
ponsibility, My Lord, for mtroducing romance in. Gujarati
lafe 77

In the begmning Munshi tried his utmost to induce
the plamntiff to leave the girl to herself particularly as she
had declined to have anything to do with him At one
stage on behalf of the girl’s parents he offered a consider-
able sum by way of costs if the plamtiff agreed to have the
suit dismissed, but he would not give any money for the boy
himself While these negotiations were going on Munshi
had ecome to the conclusion that the young man was after
all not a perfect Romeo and that the financial side of the
marriage was not totally out of consideiation By this
time the girl had made 1t perfectly clear that even if she
was declared to be the wedded wife of this young man she
would never go back to him

The main question 1n the case was whether the parties
had gone through the marriage ceremony which the Hindu
law presecribed Munshi had prepared himself with all the
texts presecribing the details of the necessary ceremonies
He got his chance when the sealed bundles containing the
photographs of the marriage ceremony were opened He
immediately detected i the photographs what had escaped
the attention of almost every one concerned in the case

He cross-examined the plaintiff at great length on all
aspects of the case except the marriage ceremony 1itself
At one stage even the learned Judge asked Munshi as
to why he did not at once come to the ceremony part of
the case After two days’ cross-examination Munshi look-
ed at the clock It was about 40 minutes before the
recess when he let himself go He did not want his oppo-
nent to have any opportunity for re-examining him after
the recess Commencing this part of the cross-examination

7



194 MUNSHI HIS ART AND WUKK

Munshi asked: ‘‘And all the ceremonies were performed?’’

Ans “Yes ”?

Question  ““What were the ceremonies?’’

The plamntiff had prepared himself well and describ-
ed the ceremonies supposed to have been performed in all
details

Munsh: encouraged him to give all the details of the
rituals, and the plamtiff who was ready with such details
was chuckling at the gaps i the examination-m-chief bemg
filled 1n by the opposite Coumsel by leading questions
The young man had given complete details of the ceremony
as the shastras prescribed

Then came the next series of the questions

Q ‘“Where was Varuna 1e, the brass lote with the
coconut?’’

A- ““In front of us ”’

Q “‘I take it that the sacred fire was on the Chore
(little mud platform). I take 1t that it was burning n
front of you and the defendant ”’

A . ttYeS 2

Q ““I take 1t that the size was the usual one about
five by five inches?’’

A, t(Yes 22

Q “‘The fire I take 1t was burning all throughout the
eeremony 27’

A “Y'es 2

Q I assume that the fire was kept burning by ghee
being poured in 1t at mtervals durmg all ‘the forty-five
minutes of the marriage ceremony ?’’

A “Yes 22

Q “‘Are you sure that the fire was burning through-
out the ceremony?’’

A - ““Certamly, yes ”’

Munsh: looked up at the clock It was exactly 1-30
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pm, half an hour was still to go for the recess. He took
up the photograph of the marriage ceremony and pre-
sented 1t to the young plamtiff

Q ““Will you show to the Court in this photograph
where the fire 13 and where the Varuna (brass lofa with
coconut) 1s placed’”’

The plamtiff looked at the photograph, saw the blun-
der he had committed and was immediately taken aback
The photograph only showed a glass tumbler in front of
the wedding pair Theie was no brass lof¢ and no mud
platform

““Where 1s the fire?’’ he was asked to pomt 1t 1n the
photograph

The plantiff was Iike a drowning man willmg to
clutch at anything available He spotted in the photo-
graph something white neair the sai1 of the bride and
poimnted 1t out as the fire

Munsh: got him to mark the spot with blue pencil and
asked ‘“You are sure 1t 1s the fire before which you
married > He said, ‘‘Yes ”’

Then Munshi sat down There was some re-examina-
tion and the plamtiff’s evidence came to a close

Another witness followed who again elaborately des-
cribed the paraphernalia of the sacrificial fire but had no
other alternative exceept to 1epeat that the white spot in
the photograph near the sari of the bride represented the
sacrificial fire

After the recess Munsh: brought a microscope and
pomnted out to the learned judge that what was pomted
out as fire m the photograph was nothmg but a flower
which had dropped down om the sar: of the bride There
was no fire, and no marriage.

The defence called a photographic expert who depo-
sed to the absence of the fire 1n the photograph  After
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the examination of the expert the plamtiff completely col-
lapsed and immediately gave up the case

As the Court rose, the plamntiff shouted at Munshi
““You have converted a wife mto a sister!”’

8
THE KACHAUR! CASE

Munsh: always refers to the Ratlam Conspiracy Case
as the Kachaurs Case Kachaurs 1s a delicacy peculiar to
Gujarat and Rajasthan With the novelist’s flair for the
melodramatic touch, Munshi insists that his eating a
kachawr was the deciding factor in the case, slurring over
the fact that his position mm the political world and his
legal eminence could not but have brought the case to a
successful conclusion His narrative of the case is mterest-
mg as 1t re-captures the atmosphere i the Indian States
which have now become a relic of the past

‘“The manner in which I undertook, argued and
won the ‘‘Kachauri’’ case was more fantastic—be-
lieve 1t or not—than anything in a Gilbert and Sulli-
van opera

““In the middle of December 1941, Kanaiyalal
Vaidya, an office-bearer of the States Peoples’ Con-
gress, brought me a letter from Gandhijn It asked
me to appear on behalf of the appellants in the con-
spiracy case, then before the Privy Counecil of Rat-
lam, a small princely state now merged m Madhya

Bharat ‘By advocacy you can only achieve what 1s

possible’, wrote Gandhiji, ‘but by your going there

the poor prisoners will find some comfort Meet the
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officers there and spread the cult of mercy even by
going out of your (professional) field’

‘““The case was fixed—I think—for December
20th., I may be in eiror by a day or two

““‘In this case seven or eight persons, mncluding
a local doctor and lawyer, had been tried, convicted
and sentenced, some to no less than seven years’ rigo-
rous mmprisonment The charges against them inclu-
ded the charge of attempting to overthrow the law-
fully-established Government of His Highness the
Maharaja Sajjan Singh of Ratlam One of the ac-
cused had died 1 jail The people were terror-
stricken The Praja Mandal was practically dead
No local lawyer had the courage to come forward to
defend the accused Even a Bombay lawyer who had
come to defend the accused in the Sessions Court had
to leave Ratlam 1n a hurry because of a threat con-
veyed to him The less said about the nature of this
threat the better

““With these words, Kanaiyalal flung at me—no
other word 1s appropriate—a huge pile of papers
The judgment—thank God—was 1n English The de-
positions of dozens of witnesses and scores of the do-
cuments were m Hindi, not typed or well-written,
but secrawled in those hieroglyphics which each indi-
vidual writer of Hindi invents for himself when he
begins to write the Devanagari seript without the
top-line

““I was i despair I had to be in Idar to con-
duct a heavy appeal the day following the date on
which the Ratlam case was fixed How on earth was
I going to do the two heavy cases at the same time?
And how was I going to wade through this huge pile
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of indecipherable documents? But Gandhiji’s wish-
es were always commands

““I wired to the Maharaja of Ratlam—I did not
know him personally then—to grant me an adjourn-
ment of the case In a few hours the reply came that
no adjournment would be granted

““I then wired to His Highness to be kind enough
to accommodate me m the State Guest House The
next day came the reply The State Guest House
was not available, but accommodation was reserved
for me 1 a hotel with the distingmished name of
‘Savoy’.

¢“T also contacted on the phone Moolji Sheth, the
proprietor of the Sajjan Mills at Ratlam, who was a
great friend of mine. He had considerable mfluence
with His Highness and knew Ratlam mside out I
had committed a mistake in taking up this brief, he
said No one m Ratlam could associate himself with
the defence. The State was determined to dismiss
the appeal A trial had only been staged because
there was an uproar 1 the Press and the Resident
wanted conviction in proper form But, as a result
of my telegram, His Hightness had personally come
to the Savoy Hotel and seen to 1t that rooms were
reserved for me

‘I sought the assistance of J M. Shelat, one of
my ablest juniors—we call them ‘devils’ in Bombay
—now Judge of Bombay High Court, and handed
him the file of papers 1n the case

“On the morning of the 20th—1 will take that
as the date—Shelat and I arrived in Ratlam Moolj:
Sheth was at the station to receive me, so was Kanai-
yalal No one else was there, not even the mumm of
a leadmg Marwari firm, who for years had never fail-
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ed to bring me a hot cup of milk whenever I passed
through the Ratlam station by the Frontier Mail.
Evidently the authorities had made 1t plain to Ratlam
that T was as much an ‘untouchable’ as my clients
had been durmng the trial His Highness, however,
had been good enough to place a car at my disposal.

““In spite of all this, Kanaiyalal had secured the
services of two lawyers from Indore to help me. But
when we went Into our first consultation, the prospect
appeared dismal beyond words We were told that
His Highness was a good-natured and soft-hearted
man, but the British Resident had dropped a hint
that something must be done about the Praja Man-
dal leaders The Maharaja had therefore entrusted
the affairs to Shivyi, his Defence Minister, who,
charged with this all-important commission, had out-
done himself Local lawyers were prevented from ap-
pearing for the accused and the entire machinery of
the State had worked to secure their conviction
During the trial of the case, no member of the publie
had been allowed to pass by the Court premises and
the trial had lasted for a whole year Bail not having
been granted, the accused had been m jail all the time
and one of them had died The judgement of the
Sessions Court, I was told, had been written by an
Indore lawyer under the direction of the Home Mai-
nister of the State himself One of the accused had
drawn the portrait of the first accused and that had
been sufficient evidence to eonviet him

‘“Shivyi, the central figure 1n the prosecution,
belonged to that caste, which has for generations sup-
plied trusted palace adherents to the princes of Sau-
rashtra and their families In the Sirohi case, a few
years later, I learnt how the grandparents of Shivji
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had come to Ratlam with a Saurashtra princess who
was to be married to the ruler

““Shivyy was the confidant and life-long compa-
nion of His Highness, also his comrade on the battle-
fronts of World War I and on the mnumerable polo-
grounds where His Haghness had led Indian teams to
victory However, Shivj: had not wasted his youth
in recerving much 1n the way of education He had
been brought up with the Maharaja, was loyal to
him to the core, and was the only person upon whom
His Highness could mmplicitly rely Shivjy was a
mighty person, for, he rarely forgot that, by virtue
of the Maharaja’s confidence, he had absolute rights
over the people of Ratlam

‘‘The hotel in which we were lodged belonged to
Shivyy  Spies were all over the place It was im-
possible to hold consultations without some obliging
waiter hovering about us The situation was to the
lagt degree mtriguing

“T secured an immediate appomtment with the
Dewan, a retired officer of the UP cadre, who was
politeness 1tself

‘I feel very proud, Mr Munshi, that you aie
going to appear before me’, he saxd ‘I once had the
honour of having Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru argue a
case before me’

‘I never had the honour to appear with or
agamst Sir Te) Bahadur Sapru in a court of law’,
I replied, not to be behind-hand m courtesy ‘But I
am proud that I am appearmmg before a judge in
whose court Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru once appeared’

““Then I told the Dewan the plight T was m I
could not do justice to the case 1n the four or five
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days that had been given to me for its preparation.
I wanted an adjournment

‘“ ‘I cannot give you any adjournment, whatever
happens’, he said

‘“ ‘Then you must make your choice’, I said.
‘You know that the case has created a sensation in the
Press I am appearing for the accused at the instance
of Gandhijn If you do not give me time to read my
brief, I shall ask for an adjournment in open Court.
If you still refuse to give me an adjournment, I shall
withdraw from the case altogether This—your re-
fusal—will be advertised all over the country and I
assure you that neither the Ratlam Government nor
the Court will come out well of the encounter’

““My argument went home The Dewan thought
for a while ‘Look here, Mr Munshi’, he said, ‘we
are m a difficulty On the 1st of January, i1f the
appeal 1s not disposed of by wus, 1t will go before
a jomt bench under a new arrangement So what-
ever happens, we are determined to decide this case
before the 31st of December’

¢“I grasped his pomnt, the case was too bad to
go before an outside bench

““ ‘I am not here to ineconvenience you’, I said
‘Give me an adjournment for five days I shall
finish my case at Idar and return to Ratlam And I
promise you that even 1f 1t takes whole days and
nights we will finish the appeal before the 30th. You
can then deliver your judgment on the 31st’ The
Dewan agreed

““‘In the evening I paid my courtesy call on His
Highness His mother having come from Saurashtra,
he spoke Gujarati fluently Our conversation re-
volved round polo, of which I knew next to nothing
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He showed me with pride the trophies which he had
won in tournaments all over the world His High-
ness 1mpressed me considerably I was sure that if
he had had the choice, he would not have made his
people unhappy

“T wanted to call on Shivji, the formidable De-
fence Minister also, but he had gone on a tour

““The same evening we left for Idar With the
assistance of a Hindi-speaking assistant, Shelat be-
gan to struggle bravely with the record His know-
ledge of Hindi was even more limited than mine, for
1t extended only to the Sanskrit words common to
Hind: and Gujarati—what may be termed the basie
national language North Indians do not seem to ap-
preciate this fact, but the only element i Hindi
which has led us to accept 1t as our National Lan-
guage 1s the Sanskrit vocabulary

‘‘Shelat—my ‘devil’ for some years—had mas-
tered the technique of wading through many ponder-
ous briefs of mine and making accurate notes 1 a
manner smted to my requirements Many a time I
have econducted long cases with the aid of his motes,
as he well knew the processes of my mund While I
was busy with the Idar case, I thoroughly enjoyed
his frantic efforts, morning, noon and might, to evolve
some sense out of that prolix record

““As soon as I had finished the Idar case, he
began to spoon-feed me from his notes This process
contmued that same evening at Idar, as also i the
tramn and durmg the four-hour halt in the bug-rid-
den waitng room at Baroda where we changed trams
for Ratlam When we reached our destmation, we
had secarcely a wink of sleep, my eyes were burmng
and my body aching
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““On our return to Shivji’s Hotel in Ratlam, the
atmosphere had changed a hittle. Some Gujarati re-
sidents were waiting for me with garlands. Moolji
Sheth told me that the lawyers wanted to attend the
Court to hear me, would I please make some arrange-
ment for them? I conveyed a message to the lawyers
to apply m a body to the Dewan for permaission to
attend the Court The application was granted

““Immediately we were faced with—what 1s call-
ed in the language of the U N O —procedural diffi-
culties The Dewan had decided that the Court
should be held from 3 pm to 5 pm With the great-
est difficulty I induced him to change the time from
8toll am

¢ “Would you mind Mi Munshi, if, while hear-
ing your arguments, I glanced through the columns
of the Twmes of Indwa?’ asked the Dewan ‘I do not
like the idea of being late with the current news’ I
said I had no objection

“‘The other difficulty was about our dress We
were expected to be garbed in the formal dress of
the State with a saffron safa (turban) tied over our
heads However, the rule was relaxed on our paymg
a fee of Rs 3/- each Shelat was miserable He had
never seen me in a saffron safa and as a loyal junior,
he wanted to have the luxury of his senior adorned.,
with a flamimg headgear

‘“The Court had been set up mn a small ante-
room of His Highness’s Palace But i order to in-
vest 1t with judicial digmity, the huge gold-plated
sofas and chairs and velvet curtains had been re-
moved Furnmture of a kind generally found in cheap
restaurants in a small town, had been moved into
the court room Forensic dignity had been provided
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by the spreading of a red cloth over our shaky table

¢ Qur opponent was a lawyer from Indore who
had been specially engaged He took Shelat into s
confidence the fees he would be earming 1 this case
were to be adjusted against the debt owing to the
State by his father

‘“‘Dressed 1n gown and bands and a Gandhi cap,
I made my bow to the Court Of the three Judges who
formed the Bench, the Dewan busied himself now
and then with the Twmes of Indiac which he out of
courtesy held below the table Throughout the trial
the Revenue Minister contributed an unfading, plea-
sant smile, he was a cheerful spectator, out to enjoy
whatever happened

‘‘The Home Minister, however, to whom a wick-
ed rumour—I am sure, untrue—had attributed the
final shape of the lower court’s judgment, knew the
case mside out In the begmning he did his best to
lose patience, but I soon succeeded m mjecting some
mto him

‘“The Dewan was an outsider Forced as he had
been 1n the State by the Resident, his presence m
Ratlam had been deeply resented by the party led
by the Defence Minister, and I could see that any
hit at the prosecution provoked anm 1ll-concealed
chuckle on his part Once when I characterized the
prosecution as ‘baseless and a waste of public time
and money’, the Dewan with evident disgust, turned
to the Home Mmuister and whispered, loudly enough
for us to hear, ‘Saksena, that 1s one for you” I was
not slow to utilise these revelations

‘“At the end of the first day’s hearing, the local
lawyers who kad been permitted to listen to my ar-
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guments, mtroduced themselves to me and I invited
all of them to tea next eveming

“From the Court I straightway drove to the
pedhr of my Marwar:y client The whole bazar had
collected on the roadside to see me step out of the
car, The munim, who had been mformed of my -
tended wisit, was profuse i his apologies for mnot
having received him before He had cups of hot milk
waiting.for us

‘“When we returned to Shivy’s Hotel, we found
that there was no chance of our bemng able to hold
consultations 1 privacy So we, the lawyers, went
for a long, long walk, holding consultation in the
manner of the peripatetic philosophers of Greece

““The next day we met the accused 1n the jail, a
disgusting and vermin-infested place They sat hud-
dled together, for they were shivering with cold that
winter morning

““The atmosphere in the Court remained the
same the Dewan now and then reading The Times
of India which he held on his lap below the table, the
Home Minister hostile, the Revenue Mimister all
smiles

‘““The same evening I gave tea to the local law-
yers, who were happy that the ring-fence had been
destroyed

‘“As I proceeded with my argument, 1 reterred
to the evidence which went to show that the accused
were preparmg for the wviolent overthrow of His
Highness’s Government

‘¢ “What were the weapons?’, I asked

¢ ‘Rifles’, returned the advocate of the State

““I asked for an mspection of them, but the
Home Minister refused to give them
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““The next day, as I had become suspicious, T
made a formal applcation for the inspection of the
rifles I used rather strong language, of which I am
sometimes fond, and the Dewan granted the applica-
tion The Home Mmister also acquiesced m thinking
that the Dewan might be prejudiced 1f the mspection
was withheld The Home Mmister rose from his
chair, caused the bundle of exhibits to be opened and
pomnted out the weapons

“T walked over to the bundle, picked up one of
the guns, held 1t up for the wmspection of the Court
and saad ‘My Lords, you will see that this 1s a toy-
gun of Japanese make and available in the market for
a rupee or two The prosecution has evidently pro-
ceeded on the footing that the Court does mot know
what a ‘rifie’ means

““The Dewan glanced maliciously at the Heme
Minister, and ‘not all the king’s horses nor all the
king’s men’ could stop the crowded Court from burst-
mg mto laughter

““Emncouraged by this discovery I asked for the
target and ammunition exhibited 1n the case The
Home Mnister walked up to the bundle of exhibits
agamm and I followed suit When the bundle was
opened, 1t was seen to contain a heap of burnt match-
sticks and a cheap calendar which showed the map
of India with the town of Ratlam marked in red
And not a mark on the target to show that any match-
stick had touched it!

““The situation was becoming comie opera

““The only evidence agamst another accused
who had been sentenced to one year’s rigorous im-
prisonment, was that he had drawn the portrait of
the first aceused The criticism of the evidence on
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which this man had been convicted furnished another
occasion for a buist of uproarious laughter, which
not even the frown of the Home Minister could
control.

‘“Within two or three days the atmosphere in
Ratlam had changed The lawyers gave me a return
party, to which they invited the judges of the Court
and several members of the public The munwm of
my Marwar: client also summoned up the courage to
grve a party and as our car proceeded through the
town, 1t was obliged to stop now and then so that we
could be offered atar

“On about the fourth day, the Gujarati resi-
dents gave us a dinner Just as we were sitting down
to 1t, someone ran m crying ‘Shivjibhai has come
Shivjyibhair has come He wants to see Mr Munshi’
A shiver ran down the spine of most of the people
present, the Defence Minister had come to arrest me
I told oae of my hosts to mvite Shivji inside so that
he thight join us at the dinner The reply that came
back was that as he was not properly dressed, he
would like to meet me outside

‘“Accompanied by Moolji Sheth I went out of
the dining hall to find a big motor car standing in
front of the gate mnear it stood i1ts owner in a kurie
and a jacket of green velvet. Mooljl Sheth whisper-
ed 1 my ear, ‘Shivyibhai’. Though I did not Iike
this visitation, I assumed as cheerful an air as I could
and walked up to hum ‘Hallo, Shivjibhai,’ I said
‘I have been trymmg to meet you all these days, but
never could ?

¢“Shivji replied mm Gujarati: ‘Munshiji, T was
out on tour I am very sorry that I could not meet
you before ’
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“We walked a few paces away by ourselves
Mooljr Sheth stood at a distance, a picture of un-
happmess Shivy1 looked every mch what he was
reputed to be an ill-educated and egregiously self-
mmportant palace favourite But, for the moment, he
appeared deflated

‘Munshiji, please acecept my apologies His
Highness has taken me to task for not bemng hospitable
to a distingwished man like you He says that I have
ruined the prestige of Ratlam by my bad manners
You must, therefore, come to tea with me tomorrow ’

““The next day after Court rose, Shivji’s car took
me to his richly furnished house His welcome, a
curious blend of Gujarat: warmth and Malvi ceremo-
niousness, was effusive Three of us, the host, his
charan (bard) and myself, all three Gujaratis, sat
down 1n front of tables heavily laden with tea and
coffee pots, sweets and fruits Shivyy and the bard
were the fans of my historical romances, and they
were ecstatic in praise of my heroes and heromnes I
had to do my best to look as 1f I was lapping up their
compliments greedily

““The bard then recited a few heroic poems As
we proceeded with our tea, Shivjr pressed me to eat
one of the kachauris which lay on the table 1 heaps
For years I had not taken the smallest morsel of food
between lunch and dinner I explammed to my host
how my health would suffer 1f I broke the rule But
Shivji would not accept a ‘“no’> He had the best
cook in Rajasthan, a world specialist in the making
of kachauris, and these he had had specially made for
me

“I thought of the men rotting m that vermin-
infested jail and decided to eat a kachaurm For once,
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Shivji was right It was the finest of its kind But
1t wag flavoured with green chillies and pepper, and
I knew that for three days to come my system would
be 1n flames But duty was duty ‘Better to die
doing omne’s duty’, Shri Krishna has said, and the
lawyer’s duty was to save his clients—even by setting
fire to his system

‘“When the bard left us, Shivjyibhai’s attitude
suddenly changed He was meek, humble and flat-
tering ‘Munshiji, the whole of my lIife and reputa-
tion 18 m your hands’, he said in an appealing voice.
‘We started this prosecution because the Resident
wanted 1t I did my best But now His Highness
18 very angry with me The Resident also thinks
that I have bungled things and he too 1s angry with
me People say that I am their enemy Gandhiji
thinks that I am a wicked man Look at this world -
I wanted to oblige everybody, but I am now the scape-
goat of everyone Please save me My Ilife 18 i
your hands > On and on he went i this exaggerated
fashion

‘¢ ‘Liook here, Shivjyibhai’, I replied, ‘I have not
come here to harm anyone I only want justice to be
done to my clients If you leave 1t to me, I shall see
that your reputation does not suffer Omn the contrary,
the reputation of the Privy Council of Ratlam will be
enhanced and so will the reputation of His Highness ’

‘“He replied ‘Please find a solution’ I said,
I would “Will you come to His Highness at mid-
night? We do not want the Dewan to know .anything
of this’

¢ ‘Certamly’, I saxd

‘Y will be at the hotel at 11-45 to-might’, pro-
mised Shivj
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““We parted as friends, and he saw me off with:
effusive compliments

¢ At 11-45 Shivyi came to the hotel, with his big
motor car close-curtamed as for the use of par dana-
shin ladies. We drove to the palace, which we entered
by a backdoor, and, after chmbing up a servants’
staircase we found ourselves in the presence of His
Highness, who was awaiting me

““He greeted me warmly Then for about
twenty minutes he abused Shivjyi to both his heart’s
content and mime ‘Shivji is a wicked man’, he said
‘He has put me mto this difficulty I have always
been a good ruler and looked upon my people as my
children But Shivjyr has ruined me by mismanaging
this case Now the Governor-General 15 making en-
guiries mto the proce{edmgs Gandhiyi has sent you
here My good name 1s 1n the mud ’

“I did my best to soothe his feelmmgs T told
him that I was 1n Ratlam to save the accused, but at
the same time, I was anxious to save His Highness’s
reputation

““If you ask me’, I said, ‘I will give you my
frank opimion about the merits of the case There 1s
no evidence agamst accused numbers. They
should be acquitted The conviction of the rest de-
serves to be confirmed, but the sentences on accused
numbers. . are absurdly heavy They should be
reduced substantially As regards the rest of the
accused, in no event could ther sentences be more
than three years, in view of the precedent of the
Meerut Consprracy Case If this 1s done 1t would
establish that the prosecution was justified and your
Court independent ’

“I do not know whether it was proper for me
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as counsel for the aceused to give my honest opmion
about the merits of the case But i1f I had to help
them at all, that was the only way

““Then I added ‘If Your Highness 1s anxious
to take a parental view of your subjects, the sentences
of those who have been convicted for less than three
years could be remitted on the birthday of Your
Highness’s daughter, which falls about a fortnight
hence After a further two months Your Highness’s
own birthday i1s gomng to be celebrated This 15 a
great occasion on which Your Highness, 1f you should
be so pleased, may exercise the prerogative of mercy
The sentences of the rest can then be remitted This
will bring universal satisfaction The professional
agitator who has advocated some kind of sabotage 1s
an outsider If Your Highness 1s dissatisfied with
him after his sentence 1s rematted, he can be externed
from the State ’

“‘His Highness was delighted While bidding
me good-bye he turned to Shivji, saying ‘Everythmg
Munshin has said must be carried out<

¢“‘Shivny folded his hands, bowed low and said
‘Hukum ’

‘“Ag soon as I got up the next morning I told
Shelat to gather all the papers and fling them away

““We went to the Court and I resumed my add-
ress But a miracle had taken place A magic
change had come over the Home Minister. He was
all smiles No sooner did I make a point than he saw
1t and not only saw 1t but saw 1t clearly- ‘Yes, Mr
Munshi, perfectly right, I see your point,” he would
say and add, ‘page so-and-so of the records supports
you and so does Exhibit so-and-so ’

¢“With wisibility thus improved, the Home Mini-
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ster not only saw point after pomnt but also saw new
ones as well The Dewan was the only person who

felt dazed
““The weather and the wind both having turned

favourable, my case sailed briskly along with the
Home Minister now as my pilot By the evening we
had demolished between us the best part of the pro-

secution case
““The change had been so sudden and unexpected

that when, next day, the lawyer for the State rose
to reply, he did not know where he stood The Home
Minister pounced upon him, criticised the prosecution
i no uncertamn terms and tore the judgment of the
Lower Court to shreds Within two hours the Gov-
ernment Advocate had nothing left to say His case
had been smashed by the Home Mimister, or rather,
by the ‘kachaours’

“The sudden collapse of the prosecution case
had a sensational effect on the town Many impor-
tant citizens turned out to meet me and we had
quite a crowd to give us a send-off at the Ratlam
station when we left for Bombay

“‘“Thus ended the ‘kachaurs’ case

‘“The judgement was delivered shortly after My
formula, with appropriate changes, was enshrined in
the order of the Court In about three months’ time
all the accused were free When Kanaiyalal report-
ed to Gandhiy1 on the kachaur: case, he wrote me an
exceedingly mice letter

““The professional etiquette mn England affords
a lady-lawyer to shed tears—of course, professional
—to secure a verdiet for her client Why should I
not eat a kachaurr to secure the same result?’’
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THE LAKSHMIKANTAM MURDER CASE

In an active professional career of about forty years,
Munshi has ranged over a vast variety of cases, grave and
gay, covering practically every branch of the law But
the Lakshmikantam Murder Case was certamnly one of his
high water-mark performances No other case conducted
by him was so difficult and so sensational, nor were the
vietim and the accused so colourful Throughout the rich
and varied legal annals of South India there has rarely
been a case which created such a stir or engrossed such
widespread mterest as did this Without any exaggeration
it may be called the cause celebre of the century Let
Munshi recount m his characteristic way this sensational
case —

““By 1944, Lakshmikantam was a legendary fig-
ure in the South He was the Prince of yellow jour-
nalism, a scoundrel on a grand scale with super-
human skill and unrivalled effrontery

““I1s lurid career began many years before he
met an untimely end In the thirties, he used a for-
ged document, knowing 1t to be forged, and, for the
offence, was placed for trial before the High Court of
Madras During the trial, he escaped from custody,
was re-arrested and sentenced to seven years’ 1m-
prisonment

““While being transferred from the Madras Peni-
tentiary to the Rajamahendry Central Jail, he drug-
ged his guards, escaped from custody and fled to a
distant village There he changed his name, settled
down and married a girl of the new caste which he
claxmed to belong to Later, betrayed by his birth-
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marks, he was re-arrested, charged for escaping cus-
tody and stenced to serve the terms of both his sen-
tences Naturally, he came to be credited with mira-
culous powers

‘“‘Shortly after he had served his term of impri-
sonment, Lakshmikantam took to ‘yellow’ journalism
Those were the days of strict control of newsprint
and newspapers But nothing was impossible to the
adventurer He went to Delhi, secured some influ-
ential support and got a licence to publish a Tamil
weekly, called Cunema Thoothu

‘“The journal specialised i spicy stories about
the well-known figures of the cinema world, as also
about well-placed persons in Madras, who suddenly
found their names besmirched week after week With
difficulty some of them got his licence cancelled.
Lakshmikantam, however, could not be outwitted
easily He bought out the interests of the owner of
another Tamil weekly, Hindu Nesan and emerged as
a veritable terror

““In the course of the trial I had many an ocea-
sion to read, both in court and outside, issue after
1ssue of the Hwndu Nesan. Not a single well-known
or respected name in Madras escaped Lakshmikan-
tam’s attention, though the leading men and women
mn the film world were his favourite targets In a
trenchant and witriolic style, he exposed, derided,
and chastised his vietims 1 a manner which Junius
and Jonathan Swift might well have envied

““It was the boom time of the emnema industry
Ravers of black money flowed 1n swift floods Photo-
genic faces, melodious voices and luscious curves
sprang overnight into fame and fabulous wealth The
drinking parties, promiseuous mtimacies and wild



THE LAKSHMIKANTAM MURDER CASE 215

orgies of men and women suddenly Iifted from obscu-
rity into the mysterious star world, scandalised and
disgusted the man in the street, yet kept him m awe-
struck admiration Into the hearts of this lusty
crowd, Lakshmikantam, wicked though he was, put
the fear of God

‘“The height to which Lakshmikantam carried
the art, which he developed with devilish cunning has
had mo parallel before or since To the general
masses of Tamil reading men and women, however,
he was the wrathful prophet of righteousness, the
guardian angel of the chastity of Indian womanhood.
privileged to pry into the private hife of all, the
masses who are never happier than when they see the
heads of those whom they admaire or envy lie rolling
m mud, felt the thrill of a holy crusade

“‘Lakshmikantam’s method of approach was per-
fect He maintaimed spies of his own, who stalked
the vietims he had marked out with great skill. He
collected his materials from them with care and, on
facts, reared a superstructure of slanderous but plau-
sible insimuations which made the Hindwu Nesan fasci-
nating as well as devastating

‘‘Lakshmikantam had the principles of a bold
bad man. He refused to be frightened He would
not be bought at any price, though 1t was said that
some rich parties systematically financed him But
Lakshmikantam never lacked momney The episodes
in the lives of the film-stars, the great and the rich
made salacious gave Haindu Nesan a wide circulation
wherever Tamil was read Its copies were sometimes
sold at fantastic prices

““The high, the mighty and- the rich squirmed
under his lashes They looked forward to every issue
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of the Hwndu Ncsan with trembling hearts and they
knew not how to seek deliverance Agam and again,
the Press, where the Hindu Nesan was printed, was
smashed by unknown ruffians i the middle of the
night. But Lakshmikantam was more than a mateh
for them He saw to 1t that his paper, sometimes
printed 1 unknown presses, appeared with unbroken
regularity

“On the moining of November 8, 1944, Lakshmi-
kantam was returning m a rkshaw from the resi-
dence of his advocate, when he was waylaid and stab-
ed on General Collins Road, Vepery, Madras He
was taken to the General Hospital, an operation was
performed on him But he died soon after

““Lakshmikantam’s murder created a tremendous
sensation 1n the Province Many of his vie-
tims breathed a sigh of relief However, a large con-
course, reported to be over fifty thousand, attended
the funeral of this self-constituted defender of the
honour of Indian womenhood He was given honours
which, mn India, have been reserved only for great
national leaders

“The police found it difficult to trace the cul-
prits There was a public outery that the highly
placed miscreants, who had abetted Lakshmikantam’s
murder, were allowed to escape justice The Madras
police was therefore on their trial

‘“‘Public imnterest in Lakshmikantam’s murder
reached 1ts peak when the Criminal Investigation De-
partment charge-sheeted, among others, three of the
most prominent figures i the film world of the South.
The first was M K Thiagaraja Bhagavathar, then the
darling of the cimema-gomng public of South India.
No Tamilian felt happy till he had heard his melo-
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dious voice A sort of glamour surrounded him, he
was reported to lead a gay Iife Rumour had it that
he never charged less than a six-figure sum for every
film m which he acted

‘‘The second accused was N S Xrishnan, who
along with his wife and partner, T A Mathuram,
constituted the best team of comedians in the South
Perhaps he was the best loved of the cinema stars

“I went and saw one film 1m which they both
had acted They certainly lacked the finesse of Char-
Iie Chaplin, but for sheer uproarious fun I have not
eome across two such comedians in any film produced
in India or elsewhere

““T had occasion also to meet him several times in
the lock-up 1n order to take instruetions in the case
Even under the Damocles’s sword, which then hung
over him, he would cheerfully mimiec Justice Mockett,
next moment, myself, the third, mv learned opponent
the Advocate-General all with such inimitable grotes-
queness as to throw me into irrepressible laughter
Never for a moment had I thought that I was so lu-
dicrous a figure in a court of law

““The third accused was S M Sriramulu Naidu,
a well-known producer and film director He came
from one of the richest and mnfluential famailies of
Commbatore I saw him at Commbatore some years
later He was—and I understand still i1s—ecarrying
on quite a flourishing business

““These three, along with five others, one a but-
cher and another a cowherd, were charged with the
offence of conspiracy to murder Lakshmikantam It
was 1 pursuance of this conspiracy, i1t was alleged,
that Lakshmikantam was stabbed by Vadivelu, one
of the accused, on 8th November, 1944 Public
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opmion, however, 1s never happy with the obwious.
It placed the gmlt on some highly placed and influen-
tial persons The police, it was said, had framed up
the charge against the cinema people only because
they were not mmfluential.

““The proceedings before the committing magis-
trate had attracted the widest attention Every news-
paper, mecluding the highly staid and sober Hindu re-
ported the proceedings in full When all the accused
were committed to the Sessions, public interest was
at 1ts highest.

““R Narayana Aiyangar, a leadmg figure 1n the
cinema world of Madras, came to Bombay to engage
me They had engaged Mr Nugent Grant, a leading
eriminal lawyer 1 Madras, to defend §. M Sriramulu
Naidu, but he had died and the choice had fallen on
me

‘‘Narayana Aiyangar was a very hospitable and
charming man, and for the month that I stayed with
him, he made me comfortable in his house The only
drawback was that in a few days my Enghsh accents
began to be Tamilised, unconsciously, I began to ac-
cent the last syllabel of every English word It was
then that I aequired my little vocabulary of Tamail
words It extended to accosting Narayana Aiyan-
gar’s little grand-daughter by the word Eppads
Yuwrukkan (How are you?), and I taught her its
Gujarati equivalent ‘Kem Chho?’ The only other
Tamil word I picked up was ‘uppu’ for salt I never
had the gift of learning languages,

““The accused were represented by twentysix
counsel 1n all But Narayana had a hold over all the
three important accused and at his instance it was
decided that though I appeared only for Naidu, I
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was to lead the other counsel on the general aspect of
the case The lawyers for the other accused had to
supplement my efforts only if anything concerning a
particular accused had been left out This led to con-
siderable heart-burning among some of them They
did not take kindly to the arrangement that I—and
that too from another High Court—should conduct
not only my client’s case, but also to lead them gene-
rally

‘““‘Justice Mockett, who presided over the Ses-
sions’ was a small man, buried in a huge wig and
gown From his general attitude what I could
gather was that, accordmg to him, the prosecution
Iike the King of England, could do no wrong He
had a family likeness, to a Judge of the Bombay High
Court, who, when the defence counsel made his case
unanswerable, asked ‘Mr so-and-so, 1f you say your
client was innocent, why did the Prosecution bring
the case against him ?’

““Once when 1 was cross-examining a witness,
Justice Mockett asked me, ‘Mr Munshi, do you
mean to suggest that the witness is tellimg a lie?”
With a polite bow, T replied ‘My Lord, I do mot
suggest anything of the kind. I propose to estabhsh
that he 1s telling a lhe’ DBut he was patient and
courteous throughout, though, whenever he interven-
ed, he leaned, as consistently as a Judge could against
the defence

““The prosecution was conducted by Sri P V.
Rajamannar, Advocate-General, now the Chief Jus-
tice of the Madras High Court He was assisted
by Sr1 P Govinda Menon, then the Crown Prose-
cutor, now a Judge of the Supreme Court and three
other juniors The CID were on their mattle and
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left no stone unturned to secure a conviction I had
little doubt that on my side too there were forces
which were moving heaven and earth to see that the
accused were acquitted

““At this distance of time, 1t 1s 1mpossible to
recapture the absorbing mterest which this case,
which lasted for twenty two hearings, evoked The
Court was crowded to capacity The Hwndu, the
Indran Express, the Mail, and the Tamil and Telugu
papers published verbatim reports of the proceedings
and with meticulous reporting, for which Madras is
justly famous I could almost sense my accent or
emphasis 1n the way my question were published.

‘“As I went mm Narayana Aiyangar’s car to and
from the Court, I could see small groups of men
gathered on the way, one among them reading loudly
from the latest newspaper, others listenimg with rapt
attention, and some of them seeing me pass m the
car, pomted to me as to the star performer Every
pownt 1w my cross-examination was noted, elaborated
and many were the kind friends who came to me to
help me with suggestions to 1mprove the manner in
which I was conducting the case

““For days together I was busy cross-examining
one prosecution witness after another The spirit of
Lakshmikantam dominated the whole atmosphere.
Most of the witnesses could not tell a straightforward
story nor the whole truth There was some thmg
mysterious about the evidence of the Advocate whom
the deceased had visited a few minutes before his
death The medical evidence was anything but satis-
factory All this gave me the opportunity of dealing
with the witnesses somewhat mercilessly

““In the course of the examination of the medical
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witnesses 1t came out that while the operation on
Lakshmikantam was being performed after he had
been. stabbed, the surgeon’s knife had penetrated one
of his kidneys Omne of the witnesses lapsed nto
momentary mnattention and admitted this I 1mme-
diately pursued the point so that by the end of the
day both the witnesses and the Judge realised to their
horror that I was very near proving that 1t was the
surgeon’s knife that was the approximate cause of
the death of Lakshmikantam

‘I learnt that the medical experts got together
that night and decided that, 1n the light of the evidence
. —which was being published verbatim in the papers
—new light had to be thrown on this aspect of the
case

““The learned Judge proved indulgent The new
evidence improved the situation Anyhow, a serious
doubt had been raised as to whether the wound in-
flicted by the murderer had mnecessarily been the
cause of Lashmukantam’s death For the next day
and a half, the atmosphere was electric Incidentally,
by the time the case was finished I had learnt all
about the kidneys, where they are located and the
diverse ways m which an mjury to them can kill a
man

““The case for the prosecution agamst my chent,
Naidu, was that he had entered into a conspiracy with
the Bhagavathar and Arya Veera Senan to do away
with Lakshmikantam This conspiracy, 1t was alleg-
ed, was hatched at the Woodlands Hotel at Madras
where Bhagavathar was Iiving at the time

‘‘The mainstay of the prosecution in this part of
the case agamst Naidu, was one Kamalanathan, who
was related to Lakshmikantam The prosecution case
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was that Vadivelu, one of the accused, had attacked
Lakshmikantam with a knife on the 19th October,
even before the fatal atack on the 8th November.
Referring to this mncident, Kamalanathan had depos-
ed 1 the Magistrate’s court that he had been to the
Woodlands Hotel three days after the imncident of the
19th October, and there had found Naidu and Bhaga-
vathar talking to Arya Veera Senan about killing
Lakshmikantam,

““I was instructed that if, under pressure of
cross-examination, I could extract from Kamala-
nathan the admission that he had started from home
just after 4-30 pm, (because the inauspicious period
of Rahukelam had expired that day just after the
stroke of 4-30), there was some chance of Naidu’s ac-
quittal If Rahatkalom had expired exactly at
4-30 pm , the day of the wisit, according to the calen-
dar, would have been the 26th October, and not the
22nd, as deposed to by the witness And if the day
of his visit had been the 26th of October, it could be
proved bevond doubt that on that day Naidu was at
the Taj Mahal Hotel in Bombay

““ Rahuwkalam, a span of an hour-and-half, oec-
curs at varying but according to the calendar at as-
certainable times, on different days of the week and
1s generally avoided by orthodox persons in the South
for any auspicious task

““For the first time m my experience, the Iife of
a human bemg was hanging on my skill as a ques-
tioner I felt nervous If Kamalanathan were to
get an mkling of what I was driving at, he had only
to say that he was not sure whether he had left home
exactly at 4-30 pm, and that 1t might have been a
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Iittle before, or a Little after, to prevent me from
making my alibi cast iron.

‘“By the time I had arrived at this part of my
«cross-examination, I had established friendly relations
with Kamalanathan by creating in him the impression
that he was making 1t difficult for me to shake him.

Then our colloquy proceeded somewhat on these
Lines -

‘Are you sure you left your home just after half
past four?’

‘Yes, I am sure,’” he replied

‘You might have made a mistake ’

‘Certainly not It had just struck half past four
when I left home ’ .

‘How can you remember that? Were you wait-
mg for half past four to strike ’

‘Of course I was’ By this time the witness was
confident of bemg able to deal with the insistent
lawyer

‘And are you sure you reached the Woodlands
Hotel at 5 pm ?’

‘Yes, I am sure ’

‘There might have been a mistake Was your at-
tention drawn to something which makes you feel so
definite about having reached the Hotel at 5 pm, or
are you just guessing ?’

‘Oh, yes ° The witness, as 1s usual m such cases,
was mmprovising incontrovertible proof ‘There was
a big clock m the front room of the Hotel, and I
1emember to have looked at i1t It showed exactly
5pm’

‘I am gomng to give you another chance Do you
swear and say that you left home at 4-30 pm and
not a minute before ?’



224

MUNSHI HIS ART AND WORK

“Yes, I swear 1t It was Just after half past four ”

¢And that you were waiting for half past four to
strike ¢’

¢ At this point my heart began to throb, for the
hfe of Naidu hung on the questions I was about to
ask
“‘Summoning my courage I asked ‘You are qute
sure that Lakshmikantam was stabbed on the 19th of
October ¢’

(43 ‘Yes b

¢¢ ¢ And that you went to see Naidu at the Wood-
lands Hotel three days after that?’

‘““Yes, certamn ’

¢“ Assuming an air of mmnocence I let go the cru-
cial suggestion

‘¢ “You have said you were waiting for half past
four to strike For what reason? Was 1t 1nauspiclous
to start before 4-30 that you remember the fact so
particularly ?’

Kamalanathan sprang to the bait

¢¢ ¢Certainly It would have been an 1nauspicious
moment to start before half past four’

‘“ “Why do you say 1t was 1auspicious? Was 1t
because of Rahukalam, or of something which I am

told 1s observed by people here?’ I spoke as though

I did not understand what Rahukalam meant

““¢Oh, yes It was Rahukalam,” he replied

““‘On that day Rahukalam ended just before
4-30 pm You are quite sure?’

“““Yes, I am positive ’

“ “You swear and say that Rahukalam ended just
before 4-30 p m.

‘€ ¢0h, yes I swear,” Kamalanathan asserted
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¢“ ‘Look at this calendar Rahukalam only ended
just before 4-30 p m on the 26th of October’

‘¢ ‘Kamalanathan looked at the calendar and saw
that he had committed a gross mistake He began to
fumble

‘I adopted a severe tone ‘Come, come If
Rahukalam had ended at 4-30, the day would have
been the 26th of October, and not the 22nd Is that
not so?’’

£< ¢ Yes ?

““ “Would you be surprised to know that Naidu
was at the Taj Mahal Hotel at Bombay on the 26th
of October?’

‘“Kamalanathan had no answer

“‘The collapse ~of Kamalanathan was the Ilast
straw that broke the back of the prosecution case for
the approver had, much to the disappointment of the
prosecution, refused to implicate Naidu, I don’t
remember whether he was treated as a hostile witness

‘““‘Later I led evidence to show that Naidu was at
the Taj Mahal Hotel at Bombay on the 26th of Octo-
ber The manager of the Hotel corroborated this fact
from his records

‘‘The Advocate-General 1n fairness entered a
plea of nolle prosequs so far as Sriramulu Naidu was
concerned

‘“‘Naidu’s acquittal created a sensation all over
Madras I suddenly became a miracle-worker and,
not to spoil the effect, I decided to leave for Bombay
next morning Meanwhile the other accused felt that
my absence from the trial might react to thewr disad-
vantage so that I was immediately engaged for N S
Krishnan

‘“On behalf of this accused I tendered elaborate
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evidence to show that he had been at Salem on the 7th
of November, and that he had received a 1egistered
letter while there A signed receipt beaiing that date
was tendered i evidence

¢“I addressed the jury for several hours As I
proceeded I could feel that the majority of the jury
was comung round When at last 1t retired 1t was
expected that Krishnan at any rate would be aec-
quitted

“In his address to the jury, the learned Judge
leant heavily agaimnst the defence He had ruled out
most of the points of law against us- he brushed aside
the doubts we had raised He had some caustic com-
ments to make on the alib1 which we had tried to
prove on behalf of Krishnan

““Krishnan, as I have mentioned, was a very
popular figure in Madras and the general opinion was
that he would be acquitted Police officers came to
me to make arrangements for spiriting him out of the
court, for a crowd of 25,000 had gathered on the Hagh
Court grounds to garland and carry him in procession

‘“We never thought that an adverse verdiet could
be brought in, let alone by a majority vote of the
jurors. A last minute change occurred The verdict
of gwlty, if T remember rightly, was six to three
agamst all the accused In all my professional life
I had never been taken aback by a verdict so un-
expected

““The Judge was ready with the sentence It
had been a wicked conspiracy mto which all the accus-
ed had been guilty of entering, and as the result of
which Lakshmikantam had been murdered But in
view of the lurid past of Lakshmikantam, the Judee
sentenced the accused to transportation for life
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““There were many speculations as to why the
Jury had come to so unexpected a decision But this
18 usual when the unexpected happens

“‘ After the expectation of an acquittal, the shock
was too great for everv one of us When the news
reached the crowd 1t howled with rage and the police
dispersed 1t with some difficulty When Narayan
Aiyar and I went to his house, the servant who was
expecting to receive a free Krishnan rushed forwaid
with a pumpkin, a coconut and lights, to welecome him
We brushed him aside

““The next question was, how to break the news
to Mathuram Narayana Aivar and myself theiefore
went to Krishnan’s house Mathutam was expecting
her husband’s arrival at any moment, but when she
saw us, she read the fateful news in our faces and
collapsed T have seen many women broken by grief,
but I have never seen a woman so heart-broken, o
crying so tragically We sat there for about half-an-
hour and T felt that she might die of grief at anv
moment

‘““An appeal was preferred to the Appellate
Bench of the High Court which held that it was only
1f the verdiet of the jury appeared to be perverse
that the Appellate Court could mterfere, as they did
not find the verdict to be perverse, they confirmed
the convietion and the sentence Bhagavathar and
Krishnan appealed to the Privy Couneil which held
that evidence could be examinad afresh by the Appel-
late Court The appeal was therefore re-heard by
the Division Bench of the Madras High Court so far
as Bhagavathar and Krishnan were concerned The
accused were given the benefit of the doubt and ac-
quitted
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“My friend Dr P Subbaroyan was then the
Home Mimister of Madras I sought his mtervention
The two rich men who had appealed to the Privy
Couneil had been acquitted What crime, I argued,
had the poor co-accused commaitted that they should
rot 1 jail for fourteen years

““I have some recollection that their sentences
were later remitted by the Government of Madras *’

10
SUMMING UP

Commenting on Munshi’s performance in the Lakshmi-

kantam case, an eminent advocate of the Madras High
Court remarked ‘‘Since the days of the great Norton,
we have not heard such cross-examination ’> Chief Jus-
tice P V Rajamannar, who led the prosecution, recalled
about this case m 1946

““I had the pleasure and privilege of being
thrown together with Munshiji though we wele on
opposite sides 1n the sensational Lakshmikantam
murder case which went on in the High Court for
over a month last year (1945) I have the pleasantest
recollections of those days and I have with me as a
memento the photograph taken at the garden party
grven to Munshij by the Gujarat: Association in which
we are found seated side by side ‘What impress-
ed me most 1 his handling of the defence 1n that case
was his remarkable thoroughness of preparation and
mastery of detail I do not believe he left anything
to the juniors, though they never stinted any labour
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Being myself a devotee of literature and a dabbler in
playwriting, I could see and appreciate very often
the sweep of 1magination and his intimate knowledge
of human natuire in his eross-examination of the pro-
secution witnesses He was always kind and generous
to me Our relations were very cordial and not once
1 the several trymng days did a hot word pass between
us Munshiji does not belong to a class of lawyers
whose world 1s made of statistics, law reports and case
papers He has varied interests and his achievement
1n many spheres of cultural activity are remarkable ’7
Well might Chief Justiee Rajamannar lay emphasis
on the véry cordial relations he had with Munshi for the
latter’s relations with his colleagues at the Bar, as well as
with the Judges, have always been marked by cordiahity
and smcerity He 1s one of the few seniors who has been
popular both amongst the seniors and among the juniors
Among solicitors he could count quite a few as his Iife-long
friends Many of the present judges have been his per-
sonal friends In the Court, while conducting a case he
hardly ever lost his temper with the opponent or the pre-
siding Judge
Of Munsh1 as an Advocate, K A Somjee, an ex-Judge
of the Bombay High Court and a Senior Member of the
Bombay Bar, wrote 1n 1946 as follows —

‘“The more difficult the case, the more subtle the
point, m greater prominence 1s brought out the great
advocacy of Munshiji Munshiji always sails with
wind Whether he 1s sailing a large ship or a frail
bark, even on the stormy sea of the temper and limit-
ed understanding of a Judge, Munshij: sails with the
wind He may realise fully that he 1s being taken
away from his point but that does not ruffle hhm He
will take a large detour, keep the wind mn his sail
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and 1 a subtle and clever manner will reach the calm
of the harbour and lo and behold, more often than
not the Judge will be with him at the harbour

‘“Munshij1 1s an asset to a clever Judge He 18 a
great help to any Judge He facilitates the work of
the Judge by lucidly expounding difficult and subtle
propositions of law

““Munshijr 1s a pillar of stiength to his client
In a weak case, Munshiji knows exactly how far to
go and when the right moment arrives Munshij will
brmg about a settlement which perhaps nobody would
have thought possible

‘A word about Munshiji’s junior, whoever he
may be In any case, 1f the junior i1s worth his salt
and 1f he, even 1n the midst of Munshiji’s argument
were to draw the attention of Munshiji to any parti-
cnlar point, Munshiji with his great grasp will at
once pick 1t up without the least hestitation and make
good use of 1t It 1s very few seniors only who can
do that without bemng perturbed, Munshij1 1s one of
them

‘“One of the great pomnts n Munshiji as a lawyer
15 that he always makes allowances for human frail-
ties”’
Somjee’s deseription of how Munsh: used to take the

Judge with him 1s perfectly true He liked by mild pres-
sure to take the Judge through the various stages of his
arguments 1 the manner that he thought the Judge should
go through If the Judge differed and went out of the four
walls of his arguments, he travelled with the Judge for the
time bemng and by sheer dint of perseverance he again
brought him back to the charmed circle chalked out by him

The chief factor which attracted the Judge towards

him was Munshi’s tremendous grasp and thoroughness of
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preparation, which gave seope to the Judge to dispose of
the matter quickly and expeditiously The fundamental
prineiples of law are so deeply ingrained im Munshi that a
mere propounding of an untenable principle was enough
to make him feel that something incorrect was being said
or proposed He needed no statutes and no precedents
to have this kind of feeling Knowldge of fundamentals
has become a matter of common sense to him The Judge
trymng his case could safely depend on him for a correct
exposition of law

This did not mean that a judge or an opponent could
afford to remaimn without vigilance Munshi1 has always
been a dangerous opponent His advocacy nearly always
contained some element of surprise, something imealculable
Behind the opening of a case or propounding of an ordmary
proposition of law there ran a mercurial process of thought
seeking new ways, new methods and penetrating the oppo-
nent’s case to find out fatal gaps and loopholes

Even out of the most prosaic advocacy there peeped out
‘the artist 1n him The mmagination of the artist supplied
materials that were found wanting 1 the fabric that was
built 1 the brief It was because of that trait in him that
Munshi put up before the judge and the jury an alternative
case stating to them that his opponent’s case was not the
exact version of facts that happened but that the real was
what he had constructed in his mind and was the only one
that he narrated That was where the novelist and the
dramatist i him dominated the mere advocate This was
the reason why in the cases that he handled there came up
so often the dramatiec element which made his performance
all the more fascinating

Conferences with him were not dull affairs He was
happy and frankly complimentary when facts were placed
before him m a logical, and preferably m his favourite
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method of chronological, order Very often by a shght
twist or turn of a fact here and there a new complexion
was given to the whole case, which no one had dreamt of
before. No judge complamed of a lack of mterest when
Munshi conducted a case before him Once interested m
a case or a law poimt contamned 1n 1t, even lis junior was
astonished at the mdustry he devoted to 1t
In summing up the legal facet of Munshi’s variegated
career 1t 18 1mpossible to 1mprove upon the glowing tribute
of Chief Justice Chagla who wrote about Munshi mn 1946
for the Diamond Jubilee Commemoration Volume Throw-
mg as 1t does considerable light on Munshi’s methods of
advocacy and his relations with the Bar and Bench ahke
no apology 1s needed for quoting 1t 1n full
From 1930 long scojourns in jails or public work, and
spells of office have compelled Munsh: to suspend his prae-
tice at the Bar for long periods But these absence have
never effected the flow of work coming to his chambers
when he returned to the Bar
The last case he argued was i March 1950 before tle
Supreme Court Since then he has not appeared i any
case, but who can deny that the loss to the Bar has been
a gain to the country'
““I have known Munshi, and known him well, for
nearly 25 years I vividly remember entering the
Bar common room as a freshly enrolled Barrister.
All the giants of the Bar were there—Inverarity,
Strangman, Jimnah, Kanga, Bhulabhai, Tarapore-
walla, Coltman To my young and terrified eyes this
seemed to be a ring of steel 1mpossible to penetrate
But I could see that there was a second lmme of young
and energetic aspirants who had already made some
mnroads upon this citadel Among these, Munsh1 was
one of the most prominent
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“‘It did not take me long to get on friendly terms
with Munsh1 We had many things in common We
did not think, as most of our seniors did, that Law
was the ulfima ratio of our existence It was fasci-
nating profession, a great traming and discipline for
the mind, 1f you succeeded, the prizes were great and
ghtiering But 1t could be a terrible thing to spend
all your Iife in reading your briefs and expounding
the law to the rather lonely and pathetic figure on
the Bench By the way, we had been nurtured on
the sturdy traditions of the Bar, and had a healthy
contempt for the Bench We had only one Iife to
lead, and there were far more interesting things to
do—Polities, Laterature, Art

¢“The first thing that impressed me about Munshi
was his versatihity He was interested mm so many
things And his interest was that of an artist He
had the insatiable curiosity—which 1s the begimning
of Art He had the instinet which could see the
hidden meaning behind superfictal phenomena—
-which 1s the artistic tempeiament And he had the
gift of expression—which 1s the capacity of the artist
to express himself

‘“As years went by, he and I appeared in many
cases together, and were opposed to each other in seve-
ral others It was always a pleasure and an intellec-
tual treat to have him as a Lieader I remember that
he always used to ask me to come for a conference in
all important cases to his house 1n the morning After
the conference I used to have breakfast with him,
and then go to Court together I used always to
wonder at the very small quantity of food he con-
<sumed, and I always joked with him that he must be
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finding sustenance from some celestial manna whick
he concealed from us

““Conference with Munsh: was never a slovenly.
hurried affann It was a solemn, full-dressed debate
We tr1ed to find the primmciples underlymg the mass
of 1ll-digested facts which were packed m our briefs
Munsh: would have a sheet of foolscap before him
with a fountam pen m his hand and would jot down
the various propositions under which the different
facts should be grouped He would only feel happy
when he discovered the silver thread that showed us
the way out of the labvrinth of our case And then
he would stand before the Judge mn Court stating the
propositions seriatem, looking at him and the other
side with a query in his eyes—How can there be any
answer to these propositions? Of course, there was
always a danger of over-simplification Unfortunate-
1y, neither facts nor law can be reduced to simple and
lueid propositions But this was an infinitely better
method than the chaotic opening of a case i which
vou never see the wood for the trees

““Munshi has always liked to work on a large
canvas He Iikes to present his case in the grand
manner The artist mm him gives to every case the
complexion of a breathless drama He gives you the
1dea that the eternal verities are on the side of his
client and that m deciding the case m which he 1s
engaged you are makng legal history Therefore, 1t
follows that Munshi 1s never verv happy m the rough
and tumble of a lawyer’s work As was said of a
senior member of the Bar, and a very dear friend of
mine, he cannot make small points with large gestures
He makes important points with a considerable eco-
nomy of gestures
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‘Munshi has a subtle and ingenious mind The
literary and the legal mind are two entirely different
things They are rarely combined in one person
Success 1n one field 1s usually a disqualification for
the nther It 1s the greatest of Munshi’s triumphs that
he has made a g1eat name for himself both as a lawyer
and as a hiterary artist But I think his first abiding
love 1s for the Muses He has given to Law and Poh-
ties much of his time, energy and enthusiasm which
the gods had intended he should give for the service
of literature But theremn, I think, lies Munshi’s
great charm He could have been a dry uninterest-
g lawyer or a cold and calculating politician He 15
neither the one nor the other The artist in him is
always peeping from behind the lawyer and the pol:-
tictan  And, therefore, both in his advocacy and m
his polities there 1s the element of the incalculable
I will not speak of his politics But at the Bar he has
often startled both his opponent and the Judge by
urging a point which has struck no one, and yet which
has often proved decisive of the case

““Chesterton once said of Shaw that there were
some who understood him but did not like him There
were others who liked him but did not understand
him He alone both liked and understood him T
also can say that I both Iike and understand Munshi
—though more often than not I do not agree with him
But Iife would be a very dull thing if all agreed with
one another And how would so versatile and dyna-
mie a personality as Munsh: fit in?”’
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I have known Kanaiyalal Munshi for over a quarter of
a century I cannot now recall how I came to know him
Perhaps there 1s something i the old-world theory about
people coming into each other’s lives as the result of past
assocrations However that may be, I, who left Gujarat
before I was seventeen and spent almost thirty years of my
Iife away from Gujarat, have been 1n mtimate contact with
a singularly attractive, genmial and dynamic personality—
always brimming over with laughter and bursting with
energy and the makmg of plans and schemes often grand-
10se—which came to him almost as a matter of second
nature Munshi was born 1 1887 in what 1s now a rather
sleepy hollow—Broach—the headquarteis of a somewhat un-
attractive district, a decaying town which was once a pros-
perous port Munshi, despite his elaim to be modern,
cannot shake off the memories of his Brahman ancestry, or
the pride of his ancestors, whose prinecipal claim to dis-
tmetion appears to have been their misplaced arrogance
and mfinite capacaity for family feuds As a matter of
fact, but for Munshy, 1t would not be necessary to mention
them at all It 1s curious how the traditions of an ancient
soclety and in many respects of an anachronistic past con-
tinue to dominate the Iife of a good many of us despite
revolutionary changes sweeping over the entire world, in-
cluding a relatively stagnant society such as ours It is
perhaps the mevitable penalty of having a past!

The 1dea of a motherland has something elemental
about 1t for 1t continues to haunt the sub-conscious edrri-
dors of a Iiterary and artistic mind The country and its
language and thenr countless associations weave spells of
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dreams and 1mpel men to sacrifice their everything in the
service of the motherland Despite 1ts cultural integrity,
India 15 a land of wide dimensions and vast distances and
the strength and weakuesses of 1ts provincial characters-
tics have been noted and commented upon from the earhest
times Gujarat: provincialism appears to have been a re-
latively ancient phenomenon and the march of the cen-
turies seems to have developed a pride, not only in the
past, but a confidence 1n the near future Despite the
enormous self-confidence and commendable enterprise of
the modern Gujarati in the domamn of non-violent polities
and acquisitive economy, his output in the realm of mmagi-
native art and creative literature has been neither brilhant
nor profound, though 1t 1s true that the last twenty-five
years have witnessed a cultural revival, which few, know-
g the lmitations and rather specialized purswmts and the
strictly practical viewpomt of the Gujaratis, would have
ventured to predict

Kanaryalal Munshi 1s perhaps the first of the modern
authors of Gujarat—modern 1n the sense that culturally
he was as a child profoundly mfluenced by the teachings
of the west—who was not afraid to mecoporate i his life
the influences from the outside world—Iliterary and other-
wise—that he thought significant He was not ashamed
to acknowledge his imdebtedness to the west, nor did he
suffer from an inferiority complex about his own culture
or the great traditions of his country Born in an ortho-
dox family, brought up i1n the backwaters of a sleepy town,
he had the advantage of growing up amidst an old-world
order of superstitions, traditions, and vanities, with an
attitude of sanctimonmious complacency towards the past
It was a world of dreams albeit limited, in respect of ac-
tual social environment, but with the advantage of bemg
Tooted m a congemial soill There were not manv thrills
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i the social Iife of orthodox India fifty years ago It was
a pattern which had been set and was looking shabby with
the passage of time However, 1t kept the social fabrie
together and fostered a spirit of contentment and steady
behaviour Petty jealousies, meaningless intrigues,
slanderous gossip about the doings of one another i small
social groups were the only diversions possible in that at-
mosphere, particularly for women and the aged of éither
sex This suffocating inertia was made tolerable only by
the recurrence of periodical festivals and the religious
colouring of the life of the people There was always the
consolation of the other world, though there was but hittle
scope for any enterprise, or possible change in the present
one The stream of Iife had reached a level where 1t was
not capable of dancing and leaping from stone to stone,
from crag to crag, tumbling down in a lusty torrent imto
the valleys below and coursing to its ultimate destiny

It was 1n such atmosphere that young Munshi dreamt
dreams of his Bhargava ancestry of the legendary Para-
shurama, who had exterminated all the Kshatriyas in the
universe He had his visions of love, of a partner i life,
who would share his urge for beauty, who, besides beimng
a comrade i all his Iiterary purswts, would appreciate
bis flights of 1magmation, support them, and even inspire
the radiant vision, which he wanted to see and feel Out-
wardly Iife was no different for him than for any others
of middle-class family m Gujarat, or almost anywhere in
semi-urban India He had, however, one supreme advan-
tage, which not many are fortunate enough to have, and
that was of having a mother of exceptional understanding
and of amazing sympathy and insight mto the workings
of a growing adolescent mmd At every stage :n Munshi’s
Iife his mother stood behind him as the one pillar on which
he could always lean for strength and support
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Women of this kind have been responsible for mould-
g the lives of many a great man 1n this country, for even
2midst the very circumscribed limits of their vision, and
the very narrow range of their Iives, they felt by instinet
the mpact of new forces which would affect the lives and
thoughts of thewr children They themselves were ortho-
dox, but they had the necessary i1esilience and flexibility
of character to be completely heterodox and practical in
their outlook so far as the lives of their children were con-
cerned

Munshi has expiessed his indebtedness to his mother
cloquently and frequently, and I must not omit to give a
brief pieture of this 1emarkable woman

Munshi’s father was a Deputy Collector, an important
«fficial fifty years ago But he died young, somewhere
near 1908, and did not leave much for his dependants It
was left to Munshi’s mother to mamntain the standards of
family prestige and to defiay the expenses of educating
a delicate child and his sisters She was, however, a woman
of the old type combmming austerity and toughness with a
smgular undeistanding of the changing requirements of
the new generation She died i 1936 at the age of exghty-
two, having had the good fortune to see her delicatz son
ripen mnto distinguished and affluent manhood Despite her
orthodox birth she was the first to realise the deep-seated
aspirations of her only son and to agiee to his second mar-
T1age outside the social conventions with what was then an
unusual degiee of moral courage But Indian women have
been remarkable for their responsiveness to eircumstances
without allowing their moral fibre to be weakened

Munsh: was a voracious reader  He had been nuitur-
ed on the myths and legends of the puranas Those were
the days when for a pittance itinerant pandits educated
the masses by 1eciting dav after dav for weeks on end, the
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tales from the Remayana and Mahabharate, thus keeping
crowds of people of all ages fascinated and awake till the
early hours of the morning They projected the vision of
an India that was, pomnted out the moral, and gave
guidance to those who had the power within them to emu-
late the great heroes of the past Munshi naturally con-
cerved himself as a hero, patterned on the ancient models,
who would 1 due course conquer the umiverse by sheer
grit and enterpiise

‘When he came to 1ead Enghsh, Munshi was naturally
thrilled with the tales of Dumas, Victor Hugo, Marie
Corelll and other Westein writers of fiction There was
one thimmg about this foreign fiction which faseinated
Munshi’s generation and that was the capactv to tell a
story Theie were Indian stories, but in most cases thev
were long-winded and overloaded with 1hetoiie and moral
myunctions  The old-woirld legends and mvths had begun
to pall, they had become stale and had but little relation
to the realities and problems of modern life  Above all,
they did not make much allowance for the natural urge
for enterprise and romance ILiafe was east m rigid moulds
of conventional morality or love-makimg Munshi’s
future career as a writer of fiction was, therefore, dommat-
ed by the brilhance of BEuropean fiction and 1t would be
false to underestimate the debt that he owes to the Western
masters for his considerable success i telling a tale direct-
1y, vividly and tersely He never indulges m mere pad-
ding or ornate verbosity, a besetting sm of most Indian
1omances Ile pursues the narrative to its logical conclu-
sion in a style at once foreceful, simple and vibrant The
types of characters that he chose as the dramafis personae
of his novels wete only mn part immspired by Western pro-
totypes, firstly because Munsh: himself was a thorough-
bred Brahman of the orthodox variety and seeondlv be-
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cause he was too ignorant of the Western modes of living
to model his characters with anything but Indian clay.
The characters that he chose and dramatised were really
the creatures of the imagination of a man whose whole life
was moulded by converging currents of different civilisa-
tions, but whose roots were strongly planted in the soil
of his country’s traditions

Munshi has been anything but reticent about himself
In 1930, while in the Nasik gaol, he wrote a remarkable
book within about ten days This was Shwshu ane Sakhi
(Child and Comrade) It 1s written in an unusual style,
but perhaps for that very reason 1s suited to the intimate
and biographical revelations of a mind richly endowed,
sensitive 1 the extreme, given to moods of elation and de-
pression  Munshi traces m brief the development of his
own mund and his 1omantic marriage, m poetically worded
paragraphs which are perhaps unique m Gujarati litera-
ture, 1n the sense that they portray the lights and shadows
of his imntimate Iife candidly and with little reserve There
are some passages which are cruel, where Munshi, for m-
stance, deseribes his emotions at bemng married to a tiny
uneducated girl of twelve This hittle bride was complete-
ly uneducated and naturally insensible to the tones and
colours of a sophisticated 1ife  Her parents had neglected
to mmpart any kind of elegance to this Iittle child, whose:
entire universe centred in her husband and his welfare,
whose intellectual range embraced but the gossip of the
household and whose mnterests were limited to the affairs
of a humdrum wmiddle-class family The shock of this
orthodox marriage to a youth of Munshi’s sensibility was
profound He even contemplated suicide as a possible
means of eseape, for such a chasm between the mate of his
dreams and the actual partner given to him by social con-
vention could not be bridged This disparity was and 1s
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nothing unusual i Indian life, but Kanaiyalal Munsh: was
not Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi  Munsh: was a roman-
tie, keenly sensible to sensuous appeals, one who loved to
roam 1n regions of fancy and to delight i attempting to
sexze the beauties of his imagination 1 an actual and cop-
crete world Time 1s a great healer, and the young girl-
biide came to be an integral part of Munshi’s household
True, she never became the 1dol of his heart But 1dols are
not always stable, nor perhaps significant from a strietly
biological standpomnt In any case, the child developed in-
to a happy and dignified woman, who shared in the earlier
struggles of her hushand and tasted the joys of his rapid
rise from comparative poverty to the comfortable Iife of
a prosperous lawyer, distinguished writer and eloquent
speaker Then she had also become a mother, and as
Munshi expresses 1t 1n an eloquent passage, a hittle fairy
had been born, who constituted a golden link between these
two such disparate entities Munshi had also grown His
romanticism had been tempered by the lapse of time, and
also by the fact that his desires, dreams and ambitions had
been partially sublimated and expressed through the me-
dium of Iiterature Laterature 1s a great anodyne!

A woman of remarkable personality, unhappy in her
first marriage, suddenly appears on the stage of Munshi’s
Iafe, first as a literary co-worker, and later as a dear friend
and his Iife’s chosen mate and wife But this 1s a part of
Munshi’s life, which he himself has recounted frankly and
eloquently, and I have no desire to go into the emotional
stramn and the struggle through which Munshi passed and
about which he has expressed himself m burnming words
nor do I propose to deal at length with the distinguished
career which Kanaiyalal and Lilavati Munshi together
built up, not only m lhiterature, but in the public life of
the country It would, however, be appropriate to say
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here a few words regarding the women of Gujarat The
Gujaraty woman has enjoyed a greater degree of freedom
than women 1in other parts of India Having her being
amidst a highly practical people, whose values are in terms
of material goods, the woman of Gujarat has developed
certain distinetive characteristies Simple, matter-of-fact,
sentimental and sensuous, despite the conventional veil of
mdifference to the pleasures of the senses, she has played
and contiues to play an enormously important part in the
life of Gujarat, whether in the home or in the field of
social service or of politics She 1s the pivot 10und which
the world of Gujarat really moves, her contentment, her
pleasures and her so11ows are immensely 1mportant for the
social harmony of the home Nowhere in India has the
woman played such a role, quietly and with such confidence,
as the woman i Gujarat Despite her handicaps, com-
mon to all women 1n India, she has taken her place along-
side her menfolk as a matter of right and enriched the
social and public Iife of Gujarat and, m a sense, of India
as a whole, 1n an exceptional measure It 1s curious that
these provineial characteristics should have been noted, and
commented upon by ancient writers, and judgmg from
present experience their judgement was on the whole sound
The Gujarati woman has not the exquisite simplicity and
accomplishments of the woman 1 the South, particularly
from Malabar, she has not the binding smartness of bear-
ing of the beautifully-shaped daughters of the Punjab, or
of Kashmir, nor has she the calm austerity of the demure
damsels fronmi Maharashtra, or the dreamy grace of the
Bengal: woman TIake the daughters of Rajputana, the
woman m Gujarat is simple but gay, sentimental rather
than subtle or poetic, deeply sensitive to colours and the
1hythm of movement, eminently practical, with enormous
powers to suffer adverse tides of fortune The Gujarati
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women have a habit of keeping their form and feminity till
iate 1n Iife  They have a genwis for quiet withdrawal from
the wordly stage with the advent of old age and being con-
tent to exercise their influence from behind the scenes, 1t
is therefore all the more powerful and felt than 1if 1t were
open and explicit

It 1s not an acecident that Kasturba Gandhi has been
acclaimed as representing the highest ideal of Indian
womanhood, nor 1s this apotheosis of Kasturba wholly on
account of her association with the great Mahatma, for I
know that she, like countless mothers m Gujarat, was a
noble and 1epresentative type such as has brightened the
homes of Gujarat and spiritualised them for centuries
The Gujarati man has invariably been sentimental He
has sighed and longed for the mate of his dreams, for
the traditions of good and beautiful Gujarat: women con-
tmue to fire his 1magination and to mspire him to high en-
terprises and to the winning of the worldly goods so neces-
sary for the happiness of a practical people

Munshi, who shed tears and even contemplated suicide,
has been, like a hero of melodrama, simhgularly fortunate
1 having won his heart’s desire, and 1n having found in
his second venture the woman of his dreams to share his
home and happimess As a result, he 18 1n a mood of elation
and acknowledges his debt to his wife in generous terms
But what he has failed to do 1s to admat the fact that Lila-
vatt Munshi, a distinguished stylist and a writer of power-
ful prose, with an unusual eye for character and a pen
dipped in biting sarcasm, was obliged, after she became
installed as the presiding deity of the Munshi household, to
immolate herself in respect of her lhiterary ecareer Two
streams of literary activity, which had been significant and
separate, became merged together and the only entity left,
at least 1 matters hterary, was Kanaiyalal Munsh: himself



248 MUNSHI HIS ART AND WORK

Lilavat: Munshi, despite Munshi’s wrappmng her up
m a mantle of high romantic beauty, 1s a singularly efficient
little lady with feet firmly planted on the earth, vibrant,
matter-of-fact, effictent and an accomplished housewife
.She 18, like her husband, ambitious and has considerable
«orgamzing capacity But despite Munshi’s romantic tem-
perament, 1t would be a mistake to class either of the
Munshis as ethereal beings moving at altitudes of a rare-
fied atmosphere Munsh1 was born a Brahman, with
plenty of pride, but little in the way of possessions, while
Lilavat: was brought up in the lap of comfoit and m an
-environment which set store on wealth rather than on learn-
mg or ideals Both began their hife amidst uncongenial
surroundings, and 1t was good that these two should have
been brought together through the medium of literature
Their partnership has been exceptionally happy, particu-
larly from the pomnt of view of Gujarat: art and literature
and of the public life in Bombay After her marriage,
however, Lilavati Munshi’s hiterary purswits suffered a
complete echpse Her energres were diverted hencefor-
ward towards civic Iife and-with her energy, tact and com-
monsense she moved m every phase of the busy Iife of Bom-
bay with ease and confidence The poetic element which
had in her earlier years expressed itself as an urge for
travelling, largely as an escape from a conventional and
therefore miserable existence, became subhmated into
something more significant, causing her to concentrate on
developing the beautiful crafts of Gujarat and on reviving
that mnate sense of rhythm and dance, which, from time
1mmemorial, has been the proud possession of the Gujarat:
woman Meanwhile, Lilavat1 Munshi, despite her activities
on the civie stage of Municipal politics and of the provin-
«cial legislature, became the fostering spirit of Munshi the
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indefatigable, Munshi the brllhiant lawyer and Munshi the
restless and ambitious orgamiser and politician

It 1s a pity, nevertheless, that Ialavatt1 Munshi has
practically ceased writing, for she 1s an accomplished
author with a style of her own, a gift for focussing atten-
tion on social problems and with a psychological imsight
mto the difficulties of Indian Iife which few Gujarat:
writers of the present generation possess In her volume
of short stories—-Jivanmanthy Jadeli—(Stories from Life)
—collected 1 1932, she has handled a variety of themnes
with considerable verve and given us a mordant mterpreta-
tion of the social imniquities and particularly that of the sad
lot of woman in Indian society Her mam theme 15 the
freemg of her sex from an existing tyranny so acecentuated
and so completely accepted as to be almost a law of nature,
but that is simply due to the economic serfdom of the
Indian woman Traditions have had a great deal to do
with the Indian woman’s own attitude towards her various
disabilities, and these latter never fail to attract the acute
observation and the acid comments of one who has herself
gone through the whole gamut of a woman’s handicaps
1 Indian Iife Ocecasionally she 1elents and produces a
little masterpiece m which her woman’s heart throbs with
elemental Iove for the child and for the husband. The
story of the lonely Sadhuram reveals with considerable in-
sight and tenderness the theme of a lonely man battlng
agamst upsurging emotions which are aroused and defeat-
ed by the inexorable ebb and flow of love Ialavat:
Munshi here forgets her grievances against mere man, and
finds that life, despite all its tragic conflicts, is based on
a relatively simple pattern of emotions She never ceases
to be a realist, for she, shrewd woman that she 1s, under-
stands the implications of actions which sometimes have
unforeseen results Nowhere has she brought these out as
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vividly as m the short play that she has written dealmg
with the Gandhian movement Gandhism has had enor-
mous influence outside the political sphere 1t has affected
and partially moulded, though in the long run not quite
so radically as one would have expected, the shape of
Hindu life and 1deology Both Lilavati Munshi and her
husband have been greatly affected by the personal -
fluence of Gandhiyi himself and by his philosophy

Lalavati Munshi has written other plays also Here
agamn, m Kumaradev: she portrays the famous Gupta em-
press as a woman of outstanding character—a woman who
was 1 fact the dominant partner mn the life of Chandra
Gupta I The play 1s remarkable not so much for its dra-
matie quality as for an ambitious attempt to portray the
story of a great character—powerful, dynamie, ruthless,
and yet feminine from the galaxy of India’s historie per-
sonalities Lalavati Munshr must sometimes have scen the
visions of Kumaiadevi, who never forgot to describe her-
self, not only as the queen of Chandra Gupta, but also as
a daughter of the proud and famous Lachechhavi clan ILila-
vati Munshi writes well, she employs a homely style, direct,
sometimes whimsical, always observant and usually devold
of rhetoric She 1s primarily interested in disseeting
human motives and observing men and women at a deeper
level than that at which they appear to the outside world
In this respect she daffers fiom her husband, Kanaiyalal
Munshi, whose method 1s quite otherwise

Munshi has written a considerable amount of fiction,
both historical and social. but he 1s not an arehaeologist,
not a scholar, nor a professional historian He 1s primarily
an 1maginative writer, who views India’s past with the
glowme eyes of a poet He 1s also a keen politiczan and
journalist and 1s therefore unable to shake off the mnfluence
«f current events from his writings For this reason to0o
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there 15, a certain element of anachronism i the manner
m which bhis various characters behave It 1s pethaps im-
possible for a writer to foiget his environment and to pro-
Ject himself so completely into the past, as to ignore his
personal predilections and his general ideology Munshi
has never tuized of talking of Incdia’s integrity, and, mn es-
sence, the stand that he has taken 1s not only historically
correct but also vital from the viewpomnt of the interests
of the world as a whole While 1t 1s not necessary to dis-
cuss the question 1 a discourse of this nature, 1t is essential
to emphasise Munshi’s attachment to the uniqueness of his
country’s civilization, with 1ts unchallenged and dynamie
contintuty He has often taken his characteis from the
remote past of the Vedas and he 1s particularly proud of
what he considers to be his important contribution in’ inter-
preting the golden age of India But if prediction has any
relevance 1n a matter of this kind, I should imagine that
the books dealing with some of the forgotten characters
of the Vediec civilisation will remain more as a testimony
to the orthodox background fiom which Munshi derived
his literary inspirations than to their general and mtrinsie
appeal The reason 1s not a lack of Iiterary merit the
root cause 1s somewhat deeper India 1s passmg through
one of the great epochal changes of history in which the
tempo of social and political changes i1s so rapid that it
18 almost 1mpossible to see even an outlme of the shape of
things to come All that one can say is that the gods of
the Vedas and even of the more recent mythology have
virtually ceased to be Even India, with her long and
continuous tradition, 1s more melined to look forward than
backwards and the rising generation is more mterested in
solving the mundane and concrete problems of life than :n
1ecallmg the memories of a past, however brilliant its hues
may have been, simply because that past does not matter
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or has but little significance 1 moulding the life of the
future

Munshi has devoted several years of his life to writing
the drama of India’s past, his latest creation in this direc-
tion bemg an ambitious volume entitléed Parashuram
Munshi has felt that Aryan culture has in 1t something
living and that 1t will continue to live 1 the untold genera-
tions of Indians hereafter He has therefore taken enor-
mous pains to bring to life mythical or legendary characters
who throw into relief the achievements of a bygone age
The result has not been altogether commensurate with the
expenditure of labour and energy spent on 1t It is asto-
nishing that Munsh: has found so much time and energy
to devote to literature when he has occupied a pre-eminent
position as a busy lawyer, an active Journalist and a shrewd
politician  But 1t 1s this very dispersion of energy which
has no doubt affected the finish of his work and concen-
tration and also the development of a mature, precise and
mspiring manner of writing Munshi 1s rarely interested
m laymng bare the deeper currents of human psychology
His canvas and range are somewhat limited, and the limi-
tations are perhaps both the result of his mental make-up
as well as of those of modern India Munshi may be con-
sidered as a representative medium of the many cross-cui-
1ents of India’s mtellectual make-up, a mixture of the an-
clent and the modern, a mixture of the scientific and the
supersititious and a curious amalgam of idealism and the
spirit of compromise

Despite Munshi’s pre-occupation for many years with
India’s distant past, he has been extiaordinarily sensible
to the charms of medieval Gujarat, which threw up a
galaxy of mmdividuals immortalised i the pages of his
many romances

Personages who were thought of hitherto as manor
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characters have been moulded 1nto heroic proportions aud
transformed into characters, gay, elegant, strong and al-
together free and modern 1n their outlook Some of these
imdividuals portray Munshi’s own moods, for Munshi 1s
a person who lives 1n a world of his own He never forgets
to occupy the central place i the drama of his mental
Iife The result has been a series of striking men and
women, who charm us with their idealism, with the conflict
of their emotions and with their passionate love of exis-
tence One has only to mention such figures as Munjal
and Minal Devi, as Kak and Manjari, to see that the history
of Gugarat, has, for the first time, through the medium of
men and women who would do credit to any country and
who, above all, have furnished the patterns of dreams and
behaviour for the younger geneiation of to-day, been made
mto something living Munshi 1s not greatly troubled by
the minutiae of historical aceuracy, he 1s chiefly interested
i depicting the types of humanity whom he has seen,
whether in actual life, or only 1n his dreams He 15 a
carious mixture of the idealist and the practical man of
affairs, one who sweais by the Mahatma, yet 1s ambitious
and active and engaged 1n many activities where life has
not always to be lived in an atmosphere of wgid idealism
or an uncompromising attitude to human foibles Munshi
himself has passed through a variety of experience, has
practised hatha-yoga has experienced visions, has more
than toyed with the calling up of spirits and the reading
of the past and future by soothsayers of all kinds He
has, 1 short, tasted life at diverse springs and what he has
never lacked 1s a smile or a capacity for viewing the result-
ing vicissitudes m their rosier and brighter aspects Such
of lus characters as Manjar1 and Kak and Minal Devi ard
Munjal, reflect Munshi’s own outlook on life They are
never depressed or overwhelmed by circumstances It is.
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natural to them to ride the storms of life 1 all the phases,
political, emotional, or of any other kind Munshi 1s never
daunted by mere econvention, or by the canons of formal
respectability Throughout his career he has felt that the
greatest handicaps of Indian society have been 1ts lip-
service to principles i the abstract and 1its mmfimte tole-
rance of practices widely or and wholly divergent from
theory His wiitings reveal, at every stagc, therefoie, a
spirit of revolt, where the full-blooded life of the mdividual
comes mto conflict with the rules of conventional morality
or social propriety Indian hife has been ground down
to a level of deadly uniformity, wheie every wvital and
daring emotion 1s either suppressed or frowned upon
Individual freedom has been denied to all except the very
powerful or the most exceptional, with the 1esult that not
only has social life been cramped and deprived of 1its
savour, but that the hiterature of the people has suffered
and been canalised into something which has no relation
1o reality, and that has sought refuge either in a meaning-
less jugglery with words, or of profane and highly-colour-
ed versions of a Iife attributable to the Divine The mono-
tony, as well as the limited thematic range of most of om
Indian literature since the eleventh century, are wholly
due to the kind of life that has been lived by the people
for Iiterature 1s but a mirror of people’s heart and mind

Munshi’s golden age of Gujarat ranged from the
mnth to the twelth century and he has devoted ten of his
romances to the glory that was Gujarat Each of these
works centres mn Gujarat and its varied cultural life, with
its wealth, 1ts domestic politics and 1ts incessant intrigues
and squabbles with the neighbourmng States Munshi
wends his way through this complicated tangle with the
sure touch of a born politician and diplomatist. and what
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Lad hitherto remained merely as the Iife of a provincial
court, suddenly becomes a dazzling stage with ghttering
figures striding across 1t Munshi 1s a born raconteur, he
makes use of petty infrigues as a vital element in the
development of his main narrative and i unfolding the
traits of his principal characters As a matter of fact, the
greatest contribution that Munshi has made to the litera-
ture of Gujarat lies i his exceptional capacity to tell a
story effectively, to the point and with an unusual gusto
m putting the various personages of his tales, as 1t were,
on the screen His stories move swiftly, unimpeded by
long-winded descriptions either of the past or of ancillary
arcumstances, nor are they couched in the pedantic sen-
tences which were the stock-in-trade of most of his prede-
cessors, and in this connection, 1t would perhaps be well
to say a few words about Munshi’s manner of writing

The prose literature of most Indian languages are
of 1ecent origin and almost all of them date from the first
quarter of the nineteenth century Their prose style was
modelled on that of classical Sanskrit romances and was
generally heavy and ornate and overloaded with Sanskiitie
words The result was that the story itself would be lost,
or would maintain only an attenuated thread through the
maze of conventional deseriptions which might be reminis-
cent of the Sanskrit mahakavyas, but were hardly germane
to the swift flow of modern fiction

Munsh: may&be regarded as the first i1mportant writer
of modern fiction m Gujarati Almost before the advent
of the movies, he wrote novels where the various characters
flitted across the scene with the rapidity and precision of
« modern film His language, 1s the very reverse of the
studied pedantry and high falutin of his predecessors
His sentences aie short and charged with the vitality of



256 MUNSHI HIS ART AND WORK

a living tongue It 1s not as if Munshi could not spin out
an occasional sentence of exquisite beauty and of great
descriptive power, but he 1s far too much interssted m
the doings of his characters and 1 working up the events
which furnish the background to his romances, to pay
much heed to the descriptive padding, which has been for
centuries the traditional pattein of prose-writing in this
country

Munshi’s position 1 the literature of Gujarat 1s
fact assured He has not only been a successful novelist,
dramatist, historian, essayist, educationist, Journalist,
politician, speaker and lawyer, but s hiterary output has
been considerable and there 1s hardly a phase of letters at
which he has not tried his hand and at which he has not
distinguished himself  Curiously enough, he has never
written any poetry, though the writing of verse on every
kind of subjeet 15 a common accomplishment amongst the
hteraty of India His mind has perhaps been too concrete
to enable his Muse to soar, but i1t has undoubtedly helped
kim to concentrate on his i1mmediate objective He has
been able to switch from one activity to another with
astonishing ease and his versatility and varied range of
mterests have not therefore, seriously affected the quality
of his work /He 1s always able to laugh and though he 1s
now (1947) over sixty he 1s astonishingly young for his
age This keen and unfailing sense of humour of his may
sometimes have the effect of exposing the pretension behind
the facade of sanctimonious humbug so £ar to an old and
conventional society, but his abiding contributions lie in
his romances of medieval Gujarat, his passionate pleas for
the oneness of his country and of 1ts literature, his brilhant
essays on Narsinha Mehta and some of his shorter plays,
m which he lays bare many of the cracks m our social
fabrie
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He has led a rich life of creative activity, of social
distimetion and of practical success and I imagine that just
as 1n the past he has been one of the formative factors in
the renaissance of modern Gujarat, so will he contimue,
by reason of his passionate devotion to its umty and his
faith in the futuie of 1ts literature, to make important con-
tributions to 1ts progress
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